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an Yue Technology Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) is a company whose
shares have been listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
1997. The core businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively called the “Group” or “Man Yue
Tech”) are the manufacture and sale of high technology
electronic components, including Aluminum Electrolytic
Capacitors (“E-Caps”), Conductive Polymer Aluminum
Solid Capacitors (“Polymer Caps”) and other innovative
electronic components.

The Group offers a full range of E-Caps products
which satisfy the needs of global customers, consisting
mainly of the world’s leading information technology,
telecommunications, electrical and electronic brands.
In 2006, the Group launched an innovative electronic
component known as the Polymer Caps, and has advanced
to be a major global vendor. The Group continued its
pioneering course by unveiling a new type of capacitor in
2009 - Electric Double Layer Capacitors (“EDLC"), which
acts as an energy storage device in electrical or electronic
products.

Over the years, the Group has fostered creativity and
inventiveness among the well-trained and highly qualified
research and development (“R&D") professionals who have
enabled the Group to develop new and groundbreaking
products.
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As the key manufacturer of E-Caps and Polymer Caps,
the Group owns the renowned SAMXON® and X-CON®
brands, both are respected brands for their advanced
technology and superior quality, backed by the Group'’s
strong R&D capabilities and established global network. All
of the Group’s products comply with the European Union’s
directive on the restriction of the use of certain hazardous
substances in electrical and electronic equipment (“RoHS")
and the environmental protection requirements relevant
and specific to different markets globally.

Man Yue Tech is headquartered in Hong Kong and
operates its state-of-the-art E-Caps manufacturing facilities
in Dongguan, Wuxi and Jiangxi, with a total production
capacity of over 1 billion pieces per month. The Group
owns two aluminum foil factories located in Qingyuan and
Yaan producing aluminum foil for its own consumption.
The Group has distribution offices located in Hong
Kong, China and Taiwan, complemented by worldwide
distribution channels.

Man Yue Tech is fully committed to environmental
sustainability for both its products and operations.
All products are halogen free and complied with the
requirements of RoHS. In addition, all production facilities
of the Group conform to relevant local environmental
regulations and the Group obtained relevant certification
where appropriate. Not content to simply passively observe
regulations, the Group is actively pursuing opportunities to
directly contribute to the protection of environment. The
Group has introduced and continued to develop solutions
for enhancing energy efficiency, such as capacitors found
in LED lamps and high-efficiency lighting and new storage
devices for use in environmental friendly products. The
Group remains steadfast in its support of environmental
protection, consistent with its commitment to be a good
corporate citizen.
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Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights
M RE

For the year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
Operating Results FTHEx FHT
Revenue WA 1,292,160 1,361,718 -5.1%
Gross profit E7 245,293 274,126 -10.5%
EBITDA EBITDA 161,851 146,667 +10.4%
Profit attributable to shareholders BB FE(5 % F 31,578 43,046 -26.6%
Earnings per share BREF 6.64 HK cents &l 9.05 HK cents -26.6%
Net assets per share BREEFE 293.62 HK cents #&{li  299.13 HK cents &l -1.8%
REVENUE GROSS PROFIT
KA EF
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BILFE HZE12A31BILFE

HK$' million & &7
1,361.7

1,275.9 1,292.2

9744  987.0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

EBITDA
MERFIE X ~ BiIR ~ TERBHER BT

For the year ended 31 December

HE12A831HILFEE

HKS$' million B&487T

161.9

15288 1469

101.4
83.9

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER LD T

HK$' million B &7

2800 5741

2453

175.0 1636

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

NET ASSETS PER SHARE
BREESRE

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H8

HK cents 71l

3103
293.2 2991 2936
276.0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019



Qhairman’s Statement
FERE

RESULTS OVERVIEW

In 2019, the shadow of the trade war between China and the
United States has gradually subsided. Despite the shadow in
the macro environment causing negative impact on consumers’
sentiment and in turn, undermining their orders especially in the
first half of 2019, the Group stood guard against these challenges
and recovered a lot of lost ground in revenue during the second
half of the year. This was mainly attributable to our long-term
cultivation in business and strong capability in R&D in product
innovation, as well as our strategic focus towards the development
of diversified market sectors and dominant players in the market.

As a major global supplier of E-Caps and Polymer Caps, the
Group has put a lot of effort in providing visionary and quality
products to the world’s leading companies in various electronic
sectors. Our flagship brands — SAMXON® and X-CON® still hold
a very strong market position in multiple specific segments. With
its high technology positioning, the Group has been able to seize
a rigid demand in the electronics industry for its products. The
strategic layout from the past years in penetrating into the global
supply chain of emerging market sectors and leading customers
in the industries began to reveal results. Our continuous business
and product development in artificial intelligence (Al), Internet of
Things (loT), cloud computing, blockchain, new energy vehicles,
consumer electronics as well as 5G mobile networks has helped to
open up new ventures. These solid foundations not only safeguard
the Group from the global economic fluctuations, but also acquire
a stronger and more stable profitability in the upcoming future.

We believe that one of the determinants for the outstanding
performance is the technology leadership. The Group has put
a lot of resources in manpower and R&D on new products and
won quality recognition from international leading brands.
Our determination in the R&D of material science, production
technology and innovation has enriched the Group with an
establishment of a multi-product platform with new and high
technology products such as MLPC, EDLC and EDLC modules. This
allows us to capture the constantly evolving electronics’ demand,
whilst differentiating us from market competitors.

REBE

20195 - FEEFEMHRNTZEZTRR - BE
FERENGELSHESRERBETE BB T L
HE20195F ¥ FRATEHRE - AKBERGREE D
& WHETHFBOAKRBAKRENRA < kHEEH
REMRILARBE s - BABRKHF I
HEERTETEERLH - UEEHMARZTIETS
B RARM IS EE RIS AT -

ERIRERERBRSN TERR 2T BHE
o AEE-EERAOMERTREFABIMNBEEAR
RMtEEBEEEM o B ERE M SAMXON® &
X-CON®TE % A5 & R B DR IF 8 R TH IS AL ©
RELSREMEN  NEBREALEE FITEYE
ERRMIES Kk - BEZE - BUNTEFEMISED
HOERTR AL FE g8 K SHERTT 2R AEE MR P A SR B
RBCR - AT BE(A ~ WEE A (oT) » RiniE
HERE - RS HBESTERERERAR
RE BRGNS EEGRE RS EMHALTY
o HIRERETMEREAEE RN ZEREREET
RABRRYE B AT 2 - B 058 I B E AN R SR A B F)

ak
Be ©

AR ARMBEGRE N EERBNED —EERE
= AEEEHEM ERBAEANRREER @ E
mE ERFERAEMENRT - NEBE AR
8 EERMRAFOMERL  FREY ABNE
FRABD FTERERS ZLEEETRNEEEER
REAEEHMRERNS TERTS © WEEHM
mETNERCNE TR TERMETGHRFET
R o
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Unfortunately, the recent outbreak of novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) has brought uncertainties to the global economy as
well as the Group's operating environment in China. As far as
the Group’s businesses are concerned, the outbreak has so far
caused operational delays and the Group has put in place various
measures to alleviate the negative impact from this outbreak.

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN®WN DT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December

R S ES

BZ12A310LEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHT
Revenue A 1,292,160 1,361,718 -5.1%
Gross profit EF 245,293 274,126 -10.5%
EBITDA EBITDA 161,851 146,667 +10.4%
Profit attributable to shareholders R B e T 31,578 43,046 -26.6%
Earnings per share BRAF 6.64 HK cents &4l  9.05 HK cents /&1l -26.6%

FINANCIAL REVIEW B #% [E1 B8

Shadowed by the impact of trade dispute between China and the
United States in 2019 which led to the increase in trade tariff, the
consumers’ sentiment as well as the overall demand in electronics
market had been undermined, especially in the first half of 2019.
Despite the adverse changes in the macro environment looming
in the first half of 2019, the Group managed to have a slight
decrease in revenue for the Year by 5.1% to HK$1,292,160,000
(2018: HK$1,361,718,000) as compared with that of last year.
This modest decline in revenue was mainly attributable to the
Group's business strategy of focusing on the development of a
multi-product platform with high technology products as well as
a wider spectrum of leading customers in various emerging and
prosperous industries.

Gross profit for the Year also dropped by 10.5% to
HK$245,293,000 (2018: HK$274,126,000) whilst the gross
profit margin also decreased to 19.0% from 20.1% of last year.
Nevertheless, the Group’s EBITDA recorded an increase by 10.4%
to HK$161,851,000 (2018: HK$146,667,000), representing an
EBITDA margin of 12.5% (2018: 10.8%) which was mainly caused
by the first adoption of HKFRS 16 for the Year.

Following the decrease in gross profit, the Group’'s profit
attributable to shareholders for the Year also declined to
HK$31,578,000, as compared to HK$43,046,000 in previous year.
The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year (2018:
Nil).

2019F M EE S EREZFBRIE M - LEEF
BARVIOF L¥FHEBELRREFEMMIGHERE
Bk o BE2019F FEFZRERBENTHE B AT
HEE  AEERAFEZIRAEREAFMBHSA%E
1,292,160,0007 7T (20184F : 1,361,718,000/87T) °
WANESRH T - EEFERRNEE B EBREE ST
REBSREERNZ TERT & U RR S EFE &
PUREBERITERR ABEHNNE AT ©

NEZEFINTFE10.5% = 245,293,000 7T (2018
1 274,126,000%7T) + MEMEIEEFH20.1%
f£Z%19.0% ° ZAT - AN EEBITDASES10.4% g K
%161,851,000/8 7T (20184 : 146,667,000/87T) » B
EBITDALL & 512.5% (20185 : 10.8%) * TBRZMHR
F B RBRANE B IR S 2R S 1657 FT B

BEEEFMLD  AEBERAEE 2 MR FEMRGEF IRE
£4 43,046,000 7T FIKE31,578,000/87T - EF €
TERREARFE 2 KRR E (20185 « ) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEET W RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market Overview

Due to the cloud of the trade disputes between China and the
United States in 2019, market players tended to remain cautious
and prudent on the potential outcome and economic impact on
global trade and supply chain and in turn, slowed down the global
business activities. This had adversely and inevitably worsened
the confidence and sentiment of customers in various end-
markets. However, despite the change of consumption behavior,
China remained as a major and strong manufacturing country
for electronic applications and continued to take large proportion
in the export and played an important role in the global trade.
According to the Market Analysis of Electronic Manufacturing
Services Industry in China 2016-2021 research, the proportion
of China’s electronic manufacturing services (EMS) market will
continue to grow faster than that of the overall global market,
with gross annual growth rate of 10% and in 2023, the value
of China’s market is expected to break USD500 billion. As such,
China’s electronic products will remain a stable rising trend for the
next few years.

SAMXON

WL
B8400uF450wv
POSITIVE +
85°C

AOO%
JD\W

E-Caps and Polymer Caps
IRERBEARLD D FEAR

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB mR DM

In the second half of 2019, the uncertain and fluctuating trade
negotiations gradually evolved into constructive discussions,
and finally reached the signing of first stage agreement in early
2020. Along with the becoming more positive market sentiment
towards the end of 2019, the electronics market had regained its
momentum, mainly resulted from the surging determination on
high-technological development and 5G-related applications for
most of the countries. As a result, the revenue of the Group in the
second half of 2019 was performing much better than that of its
first half.

Operation Review

Major contributing markets of the Group's revenue were inevitably
impacted by the political and economic uncertainties caused by
the Sino-US trade disputes. Consequently, the Group's revenue
for the Year recorded a year-on-year decrease of 5.1% as a result
of more conservative orders from our customers in the first half
of the year. Nevertheless, benefitting from the Group’s diversified
customer base as well as product portfolio, the decline in revenue
stemmed from this trade conflict has been alleviated to a large
extent. The Group’s renowned multi-product platform, including
but not limited to E-Caps, Polymer Caps, MLPC, EDLC and
EDLC modules, continued to support a wide range of electronic
products applications from home appliances to specialized high-
tech products for leading brands’ customers.

Facing the challenges of international trade, the Group has
not slowed down its R&D efforts in the advancement of its
technological edge and production competence. During the Year,
the Group has remained its sincere commitment in reinforcing
the technological strength as well as production lines’ automation
with an aim to enhance production capacity, product quality and
cost effectiveness. The Group has been able to stabilize its strong
foothold and attain a greater market share in the fast-growing
emerging markets of 5G mobile network, artificial intelligence (Al),
blockchain, as well as cloud computing. In particular, domestic
customers have also begun to consider the Group as the primary
choice for their local sourcing.

R2019F T EF - B S8 ERA KoK Bh i o s &
BEERMEN S - WHR2020F B UEBE MR
g o BEE2019F KRR TSRAHEESG - EFME
ERHN  TEERARZHEREBR I EESR
RERRMBEEAME - AL - AEER2019F T
FHRMARIRRB FEFHRARE -

LEDRE
AEETENRABRMMSETERBZITEES
AmslRBUE RSB TET AT E - At - BF
REFFHTERART  ERAEERANFEEAWR
ABB RSN % EKIE - T8 XSERAEES
TeMEPRREMER  BEEREHWBE AR
EARERE - FEEBEETRNIEERERS -
BOTERR BRASO TERERR BEEE
N MEEEERRRANANEE TERTRRER
BERBREPEHEXBERUEF TS RHEMNF
BETEMERAXE -

EHERESORE - AEBYERARMES RAE
ENNRITTRISHENE - RAFE » AEBEEE
AR E N ARG EERB B - FEUIRITE
Bt EMmBERURERANE - AEE-—BEEFARR
BEAME - ATERA)  BERENEREFSR
REROFETIS LU RERNEEBRERNTISEAR
Ko FhlR  BAREFIREBARERSEE R
BHEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR D

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$225,715,000 (2018: HK$202,338,000), most of
which were either denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi
or Hong Kong dollars. Total outstanding bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$975,677,000 (2018: HK$889,355,000)
which comprised mainly bank loans and trade finance facilities.

As at 31 December 2019, the net current assets of the
Group were HK$215,764,000 (2018: HK$372,886,000),
which comprised current assets of HK$1,617,805,000 (2018:
HK$1,535,496,000) and current liabilities of HK$1,402,041,000
(2018: HK$1,162,610,000), representing a current ratio of 1.15
(2018: 1.32).

The Group's financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars. However, most of the Group's transactions were
conducted in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
and Japanese Yen. The Group is aware of the potential foreign
exchange currency risk that may arise from the fluctuation of
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United
States dollars and Japanese Yen. The Group will closely monitor its
overall foreign exchange exposure with a view to safeguarding the
Group from exchange rate risks.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Indisputably high-tech electronics will continue to be a major
global trend, which will stimulate new applications and new
product launches. The Group strives to leverage on its shrewd
market acumen, outstanding technical know-how, extensive
industry experience and long term partnership with internationally
renowned electronic products’ brands to capture new business
opportunities. With the signing of first stage agreement in trade
negotiations between China and the United States in early 2020,
the electronics market began to show signs of recovery. As a
result, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about its long-
term business development and will continue to be prudent
towards formulation and implementation of corporate strategies
to provide strong support for the stable growth of our business in
the forthcoming future.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER A A

REBESRMKEER

M2019F12A318 - A&EBERENREEEM A
225,715,000/ 7T (20184 : 202,338,000/ 7T) *© KB
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B #8%85975,677,00078 7T (20184F : 889,355,000
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MR2019F 12 A31H  A&EBE RS EEFER
215,764,000 % 7T (2018 4 : 372,886,000 T )
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1,535,496,0007% 7T ) & &) & 1&1,402,041,000 % 7T
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB mR DM

However, the recent outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19)
epidemic since late January 2020 has constituted fluctuations in
the global demand of different markets and customers. As such,
the degree of impact of this pandemic to different markets and
customers may be varied and cannot be predicted at this stage.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 47 staff in Hong
Kong (2018: 54) and employed a total work force of 2,610 (2018:
3,011) inclusive of all its staff in Mainland China and overseas
offices. The Group’s remuneration policy is built on the principle
of equitability with incentive-based, motivating, performance
oriented and market-competitive remuneration packages for its
employees. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis. Apart from salary, other staff benefits include provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance-
based bonuses.

AT B2020F 1 AR BB ERIETEARFE S (2019
MR SR ) ERAREE2RTRTEEEFNERY
EROKE) « AT - WWRITRETRMNTISERE PR
ZIRE A Re A B ML - WIS ESAIELTEA -

{EfE R ErEBUR

M2019F12A31H  ASBEGEEBREMA47EET
(20184 : 54%) » MiEABIEFTA R E AN KGN
ERZETIAEE2,610%(2018F : 3,011%) - &%
B2 HMBER A AT RE - AREE - mITTE R
B Z RS K EARE - HEEFEE TR -
REaiN HBTREAEARSER - BRERE
N ERER IR 2 TEAT o
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEENEREEAER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kee Chor Lin (Mrs Chan), aged 71, is the co-founder of the
Group. She has been the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company since October 2008. Mrs Chan is the leader of the
Group for corporate development, overall planning, strategies
and policies making. She is at present a director of several major
operating subsidiaries of the Group and also a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mrs Chan is one of the well-known industrialists
in Hong Kong and possesses over 40 years of experience in the
business of electronic components. She is the mother of Mr Chan
Yu Ching, Eugene, the Managing Director and an Executive
Director of the Company and Ms Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a
member of senior management of the Group.

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, aged 44, joined the Group in 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of the Company since December
2007 and the Managing Director of the Company since October
2008. Mr Chan is responsible for overseeing the business
development, policies making and implementation of the Group.
He is also a director of certain major operating subsidiaries of
the Group and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr Chan is currently a director of Zhuhai Higrand
Technology Co., Ltd. in which its shares are listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations in China. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Applied Science (majored in Electronic and Electrical
Engineering) from the University of British Columbia, Canada.
Mr Chan has over 22 years of experience in the industry of
electronic components and was awarded the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong in 2008. He is the son of Ms Kee Chor
Lin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company and
the brother of Ms Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a member of senior
management of the Group.
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Chan Tat Cheong, Alan, aged 59, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since October 2016. He joined the
Group in May 2016. Mr Chan is the Finance Director of the
Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He
is primarily responsible for overseeing the Group’s business
development, finance and accounting, merger and acquisition,
and investor relations. Mr Chan has over 30 years of experience
in the fields of accounting, auditing and financial management.
He holds a Bachelor’s degree in accounting and financial analysis
from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, United Kingdom.
Mr Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and also a member of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. He was previously
an executive director and chief financial officer of Ka Shui
International Holdings Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Gss, Jp, aged 65, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since October 1996. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Dr Li has over 30 years of experience in the
manufacturing industry. He is the president of Hong Kong
Economic & Trade Association Ltd. Dr Li holds a Master’s degree
in Business Administration and a Doctor of Philosophy degree
in Economics. He was awarded The Ten Outstanding Young
Persons in 1991 and the Young Industrialists of Hong Kong in
1993. Dr Li is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Chuang’s China Investments Limited and Oriental
Watch Holdings Limited, in which all of these companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He was previously a member of the
National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference from 1998 to 2018 and the president of The Chinese
Manufactures’ Association of Hong Kong from 2015 to 2017.
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Lo Kwok Kwei, David, aged 60, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since November 1999. He is
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr Lo holds the degrees of Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Jurisprudence from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of New South Wales, Australia in 1984. Mr Lo has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since 1987. He has
been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for over 30 years
and is a partner of David Lo & Partners. Mr Lo is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of eSun Holdings
Limited and Futong Technology Development Holdings Limited, in
which all of these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mar, Selwyn, aged 84, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr Mar graduated
from the London School of Economics, University of London. He
is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr Mar has been active in commercial and
industrial undertakings over the past 30 years. He is currently a
partner of Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co. and a director of Nexia
Charles Mar Fan Limited. Mr Mar is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of China Everbright International
Limited, Minmetals Land Limited and PanAsialum Holdings
Company Limited, in which all of these companies are listed on
the Stock Exchange. He was previously an independent non-
executive director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited
and Standard Bank Asia Limited. In respect of public services, Mr
Mar was the president of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (formerly known as the “Hong Kong Society
of Accountants”) in 1991, a member of the Appeals Panel of the
Securities and Futures Commission and a member of Board of
Governors of the Chinese International School. He is at present
an Honorary Fellow and Honorary Court Member of the Lingnan
University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, aged 42, is the Business Control
Director of the Group. Ms Chan joined the Group in 2001
and is actively involving in the setting of the Group’s business
strategies, re-engineering the Group’s business processes and
the establishment of business control systems. She has extensive
experience in marketing, business operations and information
systems management. Ms Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. She is the daughter of
Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company and the sister of Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, the
Managing Director and an Executive Director of the Company.

Hsu Dau Shin, aged 64, is the General Manager of the Group’s
production plant in Dongguan. Mr Hsu joined the Group in 2014.
He is responsible for the management and operation of the
manufacturing facility of the Group in Dongguan. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr Hsu was the chief executive officer of a well-
known Taiwan electronic company and led it to be listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of New Hampshire, United
States.

Li Kwok Ming, aged 58, is the Business Development Director
in China of the Group. Mr Li joined the Group in 2011. He is
responsible for the development of the Group’s sales network
in China. Mr Li has over 21 years of experience in business
development and channel management. Prior to joining the
Group, he had held senior positions in two multinational
corporations. Mr Li holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Warwick University, United Kingdom.

Lui Man Lung, Johnny, aged 49, is the Assistant Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr Lui joined the Group
in 1996 and is mainly responsible for the development of the
Group's business in the Greater China and Taiwan region. He has
over 25 years of experience in the sales and marketing fields. Mr
Lui holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the
Lingnan University, Hong Kong.
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Ng Sui Yin, aged 51, is the Company Secretary of the Company
and the Financial Controller of the Group. Mr Ng joined the Group
in 2015 and is responsible for managing the Group’s finance,
internal control and management, and regulatory compliance.
Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior positions in different
companies in Hong Kong. Mr Ng has over 23 years of experience
in the areas of finance, audit, tax, treasury management, business
development and bankruptcy. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Q Technology (Group) Company Limited.
Mr Ng is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He holds
honours diploma in accounting from the Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) and
a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate
Governance from City University of Hong Kong.

Pan Su Qing, aged 58, is the Vice Chief Engineer of the Group’s
Research & Development Department. Ms Pan joined the Group
in 1996. She is responsible for product development, product
design, technical support and product cost management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Pan had worked in the
research & development department of a well-known state-
owned National 4321 Factory and engaged in the development
of new aluminum electrolytic capacitor products for commercial
customers and military uses. She graduated from the Nan Chang
Radio Technological School, majored in electronics component
and material in 1983.

Peng Shu Hong, aged 45, is the Operation Manager of the
Group's production plant in Dongguan. Mr Peng joined the Group
in 1997 with the responsibility of managing the production,
quality control and research & development of the production
plant in Dongguan. He has over 20 years of experience in
operation management field.

Wan Wah, aged 49, is the Assistant General Manager of the
Group. Ms Wan rendered her service from 1994 to 2013 and
re-joined the Group in 2015. She is mainly responsible for the
development of the Group’s business. Ms Wan has over 26
years of experience in the sales and marketing fields and has
successfully led sales teams in the development of new and
potential markets for the Group. She holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from the University of Sydney, Australia.
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Wong Ching Ming, Stanley, aged 62, is the Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr Wong joined the Group in
2003. He was an Executive Director of the Company from January
2011 until 10 January 2019 when he tendered a resignation
for health reasons. Mr Wong is responsible for managing the
global sales, marketing strategies and operations of the Group.
He has over 29 years of experience in sales and marketing fields
and had held a senior management position in an internationally
well-known information technology company. Mr Wong holds
a Bachelor of Science (Aeronautical Engineering) degree and a
Master of Science degree from the Imperial College of Science,
University of London.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has adopted the code provisions as its
own code of corporate governance practices throughout the Year
with the exception of the following deviation:

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors should be appointed for
a specific term. Currently, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to the requirement of retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company under Bye-law 87 of the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that corporate governance
practices of the Company were in line with the code provisions
as contained in the Corporate Governance Code throughout the
Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regulating Directors’
dealings in securities of the Company. After having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive director represents more than one-third of the
Board which comply with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. Biographical details
of the Directors and the relationship among the members of the
Board are disclosed under the section “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 12 to 17 of this Annual Report.
The Board is supported by three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.
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Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Group and the
effective leadership. The Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules, at least one of the independent non-
executive directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company complies
with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules and can ensure independence
and objectivity and provide checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the Company.

Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for the long
term performance of the Company, assumes responsibility for its
leadership and control and responsible for promoting the success
of the Company. The Board also directs strategic objectives of the
Company to management and oversees their implementation and
monitors the operational and financial performance of the Group.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group in order to achieve the strategic objectives set by the Board.

Chairman and Managing Director

Clear division of the roles of the Chairman and the Managing
Director is crucial to the effective running of the Board and the
development of the Group. Ms Kee Chor Lin (“Mrs Chan”) and
Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene are the Chairman and the Managing
Director of the Company respectively. Their roles and duties are
separate and distinct. Mrs Chan, as the Chairman, takes up the
challenging role of leading the Board to develop and formulate
strategic business development plans whilst Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene, as the Managing Director, implements the policies and
is answerable to the Board for the operations and management
of the Group. Mrs Chan is the mother of Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene.
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Board Processes

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the Company Secretary.

Notice of at least 14 days is given of all regular Board meetings
and all Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for each Board meeting. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are then sent in full to all Directors at least 3 days
in advance or within reasonable time prior to the relevant Board
meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.

Directors should declare any conflicts of interest at the Board
meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded from
counting as quorum in that meeting whenever they have potential
or actual interests in the matters to be discussed and approved at
that meeting and the Board has determined to be material.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time.
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Besides, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director. A specific in-house training seminar was organized for
Directors in November 2019 to update the Board the market
trends of risk management and emerging themes and challenges
for Board. They also took part in corporate visits and attended
seminars organized by other listed companies or professional
organizations to further enhance their capacities to carry out
directors’ duties. The training undertaken by the Directors during
the Year is summarised as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors HITES

Kee Chor Lin oayeabe

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BRF%

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan BRiZES
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKHITES
Li Sau Hung, Eddy S E]

Lo Kwok Kwei, David ‘EE

Mar, Selwyn Hiax

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal
of Directors

Nomination of Directors

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy on 28 December
2018. It aims to set out the nomination procedure and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as the Directors of
the Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill
casual vacancies. The Nomination Committee may, as it considers
appropriate, nominate a number of candidates more than the
number of Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.
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Key Principles of the Company for the Nomination of
Directors

Before nominating candidates for the directorship of the Company
for the Board's approval, the Nomination Committee should:

1.

review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually, taking into
account the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
and

make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive
of the Company.

Key Selection Criteria
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee should take into account of the following

facto

rs, inter alia:
reputation for integrity;
accomplishment and experience;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

the Company’s Board Diversity Policy that ensures the Board
has diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

in the case of Independent Non-executive Directors,
the independence of the candidate (the independence
requirements as set out under any applicable laws, rules and
regulations shall have been met); and

any other factors that the Nomination Committee deems
appropriate.
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Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company, retiring
Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

Proposed candidate will be asked to submit his/her necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with his/
her written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of his/her personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her
standing for election as a Director.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the relevant circular to the Company’s
shareholders, the nominated persons shall not assume that they
have been proposed by the Board to stand for election at the
general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Company’s shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Company’s shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to the Company’s shareholders.

A shareholder of the Company can serve a notice to the Company
Secretary within the lodgement period of its intention to propose
a resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without
the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidates set out in the circular
to the Company’s shareholders. The particulars of the candidates
so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information by a
supplementary circular.
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A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company Secretary.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as a Director, shareholder’s proposed resolutions shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for the
candidates recommended by the Board.

Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no
circumstances shall a member of the Nomination Committee
or a staff member of the Company disclose any information to
or entertain any enquiries from the public with regard to any
nomination or candidature before the circular to the Company’s
shareholders, as the case may be, is issued. Following the issue of
the circular, the Nomination Committee or Company Secretary or
other staff member of the Company approved by the Nomination
Committee may answer enquiries from the regulatory authorities
or the public but confidential information regarding nominations
and candidates should not be disclosed.

Power and Responsibility of the Board

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility and final decision
on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting. The Board shall
monitor and review the Policy to ensure that it remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects the regulatory requirements
effective from time to time.

Appointment of Directors

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(1) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall be elected or appointed in the first place at the
statutory meeting of the members and thereafter at the annual
general meeting. However, the Board shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to
authorisation by the members in general meeting, as an addition
to the existing Board subject to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Re-election of Directors

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company provides that any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to Bye-
law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years at the annual general meeting.

Removal of Directors

Under Bye-law 86(4) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
members may, at any general meeting and by an ordinary
resolution, remove a Director at any time before the expiration of
his period of office provided that the notice of any such meeting
convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall contain
a statement of the intention so to do and be served on such
Director not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such
meeting, such Director shall be entitled to be heard on the motion
for his removal.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 1 August
2013 and amended on 28 December 2018. It aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the Company. To
achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the diversity of the Board has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
31 December 2019:
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Board Diversity Profile
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Responsibilities of Directors

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to and the
management of the Board. Executive Directors take an active
interest in the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the day-to-day
management of business of the Company, whilst Independent
Non-executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and
bring their independent views and judgments on various issues.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
terms and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to
their respective appointment, each of them has submitted a
written confirmation to the Company and the Stock Exchange
confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the
Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there
is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence.
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Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
a wide range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through their regular attendance at various
committee meetings. They bring independent opinion and
judgment on the strategy and policies to ensure that the interests
of all shareholders are taken into account. The Company reviews
annually and obtains confirmation of independence from each
of them during their respective terms of appointment. During
the Year, the Company received written confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors his independence
with reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
confirmations, the Company considers that all of them are
independent, which is in compliance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

As mentioned above, the Company has made specific enquiries
to all Directors and all of them confirmed that they had fully
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the Year.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and other officers from any losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and expenses, including without limitation, any
proceedings brought against them, arising from the performance
of his duty pursuant to his appointment under his respective
service agreement entered into with the Company. The current
policy has been renewed during the Year and shall be under
regular review.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations to the Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated
certain responsibilities to the senior management team of the
Company, including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such
senior management team is accounted for their performance to
the Board.

During the Year, the Executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems effectively and efficiently. The Board reviews
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place. Each Director is free to seek advice
from and has access to the Company’s senior management team
independently.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and are available
for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members. All of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Mar, Selwyn (Chairman)
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
Lo Kwok Kwei, David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has
a suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and
legal sectors and that the composition and establishment of the
Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for assisting the
Board in providing an independent view on the effectiveness
of the financial process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. It has the responsibilities and powers set
forth in the terms of reference. The committee members shall
meet at least twice every year to review the interim and final
results prepared by the Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings,
including a meeting with external auditor for special audit
planning. The attendance records of Directors attending the
Audit Committee meetings are set out on page 32 of this Annual
Report. The following is a summary of work performed by the
Audit Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 and for the interim period ended 30 June
2019 before submission to the Board for approval;

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
re-appointment of KPMG as the external auditor of the
Company;

3. reviewed the external auditor's engagement fee;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group; and

5. reviewed the annual audit plan.

The Audit Committee held a meeting with external auditor for the
special purpose of audit planning, which meeting also welcomed
the attendance of any Director who had either expertise, or special
interest, in accounting, financial and auditing matters.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including one Executive Director and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely:

Lo Kwok Kwei, David (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
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The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and
senior management, including but without limitation benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment); (i) making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive directors; and (iii) establishing a
transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.
The Board consults the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and provides sufficient resources to enable it to discharge its
duties.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting
and the attendance records of Directors attending the
Remuneration Committee meeting are set out on page 32 of this
Annual Report. The following is a summary of work performed by
the Remuneration Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management; and

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
directors’ fee for Independent Non-executive Directors.

The following table lists out in bands the remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management whose names appear
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” for
the Year:

HK$
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1,000,001-3,000,000
1-1,000,000
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises five members, including
two Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely:

Li Sau Hung, Eddy (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene

Lo Kwok Kwei, David

Mar, Selwyn

The Nomination Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the Board
to run effectively and the Company can go through a formal,
fair and transparent process of reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the balance and effectiveness of the
Board in the light of the Board Diversity Policy identifying the skills
needed and appointing those who can provide them to the Board;
(i) leading the process for the appointment of Directors; and (iii)
identifying and nominating suitable candidates for appointment to
the Board. The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and
the attendance records of Directors attending the Nomination
Committee meeting are set out on page 32 of this Annual Report.
The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;
and

2. reviewed the succession planning for the Board.
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Attendance Records of Directors Attending Board EXESeR EEZEEgERERBRERBFKX
Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Annual SEEHETHE

General Meeting
The attendance records of Directors during the Year are as EBZERAEERNZ HEDZSEOT
follows:

Number of Meetings attended/held

HE/BIERRY
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Directors Exees ENZEeeE FMZECEE REZEEEE RREEAS
Executive Directors BiTES
Kee Chor Lin' inE! 4/4 4/4 n 11 n
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene ' R¥E' 404 414 - /1 1/1
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan * == 404 4/4 - - n
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Li Sau Hung, Eddy ’ FAE’ 3/4 3/4 17 /1 0/1
Lo Kwok Kwei, David ZEE 4/4 4/4 1n n "N
Mear, Selwyn B 4/4 414 - 17 1N
Notes: FisE
1. MsKee Chor Lin and Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene attended the Audit 1. #AREEL+TEERFELLERBEZZESERUERE
Committee meetings as management representatives as requested REAMEBEZZEEGEH °

by the Audit Committee.

2. Mr Chan Tat Cheong, Alan attended all the Audit Committee 2. RESXEEEZZ B G ERUMBEE SO LT
meetings as the Finance Director as requested by the Audit EEREZEGYE -
Committee.

3. Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy was unable to attend the annual general 3. HBHREMBEINTIE - F=FEHE T REEHF201945A

meeting on 16 May 2019 due to other overseas commitments. 16HMIRRBFERE °
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BERZE
Directors’ Responsibilities in Financial Reporting EEHMBREZER

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and ZBEEE@HNUAEBEZHHEERE - B RATSIE
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, financial ~ HAIE  EM BE2E 2 - EFSEBERZEEZ
position and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the BT @ BEBASE 2 BB HMERT - EREESE
Audit Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of WAL EH HHEAFERTHREARKE 258
the Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the 1% -

financial statements and annual and interim reports and accounts

of the Group.
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All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Company is committed to announce its interim and annual
results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the
relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor of the Company
with respect to financial reporting are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 56 to 65 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that
the remuneration payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had
been no major disagreement between the external auditor and
management of the Company during the Year.

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
KPMG, during the Year is set out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

o ENEH

HK$'000

Services rendered Fri2 it > BR#& FBT

Audit services ZE RIS 1,785

Non-audit services ' IERZEARTS 360

Total et 2,145
Note: fIaE -

1. The fee paid for non-audit services included review of interim
financial information, work performed on the preliminary
announcement of results of the Group and tax compliance services.

1. XERERGEREERMTRMBER - gtA
SEVFEENEETZ TIERBRBARRY -

Annual Report 2019 &R

33



34

Corporate Governance Report
TRERRE

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises internal audit in assisting the Company to
enhancing its corporate governance. The internal auditor is neither
affiliated with the employees nor external auditor of the Company
in order to ensure its objectivity, creditability and independence.
It reports to the Audit Committee directly. During the Year, the
internal auditor performed internal audit reviews and the scope of
review includes:

1. scoped and planned internal audit activities, including the risk
management system, and agreed with the Audit Committee
and the Board on the scope of review;

2. reviewed the design of internal control system of the in-
scoped areas by identifying the key controls in place and
determined whether there were significant gaps in the design
of the controls;

3. sample tested the operating effectiveness of the key controls
identified of the in-scoped areas; and

4. reported and made recommendations to the Audit
Committee on the internal control weaknesses identified in
order to enhance their design and operating effectiveness.

The internal auditor submitted the internal audit review reports to
the Audit Committee for review and based on which, the Board
and the Audit Committee were of the view that the key areas of
the Company'’s internal control and risk management systems had
been reasonably maintained and considered sound and effective
for the Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
remain sound and effective. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The tasks of risk management
and internal control of the Company during the Year had
been performed by management. Management provided a
confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company remained sound and effective
throughout the Year.
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Risk Management Philosophy

The Board recognises that risk taking is unavoidable as it is part of
the Company’s business. With appropriate risk management and
continuous risk monitoring policies in place, risk taking may bring
value to the Company. The Board believes that an appropriate
level of risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their
impact and likelihood. Certain risks can neither be absolutely
eliminated nor controlled by the Company. The Company can
protect its assets and shareholders’ interests and create value
simultaneously through appropriate risks management and control
measures. The Board also acknowledges that risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board has the responsibility to oversee, evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks faced by the Group
and to review and monitor the Group’s approach in addressing
these risks at least annually. In addition, the Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in
reviewing the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
controls and reviewing the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

Management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board’s
approved risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced
and monitoring the design and operation of the relevant internal
control measures to mitigate and control these risks.
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Risk Assessment Process

Risk Assessment Approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year to
ensure all material risks to which the Group exposed are properly
identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Identification

Risk identification is based on questionnaires completed by senior
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by senior management from the risk universe which is
a collection of risks built on environmental analysis and external
benchmarking that can impact the Group at the entity or specific
business process level. The risk universe covers both internal and
external risks in six major areas, namely external risks, strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks, legal and compliance risks
and people risks. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating
the results of the questionnaire.

Risk Evaluation and Risk Prioritization
Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
the likelihood of the identified key risk factors to the Group. These
identified key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating
process assessed by senior management.

Risk prioritisation is @ mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their assessed
impact and likelihood.

Risk Reporting, Managing and Monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted
to the Audit Committee and to the Board. Senior management
reviewed and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in
accordance with the Board’s advice and suggestions; determined
and implemented treatment plans where risks mitigants are
actionable and continuously monitored the development of
current risks and the emergence of new risks throughout the Year.

Management conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
Year. Management has reported major findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from
management were adopted by the Group and were implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
were effective throughout the Year.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Group is strictly controlled and measures adopted by the Group
including but not limited by the following ways:

1. restrict access to inside information to employees on a need-
to-know basis;

2. send reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information to ensure that they are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality;

3. ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Group enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4. inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s reporting currency is Hong Kong dollar and most
of the business transactions are denominated in other currencies
including United States dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen.
Hence, exchange rate movements can affect the profit margin
of the Group. The Group enters forward currency contracts to
hedge against the currency risks arising from its operations and
its funding sources, with reference to cash flow forecasts, capital
expenditure commitment and business budget. The Group does
not speculate on foreign currencies.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from long credit period for customers and short
credit period provided by suppliers. Customers are unwilling or
unable to fulfill their payment obligations that leads the Group to
incur financial losses. The Group’s credit control function manages
the credit risks by assessing the credit limits and credit terms to be
granted to customers and setting up the internal control system
of credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to recover
overdue debts, if any. The Group also enters into credit insurance
contracts to mitigate the credit risks arising from the collection of
accounts receivables balances.
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Competition Risk

Competition risk arises from the emergence of a number of
competitors in the electronic components manufacturing industry.
Price cut from competitors intensifies the risk. The Group believes
that the provision of quality products and after sales service
to customers are the only way to gain and maintain customer
confidence and loyalty.

Customers’ Financial Health Risk

The majority of the Group’s customers are electronic products
manufacturers in China. Delay in payments for trade receivables
settlement is common, thus resulting in bad debts. Slow recovery
of trade receivables indicates higher likelihood of customers’
financial health risk. Senior management works with the finance
department closely to monitor customers’ financial health. In
addition, it is hedged by the implementation of credit insurance
policies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 28 December 2018.
It aims to manage its capital efficiently and generate long-term
sustainable value for shareholders, while balancing operational,
regulatory, rating agency and policyholder requirements. It also
aims to grow its dividend in line with business growth and to
share the benefits of its success with its shareholders.

The Company may declare and distribute no more than 30% of
the consolidated net profit after tax of the Group as dividends,
either in cash or scrip dividend in lieu of cash, to its shareholders.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to
any restrictions under the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the

Company and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account of the following factors, inter alia:

e the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

e the general financial position of the Group;
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e the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development needs of the Group;

e restrictions imposed by debt covenants;

e the general market conditions;

e the business cycle of the Company’s business; and
e any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at an annual general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. No assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared
in any given period.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with shareholders, the Board established a
shareholders’ communication policy and reviews it regularly to
ensure its effectiveness. To facilitate the timely, transparent and
effective communication with shareholders, the Board provides
different communication channels for shareholders and investors
including annual general meetings and other general meetings.

The annual general meeting provides a forum for the Company’s
shareholders to raise comments, offer suggestions, and exchange
views with the Board. The notice of annual general meeting is
distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen
of all Board Committees and external auditor shall attend each
annual general meeting or any general meeting to answer
questions from the shareholders on the performance of the
Company so as to allow them to fully understand the Company’s
operations, management and development.

During the Year, the Board held an annual general meeting on
16 May 2019. The voting results of annual general meeting were
published on the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and
the results are available for inspection by the shareholders of the
Company upon request made to the Company Secretary. The
attendance records of Directors at the meeting are set out on
page 32 of this Annual Report.
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Furthermore, the official website of the Company contains timely
updated company news, corporate information, announcements,
interim and annual reports of the Group, all of which are available
for download with a view of making easy access to corporate
information for shareholders and potential investors. Circulars,
interim and annual reports are sent to shareholders in a timely
manner and they are also available on the websites of HKEXnews
and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening Special General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
under such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of 3 months from the said date.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

During the Year, no special general meeting was convened, and
no relevant proposal was received by the Company.
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Enquiries to the Board
Enquiries can be put to the Board through the investor relations
department of the Company at Unit 03, 6/F., Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or email to ir@manyue.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The
Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Managing
Director. From time to time, the Company Secretary advises the
Board on governance matters and ensures the board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The Company
Secretary has undertaken at least 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protect the environment. The Group
has established an environmental management system that
conforms to global standards and was granted with 1SO14001
accreditation in 2004. The quality control department monitors
product quality and the use of certain chemical substances.

Besides, the implementation of RoHS directives in August 2005
in European Union members’ states has impacted the electronic
industry. The Group installed new equipments and established a
comprehensive set of policies and procedures to ensure that the
Group's products are fully compliant with the RoHS requirements
for the European Union and any equivalent or relevant
requirement for the rest of the world. The Group had also made
it mandatory for all vendors and business partners to comply with
the RoHS requirements.

During the Year, the Group has received the following awards:

1. Energywise Certificate of the Hong Kong Green Organisation
Certification; and

2. Hong Kong Green Organisation issued by Hong Kong
Productively Council.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year 2019 as well as indication of likely
future development in the business of the Group are set out in
the sections “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6, “Operation
Review” on page 9, “Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the
Company” on pages 37 to 38 of this Annual Report respectively.
An analysis using financial key performance indicators, a discussion
of the Group’s environmental policies and performance, and its
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group as well as an account of the key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in the sections “Five-
Year Financial Summary” on page 225, “Segment Information”
on pages 132 to 134, “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 50 to 55, “Environmental Protection” on page
41 and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Directors’ Report
on page 48 respectively. The above discussions form part of this
Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 66 of this Annual
Report.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year (2018:
Nil).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in the section “Five-
Year Financial Summary” on page 225 of this Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in Notes 34 and 35 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and that of
the Company during the Year are set out in Notes 41 and 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to HK$67,419,000 (2018: HK$73,484,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$165,458,000 (2018: HK$165,458,000), may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of the Company during the Year and up
to the date of this Directors’ Report (unless otherwise stated)
comprises Ms Kee Chor Lin, Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, Mr Chan
Tat Cheong, Alan, Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Mr Lo Kwok Kwei, David
and Mr Mar, Selwyn.
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Under the existing Bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years and re-election at each annual general meeting. In
accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene and Mr Lo Kwok Kwei, David will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company.
None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

The Company received annual confirmation from all Independent
Non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
Independent Non-executive Directors as independent.

The biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 12 to 17 of this Annual Report.

BOARD CHANGES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was a change in
the Board which is reported as below:

e Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of
Executive Director of the Company due to health reasons
with effect from 10 January 2019 but remains as the
Business Development Director of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole of any substantial
part of the Company’s businesses were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business at any time during the Year and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

BERERX

REARBZARAR  ARRZESREMITERA
B EATRE AR EERI B 1)
BAREML  HARARREENENPESRER
RE - ARFREBAFERBR/ESTRITRARRH
HEZEEZRTRASEERR °

EERRETRAESRKRS - HERSGK
B2 EERAR

M2019F 12 A31H » EFFERTBRABREARR
SEARAREE(FERFHFRIPEKRGIEXVI)Z
f&1 - RN RESTEELARKRBIREES
RHAEEGIZE3521EETE 2 B AN SIRIBZ T
AfMESTTAE AR R RERAT S RARIT

RARBEBREAARBRN 248

Capacity, nature of interest and number of shares and underlying shares held

St ERMEURAERORERROHE

Approximate percentage

of the Company's

Interest issued share capital

Directors Capacity Nature of interest in shares ERDAEE BT

= L) ERtE R R RAZEABE DL

Kee Chor Lin' Interest of controlled Corporate 209,689,667 44.09%
yodhE corporation NG

XS RE S

Kee Chor Lin Beneficial owner Personal 51,006,334 10.73%
Rbeped ExBEAA {EYN

260,696,001 54.82%

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene  Beneficial owner Personal 4,716,666 0.99%
RFE ExBAA {EYN

Note: PHHE -

1. These shares are held by Man Yue Holdings Inc., a company wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman of the
Company.

1. ZFMRHEMan Yue Holdings Inc.35% » M A a4
NRAEFLRELT2EERHESR °
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Save as disclosed above and as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”, as at 31
December 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the Company,
being 5% or more in the interest in the issued share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, are set out as
below:

Long positions:

Capacity and nature of interest

BRSNS

Man Yue Holdings Inc. ~ Personal/Beneficial owner
BN E=HEA

B EX i TR E KR E B E RGO k&SR —
EATIREEE SN - 7A2019F12A31H @ MIEEE=S &
BITBA BRARR B sk AT AR A E 2 D - 18
D k&5 A ZBRIEE S RIS EHIE35218%
BRI ESTRIM A ST AE AR B R R AT 2 12
KR o

TEREREMATRRG RAEBRKRD 2
EERAR

R2019F 128318 ' BARRESZTHIEZESTHAER
HN o JBIRIREE F R B EIKGI B XVERE 33615 E T E
2B RMEE  HAARREBITRAS% KA
SRR Z ALIT

Approximate percentage

of the Company'’s

Number of issued share capital

ordinary shares held HARA T ERITRA
FEEEREE ZEBHNBEDE

209,689,667 44.09%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person,
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company,
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 26 May 2006 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations and the same was revised on 27 May
2010. The life of such Share Option Scheme was expired on
25 May 2016. Subject to the exercise period, all options (to the
extent not already exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. Further
details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this Directors’
Report, 1,710,000 (2018: 1,880,000) and 1,460,000 share options
remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme respectively
and the details of the movements of the said outstanding share
options were as follows:

BRESE

AR RIFR20064F5 A 26 B R4 —THEE M R T2 ([ BERR
EETE ) BEERHASERNEEELERZE
AR EERMEREAER - ZFTEIR2010F5 827
Hi&{EE] o ILEERERTSIFHE R 2016F5H25HE
o BARIRITEER - R EEARRE T BB M AT E B M
RITEZ 2 EERAEDAE R - WA RIREREZ
AR T LAITIE o HRARERES B0 E — S ENE
B B R M sE354 F o

MR2019F 12 A3 B REEAEESHREAE - BIE
fEfR T E1/51,710,00015 (20184 : 1,880,00017 ) K.
1,460,00017 B AR A2 18 RATIE + il i R 1T R AR A
ZEEEBOT ¢

Lapsed during
the period
from 1 January
2020 to
the date of
this Directors’ As at Exercise price
Asat As at Asat Report  the date of of share
1January 10 January Lapsed 31 December A2020%  this Directors' options?
Name and category of 2019 2019° during 2019 1A1A2 Report  Dateof grantof  Exercise period of HKS per share
participants R20195 R20195 the Year K019 AESEHE  WAES®  shareoptions  shareoptions' BREGHE
SRERZRER 1818 18108°  REEEXN AR BEEAR  HEZRE  RUBRERE  BREGRD Shkin’
Director
E=
Wong Ching Ming, 250,000 - - - - - 1592010 159201110 14.9.2020 2262
Stanley’ B2011F9A15AZ2020F9A 147
TEH’
250,000 - - - - - 1592010 1592012 t0 14.9.2020 2262
B201259A 15822020897 148
500,000 - - - - -
Other employees®
EtlEs’
In aggregate 696,000 946,000 (86,000 860,000 (126,000) 734000 1592010 159201110 14.9.2020 2262
Ak B201159A 15822020594 148
In aggregate 684,000 934,000 (84,000) 850,000 (124,000) 726000 1592010 1592012 10 14.9.2020 2262
A% B2012F9A15AZ2020F9A 147
1,380,000 1,880,000 (170,000) 1,710,000 (250,000) 1,460,000
1,880,000 1,830,000 (170,000) 1,710,000 (250,000) 1,460,000
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Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant
until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

3. Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 10 January 2019 but
remains as the Business Development Director of the Group. The
share options that granted to him remain valid and have been
calculated in combination with other employees from the date of his
resignation from the office of Executive Director of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, less than 30% of the Group’s sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 33.3% (2018: 40.2%) of the total purchases during
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 9.7% (2018: 14.9%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the first five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the
date of this Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by KPMG who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 2020 annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at that meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the Year. Unless otherwise
specified, the environmental data covers the Group’s production
facilities in Dongguan only, excluding its offices or production
facilities in other locations due to their relatively small
environmental footprint.

CORPORATE VISIONS ON ESG

The Group has obtained both the ISO14001, an environmental
management system, and ISO9001, a quality management
system, certifications. It also implements the RBA Code of Conduct
(formerly known as “EICC Code of Conduct”) which focuses on
the management system related to labour, ethics, health and
safety and the environment. All the products of the Group comply
with RoHS requirements. On the other hand, the Group is not
only committed to satisfying RoHS requirements for the European
Union and equivalent requirements worldwide, compliance with
RoHS requirements is also a requirement for all business partners
which work with the Group.

Development on using new energy as well as energy saving
continues to be an important agenda and concerns for the
international climate summits as well as the Central People’s
Government. The Group will continue to provide a complete
solution for energy saving and storage application.

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group values its relationships with its stakeholders.
Shareholders, customers, suppliers, regulators and employers are
its main stakeholders. The Group has on-going dialogues with
shareholders, analysts and investors. Annual general meeting
is held every year and the Group encourages shareholders to
attend shareholders’ meetings and vote at the meetings. Product
brochures are prepared to introduce new products to customers.
Business visits and supplier evaluation are conducted to ensure
suppliers comply with all applicable laws and regulations. The
Group collects employees’ opinion regularly and it is committed to
ensure compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations
of Hong Kong and the jurisdictions where the Group conducts
business in.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Protecting the environment and conserving the resources are
important responsibilities for large-scale companies. The Group
strives to achieve environmental sustainability in every production
step. The Group aims to not only comply with environmental
laws and regulations but endeavours to prevent pollution, save
resources and reduce waste, as well as to enhance environmental
awareness.
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The following table presents the ESG performance summary of

the Group in 2019:

Indicators (unit)

Emissions

Nitrogen oxides (kilograms)
Sulphur oxides (kilograms)
Particulates (kilograms)

GHG emissions

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 2) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 3) (tCOze)
Total GHG emissions (tCO,e)

Waste
Hazardous waste (tonnes)
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes)

Energy consumption

Energy consumption (kilo-Watt-hour)

Energy consumption intensity per floor area
(kilo-Watt-hour/m?)

Diesel consumption (litres)

LPG consumption (kilograms)

Water consumption

Water consumption (tonnes)

Water consumption intensity per floor area
(tonnes/m?)

Packing material consumption
Paper (tonnes)
Plastic (tonnes)
Wood (tonnes)
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CONTROL OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES IN
PRODUCTS

Manufacturing of high technology electronic components is
one of the Group's key businesses, the use of heavy metals or
chemical substances is unavoidable. Hence, control of hazardous
substances in products is a major concern of the Group. RoHS
compliance is a requirement for all suppliers and business partners
of the Group. Suppliers must submit national or internationally
recognised testing reports and materials safety data sheet to
the Group for review or verification to ensure that the materials
they supplied comply with the relevant environmental rules or
regulations which are free from prohibited substances or the use
of chemical substances at a safety level. All hazardous and non-
hazardous waste produced during production process is handled
by government-recognised companies.

ENERGY SAVING

Maximisation of energy efficiency is one of the ways to protect
our planet. The Group has adopted green office practices to
reduce natural resource consumption and the impact on the
environment. Teleconference and video conference are widely used
to avoid unnecessary travel and hence reduce carbon footprints,
whilst maintaining the benefits of “face-to-face” meetings. Recto-
verso printing is encouraged with an aim to attain a paperless
office. In addition, the Group reviews eco-friendly measures to
enhance operational efficiency regularly.

ENERGY RECYCLING

Water is essential in daily operations. Throughout the production
process, the Group minimises water usage and arranges for a
qualified company to recycle effluent. Besides, the Group has
installed two water circulating vacuum pumps to recycle effluent
in the production plant. The water circulating vacuum pumps
operate 24 hours a day to continuously recycle effluent. The
Group has no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

STRENGTHENING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS
The Group has been certified with 1SO14001, the Environmental
Management System. The management system encourages
the Group to continually improve environmental performance,
identifies the significant environmental aspects in the operations
and establishes relevant measurements to eliminate or reduce
it. The Group has invested lots of resources to implement the
management system. Training programmes are conducted
regularly for the departmental representatives to ensure effective
running of the management system in the Group and therefore
enhance the environmental awareness of the employees.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

Retention of employees is crucial for operating a prosperous entity.
The Group has established a “RBA human resources procedure”
(formerly known as “EICC human resources procedure”). The
Group has stringent and transparent procedures for recruiting
talents and has developed competitive remuneration packages.
The remuneration policy is based on the principles of equitability
and fairness. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis by the Group. And the Group also provides provident fund
contribution and medical insurance coverage to the employees.

Child labour and forced labour are two of the main labour
issues in the world. They are closely linked together. The
Group has established the “RBA forced labour management
procedure” (formerly known as “EICC forced labour management
procedure”). The Group does not employ child or forced labour
and ensures all applicants for employment are over the age
for completing compulsory education or the minimum age for
employment and complies with the requirements of any applicable
local laws. Enslavement and labour trafficking are also prohibited.
Employees’ identity or immigration documents are not held by the
Company unless it is required by law. The Group has established a
channel for employees to report any suspected cases by putting a
message in the Employees’ suggestion box and General Manager’s
mail box.

In addition to child labour and forced labour, the Group is
committed to providing a workplace free from harassment
and unlawful discrimination. The Company has established the
“RBA anti-discrimination procedure” (formerly known as “EICC
anti-discrimination procedure”) and employs talents regardless
of color, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity and
expression, race, pregnancy, political affiliation and religion.
The Group believes that everyone is unique and has his or her
own strength in different aspects and the Group endeavours to
promote the awareness of anti-discrimination at the workplace.
Investigation will be conducted and led by senior management of
the Group if suspected case is reported.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group fully understands that career development for
employees is one of the critical elements for maintaining long
term relationship between the employees and the Group.

The Group organises training for employees every year. Training
courses on topics including but not limited to management
systems such as 1ISO9001, 1SO4001 and ISO/TS16949, job
requirements, customer requirements, product safety and
statistical process control are organised to enhance the knowledge
and skills of employees to meet the challenges in the workplace.
The Group also provides trainings for its directors and senior
management to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
order to discharge their duties more efficiently.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays attention to occupational health and safety.
Safety in the workplace and supply of protective equipments are
the key issues. Compliance with the relevant local laws is the first
step for the Group. Protective equipments such as masks and
goggles are provided to employees who have physical contact
with chemical substances to protect themselves. The Group offers
physical examination to employees in three phases including pre-
employment, during employment period and also after resignation
in order to protect employees’ health.

Enhancing safety awareness of employees is also important. The
Group conducts health and safety trainings to new employees
based on their job duties. In addition, the Group provides ongoing
safety trainings which cover topics including but not limited to
job hazard, protective measures, job safety agenda, correct usage
of personal protective equipments and relevant health and safety
laws.

Apart from the workplace, the Group also cares about sanitation,
food and housing of employees. The Group provides clear and
safe dormitories to employers with adequate living area to enjoy
their own privacy. The Group also provides sanitary food to
minimise the chance of food poisoning. All food is of a certain
nutritional quality.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERBRSE

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

Product quality is a critical factor for the Group to staying
competitive in the market. The Group strives to provide
satisfactory products and services to customers and zero defect is
our long term goal. The Group values our customers. A product
briefing regarding product details, usage of products and relevant
safety issues will be given by technical professionals to new
customers. Moreover, the Group’s customer service team is fully
responsible for taking care of the customers including technical
support, complaints or any comments concerning the services and
products of the Company. To fully understand customers’ needs,
customer satisfaction survey will be conducted regularly. For the
non-conformed products, the Group has established a “Product
return procedure” to identify the cause of failure in order to
improve and meet customers’ standard and a specific timeframe
for response to questions and/or complaints was set to respond to
the customer.

With the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, local
suppliers are given purchasing priority if they fulfill the Company’s
requirements.

ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY ON CORRUPTION

Raw material is one of the important elements that affects
product quality. All business dealings between the Group and
suppliers are transparently performed to uphold business integrity
and honesty. The Group has a zero tolerance policy to prohibit any
and all forms of bribery, corruption, extortion and embezzlement.
Furthermore, the Company conducts supplier evaluations regularly
in three main areas: quality, environment and production process
to ensure the supplier’s performance is satisfactory.

Integrity and honesty of employees is important to the Group.
The Group has adopted the whistle-blowing policy in 2010 and
has established a communication process for employees to report
any suspected non-compliance cases in confidence without fear
of retaliation. The Board also reviews the effectiveness of such
reporting system regularly.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to serving the community and recognizes
that positive contribution to the community is the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen. The Group contributes a funding
to local tax authority every year in Dongguan to support career
opportunities of disabled people. The Group will continue to
contribute to the community in the future.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B NS

KPMG

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAN YUE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Yue Technology Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 66 to 224, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

FARESER

P E FESRER 0T LA - RAHRME
HABGA M RERAEEL B - ZEFHEA
BB EBGRAMHRERHATRETRE -
MAMTRHELFRRHEBEE -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Valuation of inventories
FEMRE

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 112 to

113.

BAGFE IR AN 25 R E 1121 138.2 EFTEE M i4(m) ©

The key audit matter
HRENEE

At the reporting date the Group held significant
quantities of inventories, which principally comprised
electronic capacitors, with different products in different
phases of their manufacturing life cycles. The ability of
the Group to sell these inventories in the future may be
adversely affected by changes in competitors’ pricing
strategies and the introduction of new products and
technology.

RBERY - BEXEREARERE  IERERHN4E
BEEBEERAE - EmITE e ﬁ%lﬂﬂiﬁmxﬁf 5 ]

BE N e R T TE (B ARG SO mm SR 1 A 1 52 21 A
&

Management performs regular reviews of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to the inventory
ageing report, projections of expected future sales of
goods and management’s experience and judgement.
Based on this review, a write-down of inventories will be
made when the estimated net realisable value of an item
of inventory falls below its carrying amount.

EEEENGFERKRE  BRARREEE ZTRANALERE
BBk REZFEZREE - REZEZ 78
AR B E AT 2 IR BN R I E R E i8S

The Group may sell aged inventories at a markdown
from the original price to avoid an accumulation of slow-
moving inventories. Accordingly, the actual future selling
prices of some items of slow-moving inventories may fall
below their cost.

SEATBLERERS  NERZBFEFE - ALt
?%:F/%*iﬁf 5 2 BERARREE A L AR ERAR

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN ET R IEZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

BARHEFREREZETIEFRRA TSR

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation,
including purchase invoices, goods received notes
and finished good stock-in reports;

o BEAEESBHBRTERRRETTRER EEEX
H(EEREER EUENEBRIEKRFERS)
A RETNIEEREHEAEEORERR

e  assessing the Group’s inventory write-down policy
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o MEZAEHEERTE  HMH BEEEFEMER
=

e  evaluating the Group's inventory write-down policy
by comparing management’s forecast markdowns
and utilisation for inventories with historical data
or actual sales and utilisation subsequent to the
reporting date for the current and prior year;

o BBURENNMBAFEEEECFE IZHE&TEEFHK

FI8E) ﬁﬂéﬁiiﬁiEI%%%FEE%HFI?EM%%&@?H
i BEEEZFEMHERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEFTSE ()

Valuation of inventories
FEHE

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 112 to

113.

BRI A R AN A25 R E112F 1138 2 &N i4(m) »

The key audit matter
BRETSE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because of the significant judgement exercised by
management in determining appropriate inventory write-
downs, which involves estimating the duration of product
life cycles, predicting the amounts of inventories which
will be sold in the future and the markdowns necessary
to sell such inventories on a discounted basis in future
years all of which are inherently uncertain.

BMEFREAE RRRENFE AR EEGEETEE
MFEMIECFRITEEAHE - ME TP REERER
B FHERRE - BB REENTERE RN AREFER
BHEZSFEMBELNIH - ZEZRAROHFERES THE

FENE
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN ET A EEZEE

e assessing whether the inventory write-downs at the
reporting date were calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group’s inventory write-down policy by
recalculating the inventory write-downs based on the
percentages and other parameters in the Group’s
inventory provision policy;

o FEBER ERBETFEREBRENAOIHLLEMSH
BT EFEME MR REAZEEMER
BpE BEREFEME

e enquiring of management at the operations level
about any expected changes in plans for markdowns
and utilisation of inventories on hand and comparing
their representations with actual sales transactions
and utilisation subsequent to the reporting date.

s MEEBTHEENHAMERENEAEFFEEZERN
RS YhHEFERAEEREARREERI R
ERZBRER -



Independent Auditor’s Report
B HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEEFTEE(E)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BUE - BERRER L HAERNRZEEREETIME

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

90 to 971.

ERR A EIRE N 18R 19 R FE90E 91 H .2 @51 % M it4(d) °

The key audit matter
BRENER

The Group held significant amount of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land premium amounting to
HK$666,340,000 and HK$59,084,000 respectively as at
31 December 2019.

EEERBEAEYE BMEEAERERIHBEEEMNT B
2019412 A31H 5 BI{B1E666,340,0007% 7T }2.59,084,00075
ﬁ o

Management assessed impairment indicators for the
Group's property, plant and equipment and prepaid land
premium; and performed impairment assessments by
comparing the aggregate carrying values of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land premium or the
cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which these assets were
allocated with the value-in-use based on net present
values of the respective discounted cash flow forecasts
or fair value less costs of disposal based on the valuation
report issued by an independent external valuer engaged
by the Group, whichever was higher, to determine the
amount of impairment which should be recognised for
the year, if any.

BEER BEREVE  BEIRERLHWEERNIET
BEDRFHE - BBLBYE  BELRERIWAEEN
REENERFEEZREEFEU([REELSM ) 2B
fREE - SIZEERIRR S RERAFREAENERER
FRE BEEREMZEEIMNEHEMEHNGERSHE
B RABEREEREAARSERE) ETRER G - AE
EANAFRER ZREZE(ME)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNEEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
included the following:

BAFHEE - BE RRER T wBEERN R 2 EEREZ
EREFEENTREA

e evaluating management’s identification of CGUs and
the amounts of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land premium allocated to each CGU;

o FMAEBRBUHRSELABLCZHANINEZZRSES
Bz BERRER T HHEETRNRZ B

e evaluating the methodology adopted by
management in its impairment assessments with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o ZERTEHREZLFEEEBREETRER
B FTERA R ITA

e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing and challenging the Group's impairment
assessment models, which included assessing
the impairment indicators defined by the Group,
evaluating the discounted cash flow forecasts for
each CGU and considering whether these supported
the carrying value of the relevant assets;

o BARNINGEERBHBMFE BEREZREFGHE
AREHES - RS SREREIRETR - 5F
HERSELEM MR RERERAREBZFRAR
EAXFHBEEZREE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEFTSE ()

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BUE - BERRER L AERCRZEEREETIME

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

90 to 91.

BRI IRAN L 18R 19 R EI0F91 .2 @5 ENFA(d) -

The key audit matter
BERENER

We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
as a key audit matter because significant management
judgement is involved in determining whether there are
indicators of impairment and because estimating the
recoverable amounts, forecasting the future cash flows
and determining adjustment to market price of these
assets involve inherent uncertainty and could be subject
to management bias.

BAEDE - BE RRER D EERN R BERENE
JIRERETFR  AAEEESHRBENRE S REX
BIEEHE  UREHAZEFEEZAIROESHE BAZEE
EZAKRERERBEELXFTEELMERABY S REAT
BEL  WERERERRHRR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNWEEZSE

critically examining the key assumptions, including
forecast revenue, future growth rates, future
margins, future cost growth rates and the discount
rates, adopted by management in its preparation of
the discounted cash flow forecasts by referring to
industry and other available third party information,
the recent financial performance of the Group's
trading and manufacturing operations and
management’s budgets and plans for the operations
in 2020 and beyond;

ERREEEERUMRASRETARRM L T
EREK - BRBATER - RREREX - KRB
R RRRAZBRRRERE - WRHITEREAM
ARGSZF=1ER - BEREEZREEXRKZ
THAR S RIRA R E T ERL20206F N 2 18 2 S 2 1F
th2BE RaHE

evaluating the discount rates applied by management
in its discounted cash flow forecasts with reference
to available financial information of other companies
in same relevant industry and considering country
and company specific risk premiums;

K2ZR-—BBETERNEMRAR 2 BEVBE
B A ERERNHERRERSEBATERZ
B R - REZEERRME R A REFE RS
1B

performing a sensitivity analysis for the key variables
in the discounted cash flow forecasts, which
included assessing the effect of reasonably possible
changes in future revenue, future cost growth rates
and the discount rates, to evaluate the impact on the
conclusions reached by management and to assess
whether there were any indicators of management
bias;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) RARETEE(E)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BUE - BERRER L HAERNRZEEREETIME

Refer to Notes 18 to 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages 90
to 91.
BRI A IRAN T 18R 19RFIOEI B 2 S5 EMNiT4(d)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETSEE BN ETFTNETEEZEE

e obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by
management on which management’s assessment
of the fair value less costs of disposal of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land premium was
based;

o HRSUBRBEREMERBZINEGHEMENERE
HEEWE  BERRBARLHEERNRZA
RERKAFREZEERS

e assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued;
and evaluating its independence and objectivity;

o  HEINBAEEMNREEEEZER KREEX
A WAHEEBE R EBIE

e discussing and challenging the key estimates and
assumptions adopted by the external valuer in
the valuations, including market comparables and
adjustment factors;

o R REERSNEE ML EATR S B TR 2 Bk
BRE - BETSTELRENRALEE

e  evaluating the methodology adopted by the external
valuer in its valuation and comparing the major
assumptions applied by the external valuer in the
assessment of the fair value less costs of disposal
with available market data.

o AHESMNEMEERNEMGERMARAZIE - WHINERE

ERRFHE L E R DA ERK AR PTERA 2 E2/REK
RS TS EUREITLLE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B E R

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B E R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= N2

AN S
%/T\l:l (=N

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE2019F12A31H L FE (LB TSIR)

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net gain/(loss)

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Impairment losses on trade and
other receivables

Operating profit

Changes in fair values of derivative
financial instruments

Finance costs

Finance income

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
- Equity holders of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Earnings per share attributable to

equity holders of the Company:

- Basic
- Diluted

LON

HERA
£

Hf A

Hpless,/(B518)%F8

HERDHER

THER

U B0 e E A R OR 2
BIEEE

BERR

NS RMTAAAE
28

B it

TN

BN IS ET

BRBLATR R
FEH

REEEF

FEMEER,(B1R) -
—ARFBEREA
— IR R

rEE®R

ARTRREFEARL
BREF

—H&AK

-#E

6, 7(a)

10
"
12

15

16

2019 2018
20194 20184
(Note)
(BE3E)
HK$'000 HK$’'000
TET FT
1,292,160 1,361,718
(1,046,867) (1,087,592)
245,293 274,126
10,275 7,544
17,258 (2,079)
(66,316) (63,540)
(154,249) (161,184)
(3,900) (3,010)
48,361 51,857
(98) 413
(41,244) (32,181)
5,199 4,686
30,950 31,891
43,168 56,666
(16,692) (15,990)
26,476 40,676
31,578 43,046
(5,102) (2,370)
26,476 40,676
6.64 HK cents #{li  9.05 HK cents /&1l

6.64 HK cents &4l  9.05 HK cents j&{l

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See Note 3.

The notes on pages 75 to 224 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reiEmkHEMEEWAR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE2019F12A31H L FE (LB TSIR)

2019 PAONES
20194 20184
(Note)
(F5E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Profit for the year INE A 26,476 40,676
Other comprehensive income: Hh2EURA - 15(c)
[tems that will not be reclassified HeTgsmnEsEs
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEH
— Assets revaluation surplus, —MKBRHBEREE
net of tax EHAHK 2,499 20,318
— Remeasurement of net defined — R BT =
benefit assets, net of tax RERFEEFHE = (268)
[tem that may be reclassified HigaEmnEs
subsequently to profit or loss: B 2ER ¢
— Currency translation differences — BN =% (55,190) (100,809)
Other comprehensive income REFZMBRFIAR
for the year, net of tax Hib 2wl A (52,691) (80,759)
Total comprehensive income REFZZEWALRE
for the year (26,215) (40,083)
Total comprehensive income JE(E 2 A 4258
attributable to:
— Equity holders of the Company —ARARRAERE A (21,066) (35,856)
- Non-controlling interests — FEPEARAR R M (5,149) (4,227)
(26,215) (40,083)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using  MisE : ANEEER20195F1 A1 B{EA LIS B YA E K&
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the RAEAMBRELRNFE 165 - RIBZF %« LKA
comparative information is not restated. See Note 3. BAFEY - RHIES -

The notes on pages 75 to 224 form part of these consolidated ~ BRFE75E224B 2 ERULFHR A I B®REK 2 — &

financial statements. 15 °
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e SRR

At 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
72019128318 (LB TFHIR)

2019 2018
20194 20184
(Note)
(BE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T4
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MR 18 666,340 575,604
Prepaid land premium i E A 19 59,084 61,858
Investment properties REME 20 158,256 147,778
Intangible assets WA E 22 1,521 1,783
Investments in joint ventures NGB TINE 24 167,215 140,474
Prepayments on purchases of property, ,E%,ﬁ%% = N & 18
plant and equipment ZIEEIE 74,521 99,540
Financial assets at fair value through AR ERBZE AT R 21
profit or loss ZERERE 24,433 23,936
Loans to a joint venture BT —EEEDEZER 24 133,908 118,501
Other prepayments HnIB 08 5,430 5,530
Deferred tax assets IR IR E B 32(c) 10,299 14,173
Total non-current assets JSEREBEERE 1,301,007 1,189,177
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =& 25 595,600 608,425
Trade receivables FEUBR X 26 657,884 585,226
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFIE - Be R 26
receivables H i el I8 106,303 108,342
Due from joint ventures FEHQAAE’*@%z 24 29,884 28,823
Financial assets at fair value through AR ERBZ W?j\]ﬁﬁ 21
profit or loss ZEBEE 17 20
Net defined benefit retirement assets REBHEARE 36(a)
BEFHE 701 689
Tax recoverable AJ Y EI R IE 32(a) 1,701 1,633
Cash and cash equivalents R NRIBEEEY 28 225,715 202,338
Total current assets MENEERE 1,617,805 1,535,496
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables JERTRRF R . 29 254,770 201,160
Other payables and accrued liabilities — E At 5B K EFT A E A 29
and contract liabilities REXHBEE 105,404 106,629
Due to joint ventures JENEEETI 24 36,822 43,781
Derivative financial instruments TSI E 27 245 1,989
Tax payable JERTERIE 32(a) 11,989 8,989
Bank loans RITER 30 975,677 800,019
Dividends payable FERTAR B 43 43
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 17,091 -
Total current liabilities mEaEeE 1,402,041 1,162,610
Net current assets REBEEFE 215,764 372,886
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBAER 1,516,771 1,562,063
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REPBIRR R

Non-current liabilities REBEE

Bank loans SRITER

Derivative financial instruments PTEeRT A

Provision for long service payments REIRG S BH

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE

Deferred income PEIEHA

Lease liabilities HEAE

Total non-current liabilities JEREBAERE

Net assets EEFRE

Capital and reserves ERR S

Share capital g7

Reserves 5

Equity attributable to equity AARREFEA
holders of the Company PE{E %R

Non-controlling interests FERRRER

Total equity ERBE

2019 2018

20194 20184

(Note)

(M95E)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHBxT FHET

30 = 89,336
27 = 284
77 77

32(c) 43,817 39,614
33 9,706 10,224
31 66,858 -
120,458 139,535

1,396,313 1,422,528

34 47,555 47,555
41 1,312,030 1,333,096
1,359,585 1,380,651

36,728 41,877

1,396,313 1,422,528

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30 March 2020.

Kee Chor Lin
orE
Director
EFE

Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See Note 3.

The notes on pages 75 to 224 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

KEEEN202043 A30 B S NIRRT EE o

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan
BREE
Director
EF

Mz : AEEER20195F1 A1 BRAKIET B EE RIE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBEIR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZE2019F12A318 LEE (B THIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARRIES
Non-
controlling
Share capital Reserves INEEY
s e f
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fik TEn T i TEn TEn
Balance at 1 January 2018 WIBF1R1A 28 47,555 1,368,952 1,416,507 59,032 1,475,539
Profitloss) for the year TEEEF/(BE) - 43,046 43,046 (2,370 40,676
Other comprehensive income: Eh2ENGE -
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently ~ E#T&EHHER
to profit orloss: Ea/ER:
- Assets revaluation surplus, net of tax - BHEEEESRRY 4 - 20318 20318 - 20318
- Remeasurement of net defined benefit - ARREkEN T EAE 4
assets, net of tax BHEE - (268) (268) - (268)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEMERNBZER
to profit or loss: JER:
- Currency translation differences - ERER 4 - (98,952) (98,952) (1.857) (100,809)

Total comprehensive income for the year ended ~ £%2018%12318

31 December 2018 IHEREAYGES - (35,856) (35,856) (4,227) (40,083)
Acquisition of non-contralling interest N ERRE N ERRRERRD
without a change in control - - - (12,928) (12,928)

Balance at 31 December 2018 (Note) 18F128310 28 (i) 47555 1333,09% 1,380,651 4817 1422528
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
CAEREDE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAARESEAEE
Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves Total interests equity
i e & FRRRRER ERAE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s Thn Tén Thn Tén Tén
Balance at 1 January 2019 W9E1 1AL 47,555 1,333,096 1,380,651 41,877 1422528
Profitoss) for the year KEREH/ (BB) - 31,578 31,578 (5,102) 26,476
Other comprehensive income: Hi2ENE
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently AT eBNNE
to profit orloss: EEEER
- Assets revaluation surplus, net of tax - IBRBkEEERRS 4 - 2,499 2,499 - 2,499
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ERUENAEEEE
to profit or loss: AR
- Currency trandlation differences - EXER 4 - (55,143) (55,143) @7 (55.190)

Total comprehensive income for the year ended B[ Z2019% 128318
31 December 2019 EREANEER - (21,066) (21,066) (5,149) (26,215)

Balance at 31 December 2019 WI9E12A31 A2 Lt 47,555 1,312,030 1,359,585 36,728 1,396,313

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019  Fff& : AEEBER201951 A1 BEALET M EERE
using modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the RAEAMBRELRFE165 c REFET @ LKA
comparative information is not restated. See Note 3. BATEY o RIS -

The notes on pages 75 to 224 form part of these consolidated — MR HE75E2248 2 st At S48 6 B K% 2 — 5
financial statements. 5
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE2019F12A31BLLFE (LETIIR)

2019
20195

HK$'000

TBT

2018
20184
(Note)

(P3E)
HK$'000
TET

Cash flows from operating activities REEBZRERE
Profit before tax MRS RTER 43,168 56,666
Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs B 1 41,244 32,181
Fair value gain on investment properties BEWEZ A EYE 7(0) (12,245) (3,403)
Write-off of other payables HoAh AT RRIE M 85 7(c) (2,131) -
Share of results of joint ventures ERAEhEEE (30,950) (31,891)
Dividend income AR BUMA 7(0) (2) (867)
Finance income P N 12 (5,199) (4,686)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, LEME  BENEE
plant and equipment B8, (Uzs) 8 61 (6)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 8 56,173 55,907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHELERE 8 19,531 -
Amortisation of prepaid land premium T E T T 8 1,446 1,505
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 8 289 408
Deferred income recognised as income R ARER BBA 8 (299) (311)
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 8,843 4,614
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMRED 8 (169) (3,037)
Impairment loss on trade and other [EUE 5 R EAMERF 2 BE
receivables BB 8 3,900 3,010
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair AR ERIERASIR 2 &8
value through profit or loss BEZ DB 8 (697) (983)
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative TESRIAEZAAE
financial instruments &8 (M) 10 98 (413)
Foreign exchange difference HNGE ZEZE (10,984) (15,114)
Operating profit before changes in HEESBEIELE RN
working capital 112,077 93,580
Increase in inventories FEEm (9,084) (105,197)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEUBRZR (32 hn)E A (85,319) 42,967
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TENRIE - e REMEK
deposits and other receivables IR,/ (58 h0) 592 (18,095)
Increase in net defined benefit retirement  RERHMRKE 2 EE
assets b3l = (12)
Increase in amounts due from joint ventures FEUTE 4 (> 2 2 IE 12 ) (1,315) (4,519)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts EEERERIE
due to joint ventures O,/ HEm (7,396) 4,316
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ERBRRA N EE
bills payables #,/Cad) 57,383 (27,889)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and ~ HibfERFIBE R ETEE
accrued liabilities (GRid) /180 (282) 3,191
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
SREEHERER

2019 2018
2019%F 20184
(Note)
(PF5E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT

Cash generated from/(used in) mEmE/ (FA)RE

operations 66,656 (11,658)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BRABAFIER - (1,770)
Mainland China and overseas taxes paid BT E RSN IE (5,588) (11,024)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEE RS

operating activities TN R F8E 61088 (24,452)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHzRERE
Prepayments on purchases of property, BEME BEREEZ

plant and equipment B RE (14,241) (40,973)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE W% - E MR E (36,542) (36,540)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest Ny BB T IR R

without a change in control FEZSEE M - (12,928)
Dividend received B E 7(c) 2 867
Interest received BUHE 12 5,199 4,686
Proceeds from disposal of property, TEVE  BER

plant and equipment RABFTSRUA 1,183 1,965
Increase in loans to joint ventures BFRENEZETIEM (17,971) (13,749)
Net cash outflow from investing RETHZRE

activities ek (62,370) (96,672)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHZHLRE
Proceeds from new bank loans SR ITE B IE 28(b) 889,090 780,120
Repayment of bank loans ERIRITER 28(b) (800,672) (736,451)
Payment for interest rate swaps S F 28(b) (2,126) (3,470)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BARERS 2 EREHH 28(b) (17,583) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEHS 2 FIEHH 28(b) (4,391) -
Interest paid B AFE 28(b) (38,082) (32,911)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEZE v BEHRANFE 26236 7288
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and REeRBALSEENZ

cash equivalents #hn,/ (i) FE 24,934 (113,836)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /MSEREE) 25 (1,557) 3,472
Cash and cash equivalents at FRzBReREE

beginning of year ZEY 28 202,338 312,702
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRzBEERES

of year ZEY 28 225,715 202,338
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

u/T\

Note:

IE%/)ILE%%

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. Previously, cash payments under operating
leases made by the Group as a lessee of HK$24,909,000 were
classified as operating activities in the consolidated cash flow
statement. Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease payments
and payments for leases of low value assets not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on leases
are now split into capital element and interest element (see
Note 28(b)) and classified as financing cash outflows. Under the
modified retrospective approach, the comparative information
is not restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to
HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 3.

The notes on pages 75 to 224 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consqlidated Financial Statements
e RS R R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBHZHM - GUETIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
are the manufacturing and the trading of electronic
components and raw materials.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 30 March 2020.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which
collective term include all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial
Statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and the Group's interest in joint ventures.

—REH
AARRENBATZ FELBAREREERT
FIL4E BB -

ARAA—HRBEREFMKL2BRAT
HrfiE s @ik AClarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

RABABRRFEEE LT

BEEEAN  EFAPBRRIAVETZY -
I ERA M ®ERN2020F3 A30AEES= 4t
JFETIE

mRERE

(a) &REH

KRR M BEHRERBEL G AER
R A ER K EBH B RELELD (LA
WESMBEERNEIKEEMBREE
A) (BEGFTEIDMZE) AREER
RETRURBE RGO EERER
B APBHRASNSBERANEBES
R HAERRRES ETRMEERE

(b) MBI FEREE
HE2019F 12 A3 B It EERNLGRA B

BRREARRREMB AR (B AE
B ) RAKEEREARHELS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial

Statements (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

investment properties (see Note 4(q));

— ownership interests in buildings held for own use
(see Note 4(f));

—  defined benefit retirement assets (see Noted(v)(iii));

—  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") (see Note 4())); and

—  derivative financial instruments (see Note 4()).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EA SRR AE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16 Leases, and
a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16 Leases, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives, and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. It introduces a single accounting model for lessees,
which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases
of low-value assets. The lessor accounting requirements are
brought forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
guantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and there was no impact to the
opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

(a)

(b)

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into
or changed on or after 1 January 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 January 2019, the Group has used
the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17
continue to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS
16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalise all leases when it
is the lessee, including leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, other than those
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets which
are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned, these
newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to
property, plant and equipment as disclosed in Note 37.
For an explanation of how the Group applies lessee
accounting, see Note 4(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(Continued)

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January
2019), the Group determined the length of the
remaining lease terms and measured the lease liabilities
for the leases previously classified as operating leases
at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing
rates at 1 January 2019. The weighted average of the
incremental borrowing rates used for determination of
the present value of the remaining lease payments was
4.67%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied
the following recognition exemption and practical
expedients at the date of initial application of HKFRS
16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019; and

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied
a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment).

ERTBEREE (F)

BRVBHRELERFE 1655 HE |(F&)

(b)

AEASTEEERBEMLS

AN\

2#®

RBEERASNEHRELERE 1655 B (A1
201951 A1H) » REBEBLER H ALK
BRYOZAERB THENKRAEETH
THESRRFEHEEAE - WHFEH2019F
1182 B E BRI RETIE - A
RETFSHAEMNFREZ NEFTIES
BEEFNEEL467% °

REREEMBHREERE 165 2B -
AEERERERTENERELERE 16
SE RERA TR R R ATREDA

0

(ii)

AEEEETERATEMHRELER
165 < R ERERSR THEMNER
ERBABMBRELERF165E AL
1218 A g im (BN E 50 20194F
12A31B % ZAEm) cHEZHE
BEMEREEE &

HH BN E KA E RN BT R
£165% A MEREE - AEEY
B A4 BELEMNHEERA (FIX
EEEEES TR R AER
BIAHTRENEE 2 AE)ERE
—BEE -

Annual Report 2019 %

79



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RR M

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EFECREH (&)

(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERAMBHREERE 1655 HEI(E)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) REASTEEERBEMTE(E)
(Continued)
The following table reconciles the operating lease TNEREDI 372018512 A31H
commitments as disclosed in Note 37 as at 31 IS FRARIEEL N 201951 A1 B R
December 2018 to the opening balance for lease WHEBEFVEHR R

liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019:

1 January 2019

20191818
HK$'000
TR
Operating lease commitments 2018512 A31 B 2 (& & A E A
at 31 December 2018 24,238
Less: commitments relating to B B EE R 2 THAEE
leases exempt from capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases with — R HATE & K A At IR TE & AR
remaining lease term ending on or 72019412 A31 B 3.2 Al JE i &)
before 31 December 2019 Fich= (8,282)
— leases of low-value assets —EEEEERSE (14)
Add: lease payments for the additional periods m: RAKERHEEREELKITR
where the Group considers it reasonably JERpE I BRIMIE 2 HE
certain that it will exercise the extension (DL
options 62,326
78,268
Less: total future interest expenses B ARRF B R (8,098)
Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 201951 B1 AR HE & E@E 70,170
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously ERREL A D ERK LN 2 HEIRRA
classified as operating leases have been recognised at ZIEREEE  HeBESRRFREE
an amount equal to the amount recognised for the BERR S - WKN2018F 1243188
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of IR KRR 2 EH M 2 TR B0
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that FEETHRE N RTEE -

lease recognised in the statement of financial position
at 31 December 2018.
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e ERME
3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EFECREH(E)
(CONTINUED)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EBNBHREERF 1655 HE I(E)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) REASTEEERBEMSE(E)
(Continued)
The following table summarises the impacts of the TRBEAER AN BB B 15 w4 22 BI 55 16557
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated AEFEGASRBEIR AT 2 L

statement of financial position:

Carrying Carrying
amount at Capitalisation amount at
31 December of operating 1 January
2018 lease 2019
R20184F contracts 20195

12A31H REHAQ 1818
ZIREE EREREL ZAREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FTHET

Line items in the consolidated #Z& B ERREP

statement of financial RaEBMERE

position impacted by the ZRAE16MEHE

adoption of HKFRS 16: HIER -
Property, plant and equipment WE - R NRE 575,604 70,170 645,774
Total non-current assets FEREEERE 1,189,177 70,170 1,259,347
Lease liabilities (current) HEBECRSE) - 15,308 15,308
Total current liabilities mENEEEE 1,162,610 15,308 1,177,918
Net current assets REBEESE 372,886 (15,308) 357,578
Total assets less current EEHERRBERE

liabilities 1,562,063 54,862 1,616,925
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEAGEGERE) - 54,862 54,862
Total non-current liabilities ERBESEE 139,535 54,862 194,397
Net assets EEZRE 1,422,528 - 1,422,528
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e BEmRMEE

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(9]

Impact on the financial result, segment results and
cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a
lessee is required to recognise interest expense accrued
on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. This results in a positive impact on the
reported operating profit in the Group’s statement of
profit or loss, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had
been applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element (see
Note 28(b)). These elements are classified as financing
cash outflows, similar to how leases previously classified
as finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather
than as operating cash outflows, as was the case
for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total
cash flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16
therefore results in a significant change in presentation
of cash flows within the cash flow statement (see Note
28(0)).

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group's
financial result, segment results and cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2019, by adjusting
the amounts reported under HKFRS 16 in these
consolidated financial statements to compute estimates
of the hypothetical amounts that would have been
recognised under HKAS 17 if this superseded standard
had continued to apply in 2019 instead of HKFRS 16,
and by comparing these hypothetical amounts for 2019
with the actual 2018 corresponding amounts which
were prepared under HKAS 17.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

() Impact on the financial result, segment results and

cash flows of the Group (Continued)

Financial result for the year BB REHREER

ended 31 December 2019 F1655HEZ 20195
impacted by the adoption 12ANBLEERS
of HKFRS 16: $ENTE !

Operating profit Yy

Finance costs gy

Profit before tax BBt RDER

Profit for the year KEERH

Reportable segment profit for ~ F@EBHERLER
the year ended 31 December F165RHBZ20195
2019 (Note 6) impacted by NANALEETRE
the adoption of HKFRS 16 AR RN E (o)

Amounts
reported

under
HKFRS 16

(A)

REFAEE
EEAIZE16%:
STk 2
(A)

HK$'000
FHT

48,361

(41,244)

43,168

26,476

26,476

ERTBEREE (F)

BRVBHRELERFE 1655 HE |(F&)

(0 BEAEENMBEE 2 WBEEREAE

RENTE(H)

2019
2019%
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
Add back: operating  Hypothetical
HKFRS 16 leases amounts Compared
depreciation  as if under for2019 | toamounts
and interest HKAS17  asif under | reported for
expense (Note 1) HKAS 17 2018 under
(B) (0 (D=A+B+() HKAS 17
1
BEEEEH
ERIE175,
e FELEE REERET | BESSE
BRUBRE F-ziik ERIZ175 ERIE1TS

ERE163%TH fhat 28 FriSiH2019EH FBLAEH
RERFISHY (i;=3)) BReE 20185

(B) (O (D=A+B+() FiEREFHR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART THT THT THL

19,531 (21,974) 45,918 51,857

4,391 = (36,853) (32,181)
23,922 (21,974) 45,116 56,666
23,922 (21,974) 28,424 40,676
23,922 (21,974) 28,424 40,676
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AP RR M

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EEBEREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BRI REERFE 1655 HE |(E)
() Impact on the financial result, segment results and (0 HAEEMHMBEHE  IBFERRS
cash flows of the Group (Continued) HENSE(E

2019
20196
Estimated

amounts
related to
operating  Hypothetical
Amounts leases amounts Compared
reported as if under for 2019 to amounts
under HKAS 17 as if under reported for
HKFRS 16  (Notes 1 & 2) HKAS 17 2018 under

(A) (3] (C=A+B) HKAS 17
RESRE

ERIFE175 REBEDS
FEHER  REFBS ERIZE 175
BEEBHKE geEy ERIZE175 FEHERE
B ERE 165, fhEte8E  FSH20195F M 20185
FERNEE (KrE1%2) BReE P24k
(A) (B) (C=A+B) SELR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THz TaR TEx TEx

Line items in the consolidated HE2019E12A31ALEE
cash flow statement for year GEBERRRTRFH
ended 31 December 2019 impacted ~ FBHBHREER 163
by the adoption of HKFRS 16: M EEWER :
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &£F715/(FA)ES 66,656 (21,974) 44,682 (11,658)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEERZAERA/
operating activities (i) 28 61,068 (21,974) 39,094 (24,452)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BREERS 2 ERSH (17,583) 17,583 - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERAERS 2 FIBHS (4,391) 4,391 - -
Net cash inflow from financing REEKCHERAFE
activities 26,236 21,974 48,210 7,288
Notes: Pt e
1. The "estimated amounts related to operating leases” is 1. [BEgEBENEGTSE I RESERK
an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019 Rz BHO(RMBEB ST ERF17HR
that relate to leases which would have been classified as 20195 IR A ) M2019F 2 M e R EE
operating leases, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019. e ZMAHREHCEREREZM
This estimate assumes that there were no differences WHER - BMEBESAEAZ17HR
between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new 20195 AR - AIR2019F 2 FTA #TaT
leases entered into in 2019 would have been classified HAOBERBEEB G LB 17RO TR
as operating leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still ERL o EEER B E R 28
applied in 2019. Any potential net tax effect is ignored. &t e
2. In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified 2. RUEFERES  ZZFReRLARES
from financing to operating in order to compute MOBELE  UTEREEB2RER
hypothetical amounts of net cash inflow from operating NFEREE R 2 RS IR AFERRE
activities and net cash inflow from financing activities as SR BNBB G EUE1TRDAE
if HKAS 17 still applied. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(d) Lessor accounting

ERTBEREE (F)

BRVBHRELERFE 1655 HE |(F&)

(d) HEASTHEE

The Group leases out certain properties as the lessor of
operating leases. The accounting policies applicable to
the Group as a lessor remain substantially unchanged
from those under HKAS 17.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented
as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with Note 4(j)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note
4(j)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see
Note 4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or Company and other parties contractually agree to
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale) (see Note 4(e)). Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see Notes
4(d) and (k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group'’s interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture (after applying the
ECL model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (see Note 4(k)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 4(j)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in joint ventures are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition

date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a

bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually

for impairment (see Note 4(d)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

(M

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than buildings held
for own use carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible assets;
—  goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
in the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

—  Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first
six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 4(d)(i) and (k)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Non-current Assets Held-for-sale

(f)

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries and joint ventures) and investment
properties, even if held-for-sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in Note 4.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets

Ownership interests in buildings held for own use are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of reporting
period.

Right-of-use assets arising from properties leased for
own use and ownership interests in leasehold land
held for own use are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortisation and impairment losses (see
Note 4(d)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings held for
own use are generally dealt with in other comprehensive
income and are accumulated separately in equity in the
asset revaluation reserve. The only exceptions are as
follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the
revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit
on revaluation in respect of that same asset had
previously been charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets (Continued)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs (see Note 4(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation/amortisation is calculated to write off
the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land is amortised over the unexpired
term of lease.

—  Buildings held for own use situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date
of completion.

—  Properties leased for own use is depreciated over
the lease term.

—  Machinery and equipment 5-12 years
—  Furniture and fixture 5 years
—  Motor vehicles 5 years
—  Leasehold improvements 5-12 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets (Continued)

Construction in progress represents factory buildings,
office premises and workers’ dormitories and related
infrastructure projects under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment Properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
Note 4(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in Note 4(u).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable. Capitalised development costs
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in

which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see Note 4(d)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their estimated useful

lives are as follows:
- Brand name

—  Computer software

Both the period and method of amortisation are

reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group, are
primarily office equipment. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Leased Assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest
method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 4(f) and 4(d)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’
and ‘prepaid land premium’ and presents
lease liabilities separately in the statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Leased Assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases if
the leases transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group.
Leases which did not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Group were classified as operating leases.

Where the Group had the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases were charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis was more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

(ii) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with Note 4(u)(ii).

(j) Financial Instruments

0]

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are
initially recognised when they are originated. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially recognised when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FESTHHEHMEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued) () SRTE(E)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) PEREETE

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) — debt
investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets
in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective
of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and information
is provided to management. The information
considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those
policies in practice. These include whether
management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining
a particular interest rate profile, matching
the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows or realising cash flows through
the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group’s
management;

the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;

how managers of the business are
compensated — e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed
or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future
sales activity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment
(Continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose,
consistent with the Group'’s continuing recognition
of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment
(Continued)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers:

contingent events that would change the
amount or timing of cash flows;

—  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon
rate, including variable rate features,

—  prepayment and extension features; and

— terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash
flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely
payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents
unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a
financial asset acquired at a significant discount or
premium to its contractual par amount, a feature
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount
that substantially represents the contractual par
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual
interest (which may also include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair
value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and
gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI
and are never reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent
measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-
for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby
it transfers assets recognised in its statement
of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises
a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4 FESTHHRMEGE)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets

(k) EMEERE

Financial instruments

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured as 12-month ECLs:

— loans to a joint venture and amounts due from
joint ventures that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  deposits and other receivables and bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due and without any business relationship.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default

when:

—  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is

held); or

— the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial

instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the

Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the

financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UHRRME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4 FESTHHRMEGE)

(k) ERMEERMEE)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable data:

—  significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
issuer;

—  breach of contract such as a default or being more
than 180 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the
statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

)

(m)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities
in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to manage its risks associated
with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or suppliers to
be consumed in the production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories (Continued)

(n)

(o)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and Other Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see Note 4(k)).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturity of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated and the Company’s
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 4(k).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Trade and Bills Payables, Other Payables and
Contract Liabilities

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for
goods that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Contract liabilities are recognised (1) when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration, or the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration, before the Group recognises the related
revenue and (2) for expected volume discounts payable
to customers in relation to sales made until the end of
the reporting period.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account
if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it
is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 4(g), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Income Tax (Continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Government Grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. Where the grant relates to the prepaid
land premium, the fair value is included in non-
current liabilities as deferred income. Deferred income
is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the
associated assets.

Revenue Recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UHRRME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(v)

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sales of electronic products
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Employee Benefits

0]

Share option scheme

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

0]

Share option scheme (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in Note 35 to
the financial statements. In valuing the granting
of share options, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company
("market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award
(the "vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
end of reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods; that
benefit is discounted to determine the present
value and the fair value of any plan assets is
deducted. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit
to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available
in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

(Continued)

Service cost and net interest expense (income)
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution costs” or “administrative expenses”.
Current service cost is measured as the increase
in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in the
current period. When the benefits of a plan are
changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the
earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment
occurs and when related restructuring costs or
termination benefits are recognised. Net interest
expense (income) for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the net defined benefit liability
(asset). The discount rate is the yield at the end
of the reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
retirement plans are recognised in other
comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings. Remeasurements comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset)) and any
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Borrowings

(x)

(y)

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 4(x)).

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. The capitalisation of borrowing costs
as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(z) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker of the Group,
which is considered as the Group's executive team,
comprising all executive directors and headed by the
managing director. The chief operating decision-maker
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments based on the
entity-wide financial information.

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation

0]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions are recognised in profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a

hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

() all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm'’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees (i.e.
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will
default has increased significantly since the guarantee
is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in note
4(k) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any
other party. The amount is then discounted using the
current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

(ac) Repurchase of Shares

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital, the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received (net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to
the Company'’s equity holders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

(a) Critical Accounting Judgements in Applying

the Group’s Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgement:

Classification of ownership interests in buildings
held for own use and other properties leased for
own use

In accordance with HKAS 16 Property, plant and
equipment, the Group chooses to apply either the cost
model or the revaluation model as its accounting policy
for items of property, plant and equipment held for
own use on a class-by-class basis. In applying this policy,
the Group has concluded that its ownership interests in
buildings held for own use and the right to use other
properties leased under tenancy agreements are two
separate groupings of assets which differ significantly in
their nature and use. Accordingly, they are regarded by
the Group as separate classes of asset for subsequent
measurement policies in accordance with Notes 4(d)
and (i). Specifically, ownership interests in buildings held
for own use are carried under the revaluation model,
while rights to use properties under tenancy agreements
are carried at depreciated cost.

In making this judgement, the Group has taken into
account that, as the registered owner of buildings, the
Group is able to benefit fully from any changes in the
valuation of these buildings whether as holding gains
or by selling the ownership interest to others, as well
as being able to use the buildings in its operation free
of paying market rents. In contrast, the shorter term
tenancy agreements are typically for periods of no more
than 10 years and are subject to other restrictions, in
particular on transferability of the Group’s tenancy
rights to others. These shorter term tenancy agreements
are executed in order to retain operational flexibility and
to reduce the Group’s exposure to the property market
fluctuation. They may contain termination or extension
clauses and are typically subject to market rent reviews
every 2 to 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Notes 36 and 40 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to defined
benefit retirement obligations and financial instruments
respectively. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty
are as follows:

0]

(i)

Fair values of properties

The fair values of investment properties, land
and buildings are determined at the end of each
reporting period by independent professional
valuers. The fair values of certain land and
buildings in Mainland China are determined
on a depreciated replacement cost basis. This
methodology is based on an estimate of the
market value for the existing use of the land, plus
the current cost of replacement of the existing
structures less deductions for physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation. The fair values of the remaining
land and buildings and investment properties are
determined on an open market value basis by
reference to comparable market transactions.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant
and equipment

The Group’'s management determines the
estimated useful lives, and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will increase the depreciation
charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated. It will dispose technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore
depreciation expense in future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R VBRI

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant
and equipment (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
is recognised as the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 4(d). The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value
in use, which are based on the best information
available to reflect the amount obtainable at each
reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in an
arm's length transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties, after deducting the costs of
disposal.

Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in each
of these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in
the periods in which such determination are made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised as
management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and taxation in the periods in
which such estimates have been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Write-down on inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability of
inventories. Write-down on inventories is recorded
where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be realised.
The identification of write-down requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
inventories and write-down of inventories in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables
based on various factors including the ageing of
receivables, historical write-off experience and
forward looking information. The identification
of impairment of receivables requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectations
are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and the impairment loss on receivable
is recognised in the years in which such estimates
have been changed.

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy Note 4(i) the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term. In
determining the lease term at the commencement
date for leases that include renewal options and
termination options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the
renewal options or termination options taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group
to exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvement undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s
operation. The lease term is reassessed when
there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would
affect that amount of lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets recognised in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RR M

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive team, comprising all executive
directors and headed by the managing director of the
Company, is considered as the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM"). The CODM reviews the performance of
the Group on a regular basis.

As substantial business operations of the Group relate to
the manufacturing, selling and distribution of electronic
components, the CODM makes decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment based on the entity-
wide financial information. Accordingly, there is only one
single reportable segment for the Group. Set out below is a
summary list of key performance indicators reviewed by the
CODM on a regular basis:

7 ERE

AR BRTEFERY A EFREREY
ZAREHITEGHRAEBSERRA(EE
BBREAL - TELEREATHRALEE
ZRB -

HRAEBAI D EG S B REE -« HERD
BT LHER  MAEEEBLERR ARERY
DRI BEERHEHBEBERS R ERIRTHZ
RIR o Bt - AEERBE—(EE—A2|HEL ©
FELEARAT IR 2 EERIBIEZHESR
FER

2018

20184

(Note)

(Fff7%)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Revenue A 1,292,160 1,361,718

Gross profit EF 245,293 274,126

Gross profit margin (%) E (%) 19.0% 20.1%

EBITDA EBITDA ' 161,851 146,667

EBITDA margin (%) EBITDALL 3 (%) 12.5% 10.8%

Operating expenses ? B 2 224,465 227,734

Operating expenses/revenue (%) B AU AL R (%) 17.4% 16.7%

Profit for the year REEHEF| 26,476 40,676

Net profit margin (%) A FTR(%) 2.0% 3.0%
Notes: Mi3E

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is nor restated. See Note 3.

1. EBITDA represents the earnings before interest expenses, tax,
depreciation and amortisation.

2. Operating expenses represent the expenditure that the Group
incurs as a result of performing its normal business operations,
including selling and distribution costs, administrative expenses
and impairment losses on trade and other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

2 Ny =]

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The following tables present the revenue from external
customers and specified non-current assets of the Group
by geographical locations. The geographical location of
customers is based on the geographical location of the
customers. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of property plant and equipment, the location
of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
of intangible assets and goodwill, and the location of
operations, in the case of interest in joint ventures.

Revenue from external customers RiBNEE D2
by geographical locations HIEFBA

Hong Kong BE

Mainland China L A

Taiwan B

Southeast Asia ek

Korea B2

United States ESE

Europe B

Other countries HAbBER

7 ERE R ()

TRIBA BTGB E RIS 2 HIEF YA
REEIFRBAE - BF R BRES
SOTIE « S HEEIERE AR 2 IR B TYIRIE
HOE  BERRENS - BEZERAME -
REAERBEMS  ESEL SBLUR
RRAECEZ ESME - HEBBME -

2019 2018
20195 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THET

82,176 70,544
892,892 938,762
190,758 207,727

35,807 17,695

2,528 3,027

15,225 38,209

55,477 59,160

17,297 26,594

1,292,160 1,361,718
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RR M

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DHER(E)
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 AONES
20195 20184
(Note)
(F¥&E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current assets by physical BRWEE D 2 ERBEE
locations (excluding deferred (TEREEHEEER
tax assets and financial assets at RRAREREBERA
fair value through profit or loss) JIfRZSREE)
Hong Kong BB 114,790 75,474
Mainland China FR A 3D, 1,151,251 1,075,323
Other countries HBIR 234 271
1,266,275 1,151,068
Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS16 at 1 January 2019 Mz : AKEEERLERPEN2019F1 818
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this BRERB AU EREERE 165 « BIRZ
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See FE BB TES - RHEE3 -

Note 3.
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AP RRMEE

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA Hbm AR EMUE S (EE)

GAIN/(LOSS) R
(a) Revenue (a) WA
The principal activities of the Group are the AEBTEEKARERBEEE T LH
manufacturing and trading of electronic components MR o WAFEINBRRE RITHEFT
and raw materials. Revenue represents the net value EEMZFE -
of goods sold, after allowances for trade returns and
discounts.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BEEEERRED 2BFEAHWARRML
customers by major product lines is as follows: T
2019 PAONES
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with BRMBREERE 155
customers within the scope of BEERN2EFEHBRA
HKFRS15
Manufacturing and trading of LENEEE T LM
electronic components 1,290,400 1,361,270
Trading of raw materials BB EME 1,760 448
1,292,160 1,361,718
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REMIHE D 2B P & HU A B4R Kt
customers by geographical markets is disclosed in Note IO EE o FTBWAI R E R 2R -

6. All revenue is recognised at a single point in time.
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AP RR M

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA Hbm AR EMUEE S (EE)

GAIN/(LOSS) (CONTINUED) FEE)
(b) Other Income (b) Eftblg A
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
Scrap sales EERLEHE 631 1,432
Subsidies from the Central e A RETHEED
People’s Government 4,961 983
Rental income generated from WEMEEEZBEWA
investment properties (Note 20(a)) (B43E20(a)) 2,406 2,346
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEDME - = KRG
plant and equipment (F51R) Mz (61) 6
Others HAit 2,338 2,777
10,275 7,544
(c) Other Net Gain/(Loss) (o) Hfbwzs (BE)FHE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Dividend income ISR PN 2 867
Fair value gain on investment "EMES
properties (Note 20) Dot AWz (HEE20) 12,245 3,403
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) &5 s (F518)/$ 8 2,183 (7,348)
Fair value gain on financial assets at AR A ERBRTIRY
fair value through profit or loss eRMEEAERE 697 999
Write-back of other payables (Note) — Hth fE~f ZIE B B (F ) 2,131 -
17,258 (2,079)
Note: As of 31 December 2019, other payables of fifaE © #Z=2019F 128318 - HRALANETH
HK$2,131,000 was fully written back as the obligations ZEEEEm  #2,131,000/8 702 HA
specified in the contracts have expired. FERTRIAE 28 m -
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wa

BrRSER AR M

OPERATING PROFIT

The Group’s operating profit is arrived at after charging/

(crediting) the following:

Employee benefit expenses (including & 8487 (B3

directors’ emoluments) 2
Cost of inventories sold (including
raw materials and consumables
used and changes in inventories
of finished goods and work in
progress)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Depreciation change *:
— Owned property, plant and
equipment '’
- Right-of-use assets '
Amortisation of prepaid
land premium
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Total minimum lease payments for
leases previously classified as

operating leases under HKAS 17 '

Research and development costs ?
Write-down of inventories

Reversal of write-down of inventories

Impairment losses on trade and
other receivables:
— Additional impairment
losses recognised
— Impairment losses reversed
— Gain on reimbursement
right assets

Fair value gain on financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss
Deferred income recognised as
income

B=ME)°
EHEFERAK
(BREEERZRME
FOBFEmIA R B
REBMZTFEEE)

2 Gl en
—RERE
— IFRBRT
FEMRX?:
—BRYE  BEXR
R
—EREEE"
TH AR ETAN R

S A EE Y

PEME - BE R
BEEE ()

SRR BB G RTAER|
FNTRNEA
CERHZRE
REREMNHEEE

T KB A A 2

TFEMR

T BRI Bl

FEM B R EoAtb
PR FRE 7 RE SR
— DR ZRBINHERE

—REEERE
— WIHEERE WS

AARERBEATIRZ
EREEZ AN ERS
IR ONTEHY LN

geEER
REE 2 EERFIRHRGIA) LT EIBRE
Ee

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FH&T

9
254,522 277,676
25(b) 1,038,193 1,086,015
1,785 1,600
360 375
18 56,173 55,907
18 19,531 -
19 1,446 1,505
22 289 408
7(b) 61 (6)
- 24,909
17,557 13,027
25(b) 8,843 4,614
25(b) (169) (3,037)
40(d) 7,752 7,804
40(d) (960) (4,794)
26 (2,892) -
7(c) (697) (999)
(299) (311)
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AP RR M

8 OPERATING PROFIT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1
January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
Note 3.

Research and development costs include HK$3,367,000 (2018:
HK$3,161,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation which
amounts are also included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

%;‘E*é‘%ﬂ(%)

o]
3

=
m

AEEEFEREETEBWEAERNERE ST ER
SAERE 165 - WHFHER2019F1 1B ZFH)
EeR - R BRI IRIBRE B ST AR FE 1 7R D
MAKERN 2 HERM 2 ERAREE - FHA%E
BER2019F1 A1 BIRERE - AEEEA
EBABERERREEENTE - ML
B A B AERESHNCEROEENTES
FX - REZAZ  LBRERTTFET - BT
3 o

-

2. WMERAREREIRARFTEASBD
3,367,000/ 7C(20184F : 3,161,000/87T) * %%
BEEENERERETABSERELNERN
TR -

9 EEEAFEX

2019 PAONKS]
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FA&T
Wages and salaries TE R 234,082 253,717
Contributions to defined contribution E R HFGRIRET B
retirement plan 20,440 23,966
Interest income recognised in respect of EREEARATEIENRTZZ
defined benefit retirement plan KB UL A (B 5E36(a)(Vv))
(Note 36(a)(v)) - (7)
Total employee benefit expenses EERAF A% 254,522 277,676

10 CHANGES IN FAIR VALUES OF DERIVATIVE 10 FTELSRIBENARBEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2019
20194

2018
20184
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
FET

Rz R E(E1R),Wa
(FaE27)

Fair value (loss)/gain on interest rate

swaps (Note 27) (98) 413

2019F 12 8318 * AEEFE —HRK20104F
AN ZFEREBEL - GHFHRATF - ZEH
TABEASEERENPRZEEHNET Hima]

AvARS

At 31 December 2019, the Group held an interest rate swap
contract entered into in 2010 for a contracted period of ten
years. The contract was entered into to stabilise the Group’s
overall interest expense for the period covered by the
contract.
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AP RRMEE

11 FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense on bank loans
Interest expense on lease liabilities

Others Hith

Less: Interest expenses capitalised into
construction in progress '

B

RITERZ M S H
HERBZMEXH

11 B H

2018
20184
(Note)

(FiF=E)
HK$’000
TET

HK$'000
FET

B BMERERTIZZ

Note:
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is nor restated. See Note 3.

1. The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of
3.9% per annum (2018: 3.5%).

12 FINANCE INCOME

Interest income from loans to a joint
venture (Note 24)

Interest income from time deposits and
bank balances

BTN

37,155 31,107
4,391 -
927 1,804
42,473 32,911
(1,229) (730)
41,244 32,181
FiaE -

AEBBFEALIETEPER2019F1 B 1BERER
EBPEMELEBIF 165 - BIEZ AL  LEERT
FE5) - BKIFES -

1. EERARIZEFRR3.9%EAR (20184 :
3.5%) o

12 BMBWA

2019
20195

2018
20184
HK$’'000
FBT

HK$'000
THET

BRT-HAEREERZ
M BU A (PR7E24)
R RIRTT AR

4,636 4,213
563 473
5,199 4,686
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AP RR M

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 13 EEMS
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (a) EE<
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Appendix B FHR AR +X - BEATHEN S
16 to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong 3BMNMERAF (HBEZEENZEER) R
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies F2HHBEEEME T

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019: HZE2019F12A31HIEFE ¢

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person'’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
AAABEES(FRARAARENBANER) BECAREYRzHE

Employer's

contribution

Estimated toa
money value retirement

of other benefit

Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees Salary honuses  HftFlEz  EXHEK Total
ik fie B fHEREE RNHEER @5t
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR TiEn BT TiEn

Chairman and Executive Director: IERUTES:

Kee Chor Lin RE - 5,130 - 166 18 5314
Executive Directors: HTEE:

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene RFE - 4,602 = 193 18 4,813
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan BEE - 2,100 - - 18 2,118
Wong Ching Ming, Stanley' ThEe > > 5 = = >

Independent Non-executive Directors: B 3i{78% :

Mar, Sewyn EAR 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Edldy £ 360 - - - - 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David BEE 360 - - - - 360
1,120 11,832 - 359 54 13,365
Note: FHET
1. Mr. Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office 1. THEHEEEBE2019F1 10 BEEAR
of Executive director of the Company with effect from 10 FHITES  BNEEAEREGRES
January 2019 but remains as the Business Development Fo

Director of the Group.
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AP RRMEE

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13 EEME(E)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=ME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018: #HZE2018F12A31HILFE :

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
FEAEEEZ(TRARAARENBAAZR) BHEAREY 2 #e :

Employer's

contribution

Estimated OF
money value  retirement

of other benefit

Discretionary benefits scheme

Fees Salary bonuses  EftFlme  EEHEA
e i BEFA HEYEE RAHEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TR BT TER TR TR

Chairman and Executive Director: TERYTES:

Kee Chor Lin RE - 5,130 1,640 127 18 6,915
Executive Directors: HiTES !

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BEE - 4,602 240 179 18 5,039
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan BEE - 2,100 120 - 18 2,238
Wong Ching Ming, Stanley FER - 1,080 - - 18 1,098

Independent Non-executive Directors: B 3i{78% :

Mar, Selwyn 54 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Eddy E&lE 360 - - _ _ 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David BEE 360 - - - - 360
1,120 12,912 2,000 306 72 16,410
(b) Information About Loans, Quasi-loans (b) EBAUES ZEZEHEZIABREER
and Other Dealings in Favour of Directors BEESEBRERBRIZAZER
Controlled Bodies Corporate by and EERRHEMRZZ 2E R
Connected Entities with Such Directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in FRN - BENES  EHEABRR RZ
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and EEZCHEEBRAIXRAZEN  £E
connected entities with such directors during the Year AR EAMIZ 5 (20185 : &) ©
(2018: Nil).
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13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13 EEMMEL(E)
(c) Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, () EENXRE ZREREHNHDPZEKX
Arrangements or Contracts s
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts AR EREERII AR AEFET
in relation to the Company’s business to which the HNARRNAREFERIHAEEEEANE
Company was a party and in which a director of the MR F LK FANEREEDNAGTEZE
Company had a material interest, whether directly or ARG ~ LHEREH(20185F : &) °

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year (2018: Nil).

14 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14 EIEREEFHNES
The five highest paid individuals during the Year included REENAER=TBEEBRIE=%(2018% :
three (2018: four) directors, details of whose remuneration WMEZ)EE - BRREHN 2T BEIHN XM
are set out in Note 13 above. 137 °
Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2018: FREMMA(2018F «: — R ) =P MNEESH
one) highest paid individuals during the Year are as follows: Bz #F BT
2019 PAONKS]
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 1,810 949
Pension scheme contributions RIRE TR 36 18
1,846 967
The remuneration of the remaining two (2018: one) highest HHmA(2018F « —R)BReaFiEES 2
paid individuals is within the following band: BRPALAT 4851
2019 2018
20195 20184
Between HK$500,000 to HK$999,999 72F-500,00078 7L 22999,99975 7T 2 1
No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the five N5 B30 A [A) B B v B B S SR B (E
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon RINAREBSINAREE R 2 RS R AR
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. BAEE - NEEA - AE = E S BERE
None of the five individuals with highest remuneration K E B HEEM A (20184 : &) o
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the Year
(2018: Nil).
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15 INCOME TAX

(a) Taxation in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss Represents:

Current tax: BNEATHIA -

- Hong Kong — &%

- Outside Hong Kong —BELASD
Over-provision in prior years BB RE
Deferred tax (Note 32) EIERIIE (PH7E32)
Total tax charge for the year REFBBIE

15 Fi8®t
(a) HmEB|HERZBIAE -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET

- 18
11,781 13,524
(3,620) (125)
8,161 13,417
8,531 2,573
16,692 15,990

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations
in Mainland China, two (2018: two) of the Group’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China enjoy a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2018: 15%). Other subsidiaries of the
Group in Mainland China are subject to income taxes at
a statutory rate of 25% (2018: 25%).

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

BENEREAFEREBRILZGETE
R RE IR TEE16.5% (20184F : 16.5%)
B o HAbih [ R TSR 2 BB TR AR
SBEEEMEREER 2 RITHE « RIE
HIBITAR) - REREHE -

RIEHE A AR T ISR A RER - A%
EE AR (20184 « MMHE) MR FE A
2B ATIRIZH15% (20184 : 15%) 2
EERE o ALBHE AP B R 2 H
BAAIZEIR25% (20184 : 25%) Z & ER
KNS o

R &8 & Bl A b 32 51T 188 2 RIZR 4R AR
FABRRPUAE FUER T R -
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15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation Between Tax Expenses and

Accounting Profit at the Applicable Tax Rate

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rates is as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax
rates applicable to profits
in the respective countries

Lower tax rate for specific local
authority

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Over-provision in prior years

Recognition of tax losses not
previously recognised

Utilisation of tax losses not
previously recognised

Reversal of tax losses
previously recognised

Tax losses not recognised

Tax charge at the Group's
effective rate

B 151 At )

1z MR E R B 508
M2 R ERTHE
ZHA

BHEERETEZ
BIEHE

BARBA

TAMERIRIE 3

EFBR B

HERIATE R HER
BIAEE

BAAEARERBIA
BB

BB AT RERR 2 IR
BB

RERTIREE

BAREEERB R
B2 BB

15 Friswi (&)

(b) BHEMXZEES

N 128 R B R G

W 2

B FAATREA S IBA TAEE
BR, FARE 2R R R E 2 BB
R EARERNY - REREEHEAHY

Z BiAR

TEERIT ¢

2019 2018
20194 20185

HK$'000 % | HK$'000
FHxT % FHT
43,168 56,666
9,719 10,814
(6,219) (4,154)
(3,229) (8,401)
6,732 6,950
(3,620) (125)
(369) (3,813)
(416) (33)
4,444 7,647
9,650 7,105

16,692 38.7 15,990 28.2

The share of income tax attributable to joint ventures
amounting to HK$10,111,000 (2018: HK$9,237,000)
is included in “Share of results of joint ventures” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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AP RRMEE

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

() Tax Effect Relating to Each Components of
Other Comprehensive Income
Tax effect relating to each components of other
comprehensive income is as follows:

(c)

2019
20195

15 Frswi (&)

BEHEMEEWA SIS B 2B IE

E/
&

B1H 2 ERA S B 18R < HITEZ 20
™

2018
20184

Before After Before After
tax Tax tax tax Tax tax
BRBEAT Bg BRBi%E | BREAI BB BREig
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 [ HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHT FHT FHT FEr FEr  TEx
Fair value gains: DRENE
~ Buildings held for own use ~HEERET
(Note 18) (PzE18) 3,333 (834) 2,499 17,979 (4,495) 13,484
~ Prepaid land premium — AR
(Note 19) (FfzE19) = = - 9,112 (2,278) 6,834
— Remeasurement of net —-BFERTE
defined benefit assets BREEFH - - - (266) ) (268)
Currency translation differences [ ¥ =% (55,674) 484  (55,190) (101,677) 868 (100,809)
Other comprehensive income HipZ2EBRA (52,341) (350) (52,691) (74,852)  (5,907) (80,759)
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AP RR M

16 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of the
Company of HK$31,578,000 (2018: HK$43,046,000),
and the weighted average number of 475,548,000 (2018:
475,548,000) ordinary shares in issue during the Year.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January and

16 BRER
FRERZFTIREBEARQ R REZFE ABEAR
FEmF31,578,00078 7T (20184F : 43,046,000
BIL) RAFED BT AR NEFHE
475,548,0000% (20184F :475,548,000/% )15 -

HERZ T

2019
20195

PAONES)
20184
HK$°000
THT

HK$'000
TR

RIATAZE#ITEBR KL

weighted average number of 12 A31BE @A It
ordinary shares at 31 December 58 475,548 475,548

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic
earnings per share as the Company’s share options
outstanding during the Year and the year ended 31
December 2018 were anti-dilutive ordinary shares.

17 DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors did not recommend final dividend for
the Year (2018: Nil).
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A UHRRME

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 V¥ - MEKRRE

(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount

(a) FREIEZH R

Ownership
interests in
buildings
held for
own use
carried at
fair value
BAAE
SIE 5
E)i: £
fiaRRs

Properties
|eased for
own use
carried

at cost
BRASIEZ
AfbEREE
0¥

Furniture

Machinery
and and

fixtures

FhR%E

equipment

BRRRE

Motor  Leasehold  Construction
vehicles improvements  in progress Total

W HENREE ML it

HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TERL TERL TR T TERL TERL Tin T
At1 January 2019 201951718
Cost or valuation HAEE M - 1,179,029 36,630 13,015 139,284 20,683 1,600,414
Accumulated depreciation Gt - - (881,468) (30,041) (0997)  (103,304) - (1024810
Opening net carrying amount ENEESE mimn - 297,561 6,589 3018 35,980 20,683 575,604
Opening net carying amount at R019F1 A1 B2 EAER
1 January 2019 i PANNIES - 297,561 6,589 3,018 35,980 20,683 575,604
Impact on nita application of NS RRERIHREEN
HKFRS 16 Note) Fi6% e (M) = 70170 = = = > = 70170
Opening net carying amount at R019E1 A1 BREZEEE
1 January 2019 per HKFRS 16 FEEAR16K LR
ZE PALNDE] 70170 297,561 6,589 3,018 35,980 20,683 645,774
Additions HE 2 34,628 59,295 631 - 294 12476 109,998
Disposals it - (1,440) (1.212) (13) (19) - - (2,684)
Surplus on revaluation (Note 15 EfEREA(E15) 333 - - - - - - 333
Depreciation for the year it (5.913) (19531) (4345 (1,181) (650) (4977) - (75,704)
Transfers 2 - - 836 - - - (886) -
Exchange realignment Ei@g (4535) (1,730 (6,612) (1m) @) (107) (594) (14377)
Closing net carrying amount at 019512831 A2 EKEE
31 Decerber 2019 el 204,685 82,097 306,466 5,849 2317 BNB7 31,679 666,340
At31 December 2019 20195124318
Cost or valuation HAESHE 204,685 100,399 1,203,869 36,662 12381 139,331 31679 1,729,006
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE - (18,302) (897,403) (30,813) (10,054) (106,004) - (1,062,666)
Closing net carrying amount EXEEEE 204,685 82,097 306,466 5,849 230 EENE)] 31,679 666,340

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective method and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-
of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. See Note

3.

W -

REE DR RPEN T RAE S
IR EERIFE 1657 - WH201991 A1
BRARENES  UWERLIREES
SHEAFITRSEAKERN A
TAEZ(FREEE - RIS -
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AP RR M

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 M1¥ - RERRZEE)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount () REEZHERE(E)
(Continued)
Ownership
interests in
buildings
held for own
Use carried
at fair value
BARE  Machinery
BI|BE 25 4E and Furniture Motor ~ Leasehold  Construction
BEETZ  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  improvements i progress Total
MREER BEREE b B BEMERE  ERIR b
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TEn T T T T BT
At1 January 2018 R2018F1A1R
Cost or valuation RAEEE 208551 1,004,665 37,10 B33 143783 4583 1651805
Accumulated depreciation Z:HE - (908,213) (30,253) (10,092)  (100,983) - (1,049,541)
Opening net carrying amount ENERTE 208,551 336,452 6,857 3,01 42,800 4583 602,264
Opening net carrying amount at R018E1 A1AZFNER
1 January 2018 FE 208,551 336,452 6,857 3021 42,800 4,583 602,264
Additions NE 353 19,838 1,309 909 1,085 17430 40,924
Disposals HE (49) (1,718) 0 (34) (151) - (1,959)
Surplus on revaluation (Note 15) EfRH(NH15) 17,979 - - - - - 17,979
Depreciation for the year ERiTE (5,022) (2,1 (1329 (815) (5,964) - (55,907)
Transfers b - 591 - - - (591) -
Exchange realignment ERRE (10039 (14829) (241) (63) (1,790) M9 (7,697
Closing net carrying amount at R018ENANBZERER
31 December 2018 FE moins 297,561 6,589 3018 35,980 20,683 575,604
At 31 December 2018 #2018F128318
Cost or valuation HAEEEE M3 1,179,029 36,630 13015 139284 20683 1,600,414
Accumulated depreciation ZifinE - (881468)  (30,041) (9997 (103304) - (1024810
Closing net carmying amount EREETE W 297561 6,589 3018 35,980 20683 575604
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AP RRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 V¥ - BMERRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZARENE

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

Fair value hierarchy N

TRENAEENENFERRIZERENE
BEEFEZANE  URBREBYBRSE
ZAF13R AR B EIFREIBAAE
EZNE - PAEFEERIZRMEER
MARBABE IERERERZNETE

FVRPIEE - EERF1RBIBAZK
BEtE 2 ARE - BIRNEHE B EER
BEXBEERENS 2 REHER
(E

F2MPIEE - EAE2RPBAZE
SEZARE  AAKEEIRBIZ
AESEBABEAREEREATH
ERa A BE - THERRAREE
EERISTISER 2B ABIE

EIRFIEE : EREATABES
ABIEAEZARE

Fair value measurements categorised into

Recurring fair value measurements EEM A REE

AREREZDE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

E1R5 245 FE3RA!
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T TEr TEr

Buildings held for own use BEEBRZET

- Mainland China —rhE A
31 December 2019 2019412 A31H - - 204,685
31 December 2018 2018%F12A31H - - 211,773
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e BEmRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

(Continued)

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the Year. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers
into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of
the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.

The Group's buildings held for own use were revalued
as at 31 December 2019 by Memfus Wong Surveyors
Limited, an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at an aggregate value of HK$204,685,000
(2018: HK$211,773,000). A revaluation gain totalling
HK$3,333,000 (2018: HK$17,979,000), resulting from
the above valuations, has been credited to the relevant
asset revaluation reserve. Had these buildings been
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, their carrying values would
have been approximately HK$122,223,000 (2018:
HK$130,899,000).

The Group’s management have discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each annual
reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Unobservable

Valuation techniques input and range

Buildings held for own use
-Mainland China

Depreciated replacement Construction costs
cost approach  per sq.m. ranged from
RMBT,750 to RMB3,350

(2018: RMB1,700 to

RMB2,950)

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

18 W% - WERZRE(E)

(b) MEZRAAEFE(GE)

AEERN - FVRR - B2RBIRE3RR 2
B R - AEBZBEANHREN
ARERH 2 HER 2 FHIGIRAE B E
B EREREALEL -

REEFEAAEFERBILIEEAER
HEMEREAGAITARAAEHERN
2019412 A31H 2 #16 /4204,685,0007%
JC(2018%F : 211,773,000/ 7T) o Ll fh
BEA BG4 3,333,000/ (2018
£ : 17,979,000/ 7T) - EHBREBEEES
M - BRRZEEFIRELKARRET
MERREREYE  BEFDEENS
122,223,0005% 7T (2018 4F : 130,899,000
BT °

REEHRE ARARRMLER  FAEEEE
Bt ERR R AEERENEMETH

N
Ay ©

BRAERBAAEBETNEZER

k% FIRERAREREE

BlEREZET  MEEERLE BTRKBENA
AR NEARET 7502
AEH3 3507

(20185 :

ARELT007LE

ABEH2,9507T)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

Level 3 fair values of buildings located in Mainland
China have been derived using the depreciated
replacement cost approach, which is based on an
estimate of the market value for the existing use of
the land, plus the current cost of replacement of
the existing structures less deductions for physical
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and

optimisation.

The movements during the year in the balance of these

Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

Buildings held for own use BIEEBRZETF
— Mainland China — B Ay

At 1 January M1ATR
Additions NE

Disposal HE

Surplus on revaluation Bh&AR
Depreciation charge for the year REFHEMZ
Exchange realignment HE 5 B

At 31 December M12A31H

18 W% - WERZRE(E)

(b) ME2zAREFEGE)

BRBRBAAETEZER (H)

RAPBEIAM BT 2 £33 B A2 EFA
FEEERANEER - TEEERAEN
HRREA T o MEZGTRER 5
NEERBEBENZRBRA - BRER
ERBRENEAERBYAZREREL
ZHE °

HIRANAA EH B BB ESFE L D)
o -

2019 2018
20195 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000
T TET

211,773 208,551
27 353
- (49)

3,333 17,979
(5,913) (5,022)
(4,535) (10,039)
204,685 211,773

Surplus on revaluation and exchange realignment of
buildings held for own use are recognised in other
comprehensive income in “asset revaluation reserve”

and “exchange fluctuation reserve” respectively.

RIFERMETFZEGREL AR BRI INE
EWARIEES RG] R ELRB MG 5%

X7
N
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AP RR M

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Prepayment of Property, Plant and Equipment
The amount of prepayment of property, plant and
equipment expected to be transferred to property,
plant and equipment after more than one year is
HK$74,521,000 (2018: HK$99,540,000).

(d) Right-of-use Assets

(i) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use some
properties as its warehouses factory and office
premises through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 to 5 years.
Lease payments are usually increased every 2 to 5
years to reflect market rentals.

(ii) Ownership interests in leasehold land held for
own use
The Group hold several factory buildings for its
electronics business, where its manufacturing
facilities are primarily located. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided share in
the underlying land. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests
and there are no ongoing payments to be made
under the terms of the land leases.

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is as follows:

18 W% - WERZRE(E)

() V% BERREENRE
TEHERE—FULYE  BMERREZ
YIEE - BB KR TE R 5RIE & 74,521,000
77T (20184F : 99,540,000 7T) °

(d) EREEE

() BEREEYX
AEEDBRHERRESERSE T
MEERRERE LR REMEIE
Mo HEBFNHRI2E5F - HE
NRBEEEF2ESFEMN - ARRT
B e

(i) HEEBREEL 2 EkER

ARBAHEETEBRABERSE
F o MELERBEBURNZEET
Ne ARERZEMFEn(BHEE
AL HXBO T DEDE) 2
BRBEEA - RELHBEERNK - ©
Wiz S E DA E ME AT SR
BB AEL RN - LEFEE
TTHIfIER -

ZRREEER DI E R EEE ZREF
BT

31 December 1 January
2019 2019
2019%12H31H 201951 H1H

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET TET

Properties leased for own use, carried B RBEEYE -

at depreciated cost RITERANTIBR 82,097 70,170
Ownership interests in leasehold BEEREE L2
land held for own use, carried at FrEERER « NP BRI
amortised cost in Mainland China, R AT B
with remaining lease term between FsriE E AN F35245F
35 and 45 years (Note 19) (MFzE19) 59,084 61,858
141,181 132,028
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AP RRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 W% - BE KX (E)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Right-of-use Assets (Continued) (d) FEHEESEGE)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

HMERT R EEEMZMAXIAR D
ranTs

2019 2018
20194 20184
(Note)

(FE)
HK$"000 HK$°000
TER TET

Depreciation charge or amortisation IR EERER B 5 2 F Ak
charge of right-of-use assets by class ~ AE#EST Btz

of underlying asset:

— Properties leased for own use —BRAEmE 19,531 -
— Ownership interests in leasehold —HIEEREEL Y
land held for own use i RS 1,446 1,505
20,977 1,505
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 11) HEBEME (1) 4,391 -
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ BEHIEE R E(AEHM >
and other leases with remaining FsZ - FISRTEE IR 20194
lease term ending on or before 31 12 A31 B3 2 AlsR 1L
December 2019 1,687 -
Expense relating to leases of low-value BIEKEEEERELFM Y
assets, excluding short-term leases of B ' NEIEEEBEEEY
low-value assets HMRE 6 -
Total minimum lease payments for SRIRIEE S ERIZE 1755
leases previously classified as DEACEROZHEZ &
operating leases under HKAS 17 EHENREHE - 24,909

Notes: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-
of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After
initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 January
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See Note 3.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets
were HK$34,628,000. This amount is related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 28(c) and
31 respectively.

MidE :  ANEEEIREETTRW AV ERAREN
AR 165% - WH2019F1 818
FREYEL: - RS AIREE S5t
ERIE1 7D ERSERN 2 BRHEE Y
FAEEE - K2019F1 B1BHHER
EREEER - NEB(EAATA)ERE
REAREEZIE - M TRMERBER
REGEERTRARREEROMESL
ZHEFAX - RLFTET « kBRERTF
FY) o RHIEES -

RERN - FREEENRNE /34,628,000
e meEuANAEREETRENERE
HAENRER -

HMEzRentaarAEaEzaHA
DT Z A B E KT EE28(0) & 31 °
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AP RR M

19 PREPAID LAND PREMIUM
The movements in prepaid land premium during the year
were as follows:

19 TiEEFEAFR

FALHEERNRZEEHIOT

2019 AONESS

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET T

Carrying amount at 1 January M ATRZRESEE 61,858 68,718

Surplus on revaluation (Note 15) EhAeR(MEE15) - 9,112
Transfer to investment properties BRI A (M3E20)

(Note 20) - (11,437)
Amortisation during the year EREY (1,446) (1,505)
Exchange realignment TE 5, 3% (1,328) (3,030)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31BZRES5E 59,084 61,858

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20 REYE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 1 January B1A1H 147,778 136,522
Transfer from prepaid land premium e A EERA R (FIEE19)

(Note 19) - 11,437
Gain on fair value adjustment (Note 7(c)) AAERAE Uz (FizE7(0) 12,245 3,403
Exchange realignment fE o, = (1,767) (3,584)
At 31 December M12A31H 158,256 147,778
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AP RRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@) Amounts Recognised in Profit or Loss for
Investment Properties

Rental income (Note 7(b))

Direct operating expenses from
property that generated rental
income

HAE WA (HFE7(b)
EEHSRAZYEZ
BEREERX

20 BEWHE(E)

(a) MBREMENEERBERZEH

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
2,406 2,346
(307) (818)
2,099 1,528

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

0]

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the

Group's properties measured at t

he end of the

reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified

is determined with reference to th

e observability

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

D ERA
TREJNAKEYEN RS ARIRE
BUELEFAEZARE  WIRRES
R EERIZE 135/ A EEE /AR
REMFERABEERSE - AAEE
BERTISRGERM TR EASRE
ZAEBRMREEMETFNT

— FBIRHEE - EEBE IR
BABUBRTEZ A E - BIRET
EAMMEREEXABEERED
152 R THERE

— F2RHIEE - ERBE28HE
ABBETEZARE  TFE
F1RBZ BB ABIEAR
BEREATABERBABUER
RIS E ARBIEEARET
BEMZBARE

—  FEIWHEHE  EREATAE
SRBABBEZARE
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AP RR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 REWME(E)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) WEZAREBEE(E)
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) 2AREHRR(E)

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2019 categorised into
R2019F12H31B AABFEZAE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

E18RE 28R 5l 38R
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
TER TER FER

Recurring fair value measurements EE#4 D AEFE

Investment properties REME
- Completed residential properties —-BExIEEnE

- Mainland China —FRE A - - 2,166
- Completed industrial property —BERITIEDE

- Mainland China —hE Aty - - 16,156
— Completed commercial properties -BERIFEDE

— Hong Kong —BE = = 78,200
- Under development commercial —BRPEHEME

property — Mainland China —FRE A - - 61,734

- = 158,256

156 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B & EBEER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(M

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

20 BEWHE(E)

(b) MEZAARETEE)

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2018 categorised into
R2018F 12 A3 B AR ETEZHHE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F1851 F28 51 E34 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT FET
Recurring fair value measurements Z¥#H A AEFE
Investment properties REME
- Completed residential properties —-BExIEENE
- Mainland China —hE A - - 1,986
- Completed industrial property —BRITIEMHE
- Mainland China —rh B Aty - - 13,764
— Completed commercial properties -BRIZENE
- Hong Kong &% - - 69,600
- Under development commercial —BRPEHEME
property — Mainland China —FRE A - - 62,428
- - 147,778

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group's investment properties were revalued
as at 31 December 2019 by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer. At the end of each reporting
period, the directors update their assessment
of the fair value of each property, taking into
account the most recent independent valuations.
The directors determine a property’s value within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. The
Group management has discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date.

AEER - F1RF - F2RBIRE3
Fplz ELEER - REBZHRE
REREHAAERHZHBB 2=
MR BEE R - ERBEEER -

MR2019F12 A31H » NEBZKE
YERBY EEABRGEEMEZIR
HhBAERARENHE TS
REREPEERFETHREUSIE
MEARBEZTE - EPEFRER
B hE - EEUAEBZAREM
FTEEEEYMEEE REFRHR
FEREAPARGER - AEEE
EERAERR R AESREAZA
HEITEIER o
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AP RR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements
Valuation techniques
Investment properties - Direct comparison
Residential - Mainland approach
China
Investment properties - Direct comparison
Industrial - Mainland China approach
Investment properties - Direct comparison
Commercial - Hong Kong approach

Investment property - under
development - Mainland
China

Residual approach

Unobservable input
and range

Discount on quality of
the building of 0%
(2018: discount of 10%)

Premium on quality of
the building of 5%
(2018: discount of 8%)

Discount on quality of
the bulding ranged

from 0% to 4%

(2018: premium of 0% to
4%)

Gross development value
per sq.m. of RMB9, 150
(2018: RMB9,100)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques

during the Year.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

20 REYXE(E)
(b) MEZQAARETEE)

(i) BEAE3RBDAAETEZESR

ARG
fEME  HBREE
RENE- BREBE  BFEEHR%
frz- (2018 : B3210%)
HER
FENE- EREE  BFESHEY
T5-FERK (2018 : B%E8%)
REME- ERIBE  BFESEBENT
EESET 0%Z4%(2018% :
HE0%Z4%)
RENE- HBEE:  BYAKEREE
EEGE AEE9,1507
hERY (2018% -
ARE9.1007)

WA [T P - {7 o 3 9 A )
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A UHRRME

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

For the completed investment properties, their
fair values are generally derived using the direct
comparison approach, which basically uses the
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market to derive the fair value of the
properties. Where such information is not available
the directors consider information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature or recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets,
adjusted to reflect those differences;

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows; or

(iii) capitalised income projections based upon a
property’s estimated net market income, and
a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis
of market evidence.

For the investment property under development,
its fair value is derived using the residual approach.
This valuation method is essentially a means of
valuing the land by reference to its development
potential by deducting development costs, land
premium, together with developer’s profit and risk
from the estimated capital value of the proposed
development assuming completed as at the date
of valuation.

20 BEWE(E)
(b) ME2Z2AAREFEE)

(i) FEAEIRIIAEFEZESH
(&)
MEZTTIHREMEMNS - EARER
BEARERLBRER - EELEBOR
EAXLMBERETS LS
HEHER HEBMERAE - R
EMSABER EXEEREKA
LHHEZER B

0] TW’IEEZEF%%EAEEEW%ZEE
TTERIELDENRTERT
%Zﬁﬁm & (A Rk it
FEEHBR)

(i) BRERKBRE A SFEbFN
TR 2 IRRERETRR - 3L

(i) AREBEMEZ AR ISR AFEIA
NMRBE TS REDMASZER
fete RMiEH 2 B AL ATE
Al e

WERTEREVMEMNS - EARER
PR EEEZED - %H@Eifﬁ
EREREERER NMOER R
BRI BERAA « TIHEEIA R
RAEAGHEABEZ DN RER - M
2EHERENH T HETRHE -

Annual Report 2019 %

159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 REWME(E)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(b) MEZARETEE)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

(i) FAFEIRBNAAREFTEZER

measurements (Continued) (%8)

The movements during the year in the balance FAEIRRNARBEFEZEHRED)
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as N

follows:

Investment properties

REWME
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
BB Fh R A 3 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
At 1 January 2019 72019 1H1H 69,600 78,178 147,778
Gain on fair value adjustment NRERAEZ W
(Note 7(c)) (MIE7(0) 8,600 3,645 12,245
Exchange realignment PE W% - (1,767) (1,767)
At 31 December 2019 2019912 A31H 78,200 80,056 158,256

Investment properties

160

At 1 January 2018

Transfer from prepaid land
premium (Note 19)

Gain on fair value adjustment
(Note 7(c))

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

wEYE
Mainland

Hong Kong China Total

B A B A #Et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET BT AT

7201851 /518 69,600 66,922 136,522
ERa TAEREMNR

(B&E19) - 11,437 11,437

DRERE 2 W

(FF3E7(c)) - 3,403 3,403

TE 5 # - (3,584) (3,584)

20185 12A31H 69,600 78,178 147,778
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AP RRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net gain/(loss)”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

All the gains recognised in profit or loss for the
year arise from the properties held at the end of
the reporting period.

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to two years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

1R

20 BEWHE(E)

(b) MEZAARETEE)

(i)

BV FERSFR

FRAEIRBAREFEZER
(&)

BREMRZ AAERABREGBRER
[Hfblas, (B518)FEEE H#E

7
s °

RiEHRERE - IBERFERR
BYMREEZWENBRSHER o

AEBRBEEEODHREDE -
ZEHEREVNFRP—EMF - A
IRZBEEEEENEE - BERATEN
BEREAMEGRR - BEHERENEH
BRI -

MR2019F12 A31H » AEERET
ARG RN 2 RRKRRKIEHRE
FEECIN N

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
727 1,822

654 -
1,381 1,822
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AP RR M

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21 UAABREZNIIESZSHEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 PAONES]
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Non-current investments JERNHRIR &
Equity securities NS 9,154 9,130
Insurance policy investments REIE 15,279 14,806
24,433 23,936
Current investments BNEIR &
Equity securities R% AR 5 17 20
Information about the fair value measurement of the AARERERASR EMEEC AR ENE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is included FERA & RIE AT 5E40() ©

in Note 40(f).
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AP RRMEE

22 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

22 BREEE

Computer Brand
software Name  Goodwill Total
B e mIEETE GRS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019, net of 7201951 /818 -
accumulated amortisation kR Rty 61 1,719 3 1,783
Amortisation provided N SR
during the year 61) (228) - (289)
Exchange realignment [ 5 A - 27 - 27
At 31 December 2019, net of  F20194 128318 -
accumulated amortisation R 2ty - 1,518 3 1,521
Cost KAE 3,885 2,334 3 6,222
Accumulated amortisation SRty (3,885) (816) - (4,701)
Net carrying amount R FE = 1,518 3 1,521
At 1 January 2018, net of 72018F1/81H -
accumulated amortisation OBk 2ETEEEH 235 2,016 3 2,254
Amortisation provided FNE R
during the year (174) (234) - (408)
Exchange realignment i 5 A - (63) - (63)
At 31 December 2018, net of 72018128318 -
accumulated amortisation R Rty 61 1,719 3 1,783
Cost KAE 3,885 2,291 3 6,179
Accumulated amortisation e (3,824) (572) - (4,396)
Net carrying amount BREFAE 61 1,719 3 1,783

Amortisation of HK$289,000 (2018: HK$408,000) is included
in the “administrative expenses” of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

1 $5289,00078 7T (20184F : 408,000 7T ) 5T A
RABRRITTHREBR] -
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AP RR M

23 SUBSIDIARIES 23 fEAT
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARERAT
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital FAARERAAS
FMEL/ BRTRARRA 2019 2018 Principal activities
dfREEEE HE/2EhEx 20195 2018F  ¥EgH
Accord Advance Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
BEERAR EERUES LAR10ET REER
Dongguan Luminous Town Electric 1 Mainland China Registered 74.86 7486 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd.* REIR HK$11,550,000 electronic components
RERASTERAR HhER HEREEE TN

11,550,000 7

Dongguan Manixon New Materials and 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Components Company Limited * kil 1S$9,590,000 electronic components
REEH R ARAT HMER HERHEE TN
9,590,000% 7T
Forward Electronics (Dongguan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited * R, RMB5,000,000 electronic components
EEEET(RZ)ARAA Al HERHEE TN
AR5,000,0007
Foshan Rifeng Electronic Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
BILRLYETERAA HE R US$1,000,000 electronic components
AR HERREE T LM
1,000,000%7
Fu Tak (Qingyuan) Electronic Foil 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited * RER RMB11,000,000 electronic components
EE(BR)ETREARAA AR HERHEE Tl
AEE11,000,0007
High Merit Group Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100 100 Investment holding
EERAES Lakixr REHR
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

23 MEBAT(E)
FERBATERET : (&)

Place of
incorporation/

registration and
operations
L/
ERREEHE

Nominal value
of issued and
paid-up/

Percentage of
equity attributable
registered to the Company
capital RAREERARDL
BRTRMERA 2019 2018
Hfe/Emas 2019% 2018%

Principal activities

TEEH

Jiangxi Telexon Electronics 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited * FERH RMB40,000,000 electronic components
IRELEEFARAT i HERHER TN
AR 40,000,000
Johnstone International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100 100 Investment holding
heRERERAR RBRAHE Lakixr REZR
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 74.86 7486 Manufacture, processing
RISEEFARAR eI, US$5,300,000 and sale of electronic
HER components
5,300,000% 7 8EMIR
HEEFLH
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. Taiwan Registered 74.86 7486 Investment holding
BAETRINVERAA = TW$668,308,610 RERR
Hhas
£%668,308,6107T
Man Fat Intenational Trading (Shanghai) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * EN US$200,000 components
BRERESH(LB)ERAF Hhas EES it
200,000% 7T
Man Jin Electronics (Shenzhen) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * HE A HK$3,500,000 components
EEE TR RRAR i BEETH
3,500,000
Man Yue (China) Investment Limited * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
BH(TE)REBARAR REIR US$30,000,000 REZR
HMER
30,000,000%7C
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 B ATI(E&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBAREROT : (8)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ZFME{EM
R A BRTRARRA 2019 2018 Principal activities
AR EEHE HE/ZRER 20195 2018F  ETgK
Man Yue Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2, 100 100 Trading of electronic
ENETEARAA % Non-voting deferred components
HK$3,000,000 BER LM
LakEL
ERFRETR
3,000,000 T
Man Yue Holdings (BV) Limited 2 British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
ERRNHE LBAR10,000% T REHR
Man Yue Technology (China) Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
BN (E)ERAR RN US$48,000,000 BEER
AMER
48,000,000% 7
Man Yue Technology Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong EARI10ET RA R
ABRIHE/BE
Manixon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EHEETARAA 5 ERRIAT components
BESTIH
MLPC Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 100 Trading of electronic
EEEAETERDA Bk LERI100AT components
BEETalt
MMS Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
ERETARAA B LERIET components
BEE i
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23 MEBAT(E)
FERBATERET : (&)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

registration and
operations
AL/
EfREEHE

Nominal value
of issued and
paid-up/

Percentage of
equity attributable
registered to the Company
capital KAREERAF AL
BRTRMERA 2019 2018
HE/ERER 20195 20185

Principal activities

TEER

MMS Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Trading of electronic
3 EER10,000%TT components
BEE T
Rifeng Qingyuan Electronic Co., Ltd. Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
BE(ER)EFARAT RER HK$80,000,000 electronic components
AR RERFEE TN
80,000,000 7T
Rihong (Yaan) Electronics Co., Ltd.* 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
BA(BR)EFERAR B US$23,000,000 raw materials
AR BERHERIH
23,000,000% 7T
Samxon Electronic Components Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of electronic
ZRETEHERAA ¥ LERET components
BEEl
Samxon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
EN=RET(RR)BRLA HElA, U5$96,775,000 electronic components
AMER HERHES Ll
96,775,000% 7T
Searange Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of equity
EREARAT & LRk2ET investments
BERARE
Splendid Skill Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
ZERAES LAk0ET REER
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEBAT(E)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARERIT : (&)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ZFME{EM
R A BRTRARRA 2019 2018 Principal activities
AR EEHE HE/ZRER 2019% 2018F  ETgK
Stand New Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
UHEERRAA 3 LaERIET RERR
Starzeon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EEXBTERAR A LaERIET components
BEE M
Starzeon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
BEXEF(RR)BRLA RER U5$15,000,000 electronic components
HMER BEREEE TS
15,000,000%7T
TradeUNIT Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary 100 100 Trading of raw
HEZERAT Hong Kong HK$9,500,000 materials
AEREHE/BE LBk BERIH
9,500,000/ 7T
Walters Electronics (Dongguan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited * HE R RMB5,000,000 electronic components
EETEF(RR)BRLA AR HERHES Tl
AK%5,000,0007T
Walters Electronics (Qingyuan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited RER US$30,000,000 electronic components
FETET(RR)ERAA AMER HERBES TS
30,000,000
Wuxi Man Yue Electronics 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited HER US$42,000,000 electronic components
ERENETARLA HMER BERBEST LY
42,000,000
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23 MEBAT(E)
TEHBATERT : ()

(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and P?rcenta.ge of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ZFM%{EM
FMRL/ BRTRBRRA 2019 2018 Principal activities
EMREEHE B/ 2RER 0195 2018 =22
X-CON Electronics Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
X-CONEFERLF Hong Kong LERIET components
ARAREE/Bh BEEFh
Xinjiang Join Yue Electronics New Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Materials Company Ltd. RER 15$8,000,000 raw materials
MBRABFAIMHARLA HRER BEREERIE
8,000,000% 7T
Yuk Wah Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$80 000 100 100 Investment holding
FEETARAT B L3780,0008 7T RERR
TR R ER AT Mainland China Registered 75 75 Manufacture and sale of
Rl RMB10,000,000 chemical materials
AER BERHE 20
AE%10,000,0007T
BEREETERAT Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
mE R, RMB2,500,000 electronic components
AR HERHER Tl
AE%2,500,0007
Notes: B -

1.

The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under the laws of Mainland China.

2. Shares are held directly by the Company.

The company name in Chinese is a direct translation of the
registered English name for the purpose of identification.

* The company name in English is a direct translation of the

registered Chinese name for the purpose of identification.

1.

It B X R TR MR D B At A R R T RSN B
Ahx-

ARAREEBHZED -

XA G B AR A2 HEEE -
Al -

BXARABAIER B BRI -
HAl -
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2 Ny =1

23

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability
companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the Year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group.

The following table lists out the information relating to
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. (“Luminous Town"), the
only subsidiary of the Group which has a material non-
controlling interest (“NCI”). The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts before
any inter-company elimination.

23 MEBAT(E)
RARIFTENB AR AEREE AR -

ERFBIARRMBRRAINEERATIEREAR
FREEEIBRAEEEEFEER A0 2B

NI

TRESIBBAEE MG EAIERAIRE
a5 ([ IR AR R s | ) 2 FfY /B8 8 Bl = F AR
BERAB(MEW ) 2EHR - TXEFNZHBER
BRI ER R RFEE HAT AR

AONES]

2018 &

(Note)

(Fff7%)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FA&T

NCI percentage IR R ERE DL 25.1% 25.1%
Current assets MEVEE 175,789 219,333
Non-current assets IEMBEE 56,624 28,158
Current liabilities TENAE 80,243 100,377
Non-current liabilities ERFEGE 25,052 306
Net assets BEEE 127,118 146,808
Carrying amount of NC| R AR R R A 31,957 36,907
Revenue oN 187,557 197,252
Loss for the year FEEE (19,934) (8,975)
Total comprehensive income 2HEWALEE (21,871) (7,918)
Loss allocated to NCI it T AR AR AR R AE #2518 (5,011) (2,256)
Cash flows from operating activities REER IS RE 16,719 (16,284)
Cash flows from investing activities KRETFHZHESRE (4,524) (18,312)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEH RS RE (25,043) (1,695)

Note: The subsidiary has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the opening
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise additional right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$97,000 relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is
not restated.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER L 7

MizE © ZMIB AR BRI R EN SRR AN
WA ERE165% - WHN2019F1 A 1HFAE
FOGES - UEREAREE S ERE17
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

I EEFE
BT RAEREEZER
FEM A B2 FIR
et & B2 FIR

Share of net assets
Loans to a joint venture
Due from joint ventures
Due to joint ventures

24 REEDLECZRE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
167,215 140,474
133,908 118,501
29,884 28,823
(36,822) (43,781)

The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and due to
joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand or per trading credit terms except:

(@ Loans amounting to HK$105,088,000 (2018:
HK$89,681,000) are interest-bearing at a rate of 4.90%
(2018: 4.90%) per annum.

(b) Included in amounts due to joint ventures are trade
payables to joint ventures amounting to HK$10,225,000
(2018: HK$25,635,000).

Particulars of the joint ventures, all of which are held
indirectly through subsidiaries, are as follows:

Place of
Particulars of incorporation/
issued shares/ registration Owner-ship
registered capital and operations interest
BRITRA,/ e/
BREA pfipgewy  oRRS
Ever Reliance Industrial Ordinary HK$100 Hong Kong 48
Investments Limited LaER100%ET 3
("Ever Reliance”)
REIFRERRAR
(=&)
Nan Tong Xin Cheng Registered HK$25,080,000  Mainland China 49
Electronics Company Ltd.  #£ff4725,080,000/% 7 FEIR
HEMIETERAR

RTRAEEEZER RURENEZERE
ZHETEER 2R AAREXIRRZEER
HIEE - 1 -

(@) A& B 105,088,000 # st ( 2018 4
89,681,000/ T ) 2 BEFRILFFI K490
(20184 : 4,902 )5t & ©

by ENEELCEZREBERBEEMELED
¥ 7 FERTERFX10,225,0005%8 7T (20184 -
25,635,000/87T) ©

BBRMBAREERACAEREREMNT

Percentage of
THREZEAL
Voting Profit
power sharing
Principal activities
BEA IBER
50 48 Investment holding
REEKR
33 49 Manufacture and sale of
raw materials
BERHERMH
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24 REENECRE(E)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of a ATEINTFEALCEREZHBEREE - &
material joint venture, Ever Reliance, which is accounted for FEARREZAAEE o

using the equity method.

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# T

Summarised statement of B RERBE
financial position

Non-current assets IEMBNEE 469,572 394,958
Current assets (excluding cash and MBEE(TEERe R

cash equivalents) ReEEY) 15,948 9,059
Cash and cash equivalents HeREESZED 396 567
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade #E& R & & (NEIEENER

and other payables and provisions) T2 E At B~ SR IB LA R B4 ) (94,258) (89,681)
Other current liabilities (including trade EnsaE(BEEMER L

and other payables and provisions) Fo PR FUIB DA S ) (32,571) (33,927)
Non-current financial liabilities FrRHepasE (30,600) (30,600)
Other non-current liabilities HEmIERBasE (48,381) (28,975)
Net assets BEFE 280,106 221,401

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Summarised statement of profit or loss EXREM2EHBAREE
and other comprehensive income

Revenue N 97,214 89,466
Depreciation e (316) (413)
Interest income FEMA 1 2

Interest expense MELZH (4,636) (4,213)
Income tax Fifs i (21,065) (19,243)
Profit for the year NEEEA 65,947 60,170
Other comprehensive income Ef2mlA (7,243) (12,869)
Total comprehensive income 2EUA B 58,704 47,301
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24 REEHEIRE(E)

Reconciled to the Group's interest in Ever Reliance HAEERREZERZ—
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
Gross amounts of Ever Reliance’s RIEEEFERE
net assets 280,106 221,401
Group's effective interest NEEZ BERERD 48% 48%
Group's share of Ever Reliance’s net AEFEERMREZEEFELRD
assets and carrying amount in the LREBTBIRER 2 REE
consolidated financial statements 134,451 106,273
The following table sets out the summarised financial TR AEBEESLELE(TIEERE) S
information of the Group’s shared portion of joint ventures WIEERIER 2 IS ERBEE

excluding Ever Reliance, that are not individually material:

2019 AONES]
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Profit for the year FEHF (705) 3,010
Other comprehensive income Hib2mEUA (732) (1,611)
Total comprehensive income 2EYAKETE (1,437) 1,399
25 INVENTORIES 25 FE
(a) Inventory in the Consolidated Statement of (a) REBRRKRZEFERIE !

Financial Position Comprise:

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Raw materials R 154,442 190,949
Work in progress TERE 207,333 181,436
Finished goods BIRK B 233,825 236,040
595,600 608,425
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25 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 25 FE (&)
(b) The Analysis of the Amount of Inventories (b) BRAMIEFAEBSZS2EFESHE
Recognised as an Expense and Included in ST :

Profit or Loss is as Follows:

2019
20194
HK$'000
FTHET
Carrying amount of inventories sold B HE&EFE 7 BRHEE 1,038,193 1,086,015
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8,843 4,614
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 &5 @l (169) (3,037)
Cost of sales $HE R AN 1,046,867 1,087,592
The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior RBEFE - FEMRBEED DHERTISE
years arose due to an increase in the estimated net TESEHRETETER AT AIZRF
realisable value of certain electronic goods as a result of {ESEANFREN -

a change in market preferences.

26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26 FEUWERM R H it RIE

2019

20194

HK$’000

FET
Trade receivables FEURER SR 697,380 618,631
Loss allowance EE (39,496) (33,405)
657,884 585,226

Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - e Rk

other receivables H b el 308 106,303 108,342
764,187 693,568
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26

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
All of trade and other receivables are expected to recovered
within one year.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
90 days, extending up to 150 days for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Credit risk was hedged mainly through credit insurance
policies. Where the Group has the benefit of credit
insurance, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain if a claim
was to be made. As at the end of the reporting period
HK$2,892,000 is included within “prepayments, deposits
and other receivables” in current assets in respect of such
expected reimbursements.

The Group categorises its trade receivables based on the
ageing. Future cash flow for each group of trade receivables
are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience,
adjusted to effects of current conditions of each customer
as well as forward looking information. For trade receivables
relating to accounts which are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies, they are assessed individually
for impairment.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

1-3 months 12 3M@ A
4-6 months EN N EPS!
7-12 months 721218 A
Over 1 year iR

26 FEUWARFR R H it EURRIR (4])

P R S B At FE MR IR TR IR — FF A
[B] o

AEBERZEFIRHGEREZREEF @
BEE—MAEBENK - EEH—MABIOKX - £
BEFIERERZ 150K - BERFHRER
BIEEE - AEBBUTE HARKER 2 EUGRIA %
BB - WA EEEH B EERBRRE
&K - SREREABEHRIT ARG - AR L
M RARAEEZ EREEFREAETRES -
AW ESERXEESEPRER - BUIERBTE

B o
B

FERRTIEBZBEERBRET - HAKEAE
ERRAE  AERIRENERT  HELRE
EAEAEREREFRRERENEE - NHRE
HIR - AR %S RHIEERIAN2,892,000/8 7T
B ARBEEZ[FANKIE REREMER
B e

REERRERGEBIRRER - BERKL
BT SARNEKRERRZRRRESRE - W5l
BEEPERRRAZZERATEEERHELRE -
HRBREABSERAZERPACNENEER
Z MR & BB EEERFE

RBEMR - HER AU ERMGREBREGR
Z MRS R AT

2019 2018
201945 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHBT
504,766 413,578
127,966 149,402
16,350 12,926
8,802 9,320
657,884 585,226
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27

BRI T

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Analysed into: DITLAT -

— Interest rate swaps — = H
Portion classified as current SRR A MEEN
Non-current portion FEMENER D

7 TTEERIA

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHBT
245 2,273
(245) (1,989)

= 284

At 31 December 2019, the Group held one (2018: two)
interest rate swap agreement in place with a notional
amount of HK$100,000,000 (2018: HK$200,000,000)
to manage certain exposure to changes in interest rate in
relation to bank loans.

The fair value of the Group’s investments in the interest
rate swap agreement at 31 December 2019 has been
determined on the basis of valuation carried out by an
independent qualified valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited, through the application of the estimated price
for the transfer of an asset or liability between identified
knowledgeable and willing parties that reflects the respective
interests of those parties.

The net changes in the fair value of interest rate swap
contracts which did not meet the criteria for hedge
accounting for accounting purposes amounting to
HK$98,000 were debited (2018: HK$413,000 were credited)
to the consolidated statements of profit or loss during the
Year.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER L 7

2019128318 » ZEE#FHHE — 15 (2018
@ : W) %A A 100,000,000 7T (20184 :
200,000,000/ 70) 2 F| B G 4) - AR E
TERITEFMEBE 2 TR EF R

7201912 8318 « NEBRF| X HE LK
B2 AR EC BB A ERHERMR LIRS
BHAERAREBEANEREREEE T AR
BB 2 s SR L ES A EE T 2 B
AR o

REFENME  AEEDREAERRBRT
FE P ERIRTE Y FIRIE A ORAFE
A2 A5 B E)FE8 0 98,00078 7T (20184 -
=t A413,000/87T) °
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents Comprise:

28 BHERBREEEY

(a) RERRESEMEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Cash and bank balances & RIRITEEH 220,707 202,041
Time deposits within 3 months RIFEARZHAEIMAURNZ

to maturity when placed FEHER 5,008 297

Cash and cash equivalents B RIRSEEY 225,715 202,338

Cash at banks earns interest at floating bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits range from 1 day to 3
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The cash and bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

history of default.

As at the end of the reporting date, the amount of cash
and cash equivalents denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
was HK$81,060,000 (2018: HK$65,236,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the Regulations of the People’s Republic of China
on the Management of Foreign Exchange, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange

business.

RTINS IRF B IRITIF 5K R BRER A B, o
RHTHERETAEECARNRSH
Ko @UNF1IRE3MEA 2 BEEL - I
LB 2 52 B E HA T SR R R ERFI B - 3R
& RIRTHEBTFRNIRERNTHRAREE
RIEFZIRIT -

RIBEHR  LARB(TARE]) HE
2HEe kRE&ZEEY /81,060,000 7T
(20184 : 65,236,00087T) ° AREERA]
BHRLBRAHEMEY - AW - REEE(P
= AR AMBINEEIR5HG]) - NEBEHF
FRERERITHEITINEER - UGAR
BB EAMERE o
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

BRI T

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from

Financing Activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash

flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Interest

rate swap
FEES
HK$'000

TExT
(Note 27)
(BfEE27)

&

28 RERBEEEY(H)
(b) MEFBELEZABZHR :

TRAMAEEREEHELZAEY
o BhEEBE
IZEE?‘@E%}MLEE@( &*KEE%/\MLE
EE)EOEEAREEGFET
BB EE T

BERSRIFRSY

iﬁ%/}mi °

Lease
liabilities
HERE
HK$'000
TET
(Note 31)
(PiEE31)

Bank loans
RITER
HK$'000

TEx
(Note 30)
(FfE30)

i//\bgﬁflﬁﬁ

Total
#ct
HK$'000
FTER

At 31 December 2018 #2018%12A831R 2,273 889,355 - 891,628
Impact on initial application of TFEREBIBREER

HKFRS 16 (Note) 165z T2 (W) = - 70,170 70,170
At 1 January 2019 RW2019E181A 2,273 889,355 70,170 961,798
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREFEET
Proceeds from new bank loans MRTERFEHE - 889,090 - 889,090
Repayment of bank loans BEBETER - (800,672) - (800,672)
Capital element of lease rentals paid [EEppii-itkawd-viN:ipy - - (17,583) (17,583)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ 2ABERSZF 885 = = (4,391) (4,391)
Interest paid ERFE = (38,082) = (38,082)
Payment for interest rate swaps TR (2,126) - - (2,126)
Total changes from HEREREED

financing cash flows FEE (2,126) 50,336 (21,974) 26,236
Change in fair value AR ERE 98 - - 9%
Exchange adjustments EXAR = (2,096) (1,803) (3,899)
Other changes: Hi 25
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  EAREI#HE 2

into new leases during the period HEAFILM - = 34,628 34,628
Decrease in lease liabilities HREEE

from termination of leases HEBERS

during the period = = (1,463) (1,463)
Interest expenses (Note 11) FEZH(PEET) - 38,082 4,391 42,473
Total other changes HitZ8hiasE = 38,082 37,556 75,638
At 31 December 2019 20195124318 245 975,677 83,949 1,059,871

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the BaE ¢%@EE%§{@§TE§%§@%¥E%§%

IR REXERIZE 1657  WHR201991 A1
EISH%E%D’**%% LARERR LRI IRIE B S
ERTEEI7RS B AKERN B
HECHEEaE - A3 -

modified retrospective method and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
See Note 3.
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 28 RE&REBEESEEW(E)

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities: (Continued)

(b) BMEEBDELZEBEZHR : ()

Interest
rate swap
|2 422 21
HK$'000

Bank loans Total
RITER #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&T FA&T
(Note 30)
(Fff7E30)

FHET
(Note 27)
(Fg7E27)

At 1 January 2018 2018FE181H 6,156 847,079 853,235
Changes from financing RERSRESH :

cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans HRTERERIE - 780,120 780,120
Repayment of bank loans EBIRTTER - (736,451) (736,451)
Interest paid BAFE - (32,911) (32,911)
Payment for interest rate swaps S EF RS R (3,470) - (3,470)
Total changes from financing BMERSREEHAT

cash flows (3,470) 10,758 7,288
Change in fair value DARERE (413) - (413)
Exchange adjustments ELAE - (1,393) (1,393)
Other changes: Hih g :
Interest expenses (Note 11) FEZH (MEE11) - 32,911 32,911
Total other changes Hih B Ehaazs - 32,911 32,911
At 31 December 2018 A2018%F12H31H 2,273 889,355 891,628
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total Cash Outflow for Leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows KEREMEN
Within financing cash flows MEREREN

28 RERBEEEY(H)

(0 HERSREALH
RengRP 2 HEBENUTEE

2018

20184

(Note)

(Hf7E)

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
1,693 24,909
21,974 -
23,667 24,909

Note: As explained in the note to the consolidated cash flow
statement, the adoption of HKFRS 16 introduces a
change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals
paid on leases. The comparative amounts have not
been restated.

These amounts relate to the following:

e . B SRESRERMERL - KAF
B BHELENE1RLUBEEZETE
NEEZREREDFERED - LR
EEHAES -

ZECRETIIEHAEM

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TET

Lease rentals paid ENHEERS

23,667 24,909
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29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND

29 BNRREERE  HtBARERE
FTREERENEE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2019 PAONKS]
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAxT
Trade and bills payables FERERRAREE 254,770 201,160
Receipt in advance ' TEM A 1,817 6,341
Salary and welfare payables B e MAER| 25,502 26,894
Value-added tax payable FERTIZETRT 20,342 15,598
Contract liabilities 2 Auars? 5,683 6,746
Other payables and accrual JEASH LAt FRIE K FE T SR8 52,060 51,050
360,174 307,789

Notes:

1.

The receipt in advance is not related to contracts that create
enforceable rights and obligations between the Group and the
customers.

One of the customers is entitled to volume discounts based on
aggregate sales over a 12-months period. Revenue from sales
to this customer is recognised based on the price specified in
the contract net of estimated volume discounts. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund
liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to the customer in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period.

Movements in Contract Liabilities

1. TRESCREAKEREF ZMEERRITER
RIFHB KR -

2. HP—2EPARFAREHERR12EAHE
FrEZHENN - AREFPIEHHEEEEZ K
AEZE DRI RERREEHHEEIT MR - RFHE
BANERHTRANIELRE - MBRAER
HIREARE 2 #RHIERER - BREERE
HREEHEE CRFAERENTP 2 TREHT
EITMTIARER -

PAONKS]
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Balance at 1 January R1R1B 2 &% 6,746 5,735
Increase in contract liabilities as a result A P TE BB 2T INFT B 2
of increase in expected volume =¥
discounts payable B &1 6,329 11,763
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result  EHABLEFINABRZEL
of utilisation of volume discounts B &R (7,454) (10,591)
Exchange realignment PE 5 A EE 62 (161)
Balance at 31 December M12A31H 2 &8 5,683 6,746
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29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Movements in Contract Liabilities (Continued)
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled

or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on
demand.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

29 BNRREERE  HaBARERE

ATRERGHNAREGE)
BREEEE(H)
P FE AT ER 3K E A A OB TR R I — S P

RBRRATIZERER -

RBEMR  RERAHHEZRNERREERE
BRI DAL -

Trade payables: JERTARTR
- 1-3 months —1Z3f8A4
- 4-6 months —4Z6fEA
- 7-12 months —7&12{8A
- Over 1 year —HBiB1F
Bills payables ANE=S7A

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHxT FHBT
218,866 117,733
10,564 66,993
11,897 5,715
5,214 5,369
246,541 195,810
8,229 5,350
254,770 201,160
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30 BANK LOANS 30 SRITER

2019 2018
20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT

Bank loans, unsecured, with repayable on R AT ERRSEE I A& B &%~

demand clause, repayable: ERRIRTTER
— Within one year or on demand —1FARIRERK 935,720 800,019
—In the second year —E2FR 23,776 56,503
— In the third to fifth years, inclusive —F3ZRESF(BIEEREMT) 16,181 32,833
975,677 889,355
Portion classified as current liabilities HEREARBEEHGN (975,677) (800,019)
Non-current portion IETE BB = 89,336
As at 31 December 2019, unsecured bank loans of the Group 2019612 A31H  REBE KT « ET
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar REMEEHECEERRTERS A
and other currencies amounted to HK$780,942,000 (2018: 780,942,000 7& 7T ( 2018 % : 519,446,000 &
HK$519,446,000), HK$15,575,000 (2018: HK$291,688,000) JC) * 15,575,000/ 70 (20184 : 291,688,000/%5
and HK$179,160,000 (2018: HK$78,221,000) respectively. 70) % 179,160,000 7T (20184F : 78,221,000/
The weighted average interest rate of the unsecured bank T0) o ZEEEMRITER Z MEFHFR XA
loans was 4.78% (2018: 4.31%) per annum. All bank loans 4.78[E (20184 : 4.31/8) » FIARITERIRE
bear floating interest rates and are repayable by instalments EF R B AR2023F URATD EHEE - K&
up to 2023. The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans EIRITER RESEEALEEE -
approximate their fair values.
The Group is required, to comply with certain restrictive REBRBTETRAET KR - AR
financial covenants, including, inter alia, interest coverage FIEBER  FESYLERBITDALL E LA K B 755
ratios, net debt to EBITDA ratios and finance charge to S EBITDALLE - FA2019F 12 A31H » AKE
EBITDA ratios. As at 31 December 2019, the Group breached TR EMERTT 2B TER1TE 403,956,000/
two covenant requirements in certain bank loans of TERMEZZERE  MABSRBEESERM
HK$403,956,000 from two banks and the related amounts FEE o AEERREHRAEG —HRITE
have already been classified as current liabilities. The Group Mz ER Y BRI HRRBRRETERN
obtained waiver letter issued by a bank before the end of the FRAREBIRTTE 373,956,000 L2 LHEE
reporting period for one-off waiver from strict compliance Ko REBRMEMRERFEARAREBRITER
with the covenant requirements in relation to outstanding 30,000,000/ LBV IS 5 —EERTT <« BA %R B 14 -

bank loans of HK$373,956,000 at the year end. The Group
obtained the waiver letter from another bank after the end
of reporting period in relation to the outstanding bank loans
of HK$30,000,000 as at year end.

=

7201812 A31H @ BIEIRIEE MERZ

o

As at 31 December 2018, none of the covenants relating to
drawn down facilities had been breached.

||£
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES 31 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREFIAEBERE AT B ERE ARIARR B
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the EEEBYBRELEFIFEH HEERE
current and previous reporting periods and at the date of Fgr e HOBER

transition to HKFRS 16:

31 December 2019 1 January 2019 (Note) 31 December 2018 (Note)
2019F12831R 201981 A1R (Hiz) 20185124318 (MizE)
Present Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total value of the Total
minimum lease minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum

payments lease payments | lease payments  lease payments  lease payments  lease payments
BEHE BEHE HEHE HEHE HEHE

HHRE A% e i DEEE DEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Thn Thn ThL T
Within 1 year 15/ 17,091 20,600 13,758 16,662 - -
After 1 year but within 2 years 1EREIER 16,871 19,586 13958 16,225 - -
After 2 years but within 5 years VEBIESER 37,108 40,892 42,454 45360 - -
After 5 years SEk 12,879 14,034 - - - -
66,858 74512 56,412 61,585 - -
83,949 95,112 70,170 78247 - -
Less: total future. interest expenses bRy GErT (11,163) (8,077) -
Present value of lease liabilities HERRNE 83,949 70,170 -
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified sk : NEEEREETRBEN S EAB B BR
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at EARAIE165E - WH20195F1 A1 BHAEEY)
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases R DAERERIIRBEE B G ERE17R D
which were previously classified as operating leases under HREEMRNzAEBREZHERE - K2018
HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 F12A31BZHBERHAKRED - ERBRES
has not been restated. Further details on the impact of the BEAVBREENF16R VB2 E—THE
transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 3. BN ER
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32 DEFERRED TAX

32

(a) Taxation in the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position Represents:

Provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for the year
Provisional Profits Tax paid

Balance of Profits Tax recoverable
relating to prior year

Overseas tax recoverable

Overseas tax payable

Representing:
Tax recoverable
Tax payable

REERBENGHERE

ENFISHEE

B F—FEHENNEN
Yo @ e

AR EESMRIE

e SMATR

Bp :
AU AR IE
FEfTHIR

IEAER IR
(a) REMBRRRZBIERE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
- 18

— (1,600)

- (1,582)
(1,582) -
(119) (51)
11,989 8,989
10,288 7,356
(1,701) (1,633)
11,989 8,989
10,288 7,356
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32 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 32 JRIERLIE ()
(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred
Tax Assets and Liabilities
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
during the Year were as follows:

(b) BEZEHEEEREBART I 2
L
FRAZELEVAEERRRESHIT

Deferred tax assets

Provisions
for trade
receivables
and write-
down for

inventories
RS
BERFENA
HK$'000
T

EEBIREE

Tax losses
available for
offsetting
against future
taxable
profits
A AREHARR
FERBRF 2 Others Total
BiEEE Hith @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT AL

At 1 January 2018 12018F1A1H 1,320 19,982 1,406 22,708
Credited/(charged) to profit or FRRBEET A/ (%)

loss during the year (Note 15) (ft3E15) 2,781 (8,959) 3,953 (2,225)
Credited to reserve during FRETAGE

the year (Note 15) (MzE15) - - 868 868
Exchange realignment B AR 43) (321) (95) (459)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January R2018F12A318 K

2019 2019F 1418 4,058 10,702 6,132 20,892
Credited/(charged) to profit or FRRBEFTA/ (1)

loss during the year (Note 15) (P3E15) 1,265 (7.517) (1,428) (7,680)
Credited to reserve during FRETAGE

the year (Note 15) (MzE15) - - 484 484
Exchange realignment fEH A% 40 (131) 78 (13)
At 31 December 2019 201912318 5,363 3,054 5,266 13,683
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32 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 32 EREBIIE(E)
(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred (b) FEEHBEEREBEMTS 2
Tax Assets and Liabilities (Continued) BE)(4E)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHRESE
Depreciation
allowance
in excess
of related
Revaluation  depreciation
of properties BERiEL Others Total
Effx  BENERG Hith @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AT AL
At 1 January 2018 72018F1A18 39,440 1,167 315 40,922
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss FRRERER/ GIA)
during the year (Note 15) (Fzx15) 391 (43) - 348
Charged to reserve during ERREENR(MI5)
the year (Note 15) 6,773 - 2 6,775
Exchange realignment R AR (1,701) - ) 1,712)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A318
1 January 2019 201941A18 44,903 1,124 306 46,333
Charged to profit or loss during the year  FRPEFNGR
(Note 15) (Wi5E15) 851 - - 851
Charged to reserve during the year FRREENR
(Note 15) (BtsE15) 834 - 834
Exchange realignment BN A% (823) - 817)
At 31 December 2019 72019124318 45,765 1,124 312 47,201
(c) Reconciliation to the Consolidated Statement () HZEMBRRRZEER

of Financial Position

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$°000
T TET

Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE T ARR R FERZ
in the consolidated statement of EERTEE EFE
financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R4r& B KRR FER 2
in the consolidated statement of RERIBEREFE
financial position

10,299 14,173
(43,817) (39,614)
(33,518) (25,441)
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32 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Deferred Tax Assets Not Recognised

The Group had unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$72,262,000 (2018: HK$101,858,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also had unrecognised
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Taiwan of
HK$96,645,000 (2018: HK$60,502,000) that will
expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. The Group has cumulative tax losses
not recognised amounting to HK$168,907,000 (2018:
HK$162,360,000). Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised amounting to HK$34,395,000 (2018:
HK$31,392,000) in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Deferred Tax Liabilities Not Recognised
Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate ranges from 5% to 10%.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group has undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$280,902,000 (2018: HK$237,024,000). The
corresponding deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised, given that the Company is able to
control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it is probable that these retained profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

32 EEFIE(E)

(d)

(e)

AERZIELERIBEEE
AREBEBRREBZABRBBER
72,262,000/ 7T (20184F : 101,858,000/
J0)  AJERH ALK HEEE 2 AR
ZARRIERT ST o NEREITE RN
A N B & 2 AR e 58 1 75 185 18 96,645,000
70 (20184 ¢ 60,502,000 1) * #& R
—E+FAEM - 0 AR R ER
Foad o XEBARERRARBER
168,907,000 7T (2018 £F : 162,360,000
BIL) c BRZEEBEDNEEREE B
BEREMESSEEZWE QR B EER
i K B AR DA F0 3% S0 75 518 2 A] RE 11
AN MW ARRZEEEERCBELEHIEE
JE /34,395,000 7T (20184 : 31,392,000
HBIT) °

AERZELEREARE
BE(REAREMBELEMETE) B
FEIR S ZINE R MIRIMEEET IR Z
I EEBIRI10% 2 TENT - REMRTE A
20081 A1 H#EAR - @A 20074F 12
AMANEBREELZAF - g+ B A i 6
SN B EFT B Rl AR 2 MR RS E
Bipeg - BIAHESEBINHE T - g A
SEME  BABENFS5%E10% R
2019F12A318  XEEWB AR Z RS
S S | 49 5 280,902,000 3% 7T (2018 4F
237,024,000 7T ) ° R AR 7] 8L 1§l 5%
LB AR ZREBUER B EREB &R
Al LR ATREN IR ML KRR
EERRIBRE -
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AP RRMEE

33 DEFERRED INCOME 33 JRIEWA
The deferred income amounting to HK$9,706,000 (2018: 9,706,000/ 7T (2018%F : 10,224,000 7T ) 2 I
HK$10,224,000) of non-cash subsidies in relation to parcels WA BESZIE L2 IBRSMHE) - ATIEHFS
of land located in Wuxi was granted by the Jiangsu Province BLEEREREEZEEN2004FERE - 4
Xishan Economic Development Management Committee FzEmz A ARNAER AKRE—IEBLR
in 2004. The subsidy was in the form of a reduction of the FRE R 2 TS~ 2 B - BRIFENTS
consideration for the acquisition of a parcel of land in Wuxi, BRZEMEIETEEE -

Mainland China, paid by the Group. The purpose of the
subsidies is for industrial development in these areas.

34 SHARE CAPITAL 34 IR
Ordinary Shares ZBER
2019 AONES
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
475,547,534 (2018: 475,547,534) 475,547,5340%(20184F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 475,547,5340% ) =%

H{E0.10/8 T2 LAk 47,555 47,555

A summary of the transactions involving the Company's WRARRRARZ ZGHEMNT

share capital is as follows:

Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTROHBE ERITRA R E R Mgt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T TEx
At 1 January 2018, K2018F1A1H
31 December 2018, 20184128318
1 January 2019 and 2019F1R1H K&
31 December 2019 201912 A31H 475,547,534 47,555 165,458 213,013
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35

Er SRR RE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 26 May 2006, the Company adopted the Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons, including employees, directors and other
persons as specified under the scheme document, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations and the
same was revised on 27 May 2010.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 26 May 2006
and will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The life
of such Share Option Scheme was expired on 25 May 2016.
Subject to the exercise period, all options (to the extent not
already exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of issued shares
from time to time provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares on 26 May
2006.

Each grant of the share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, under the Share Option Scheme must comply with
the requirements of rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules and must
be subject to approval of the independent non-executive
directors to whom share options have not been granted.
In addition, any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant in excess of 0.1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000, is subject to prior approval from shareholders
in a general meeting.
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35 MEMRAESTE

72006F5H268 @ AR A ERMN—IBEKET
g B EREAEEZRKINEEELERMZEE
BALT(BIETEIXHFIIBZEE  EERE
AT R R R B - MZErEIER20105F
SA27BELEET -

A A ST 81172 2006 4F 5 A 26 B 7 18 A4 BRI Y 7%
REFH10F MMM - ZERAESEFHERN
20165F5 25 R & » IRIBTTEH - RERERT
ZEmAERHERARTTEZ 25 BREDNASE
R W AARIE B A B Z IR T AT T(E

E1TERREEIRAERT 8 SR AN A B (A H th B AR A
TR ERITE 2 M ARITEEREmM A T
BIIZRMOEE ARSRETEBBTREET
BR1D 4R 2 30% + HEEITHERIZERERT 2 K&
A B E AR ARAE ST 8IS 1 2 P PE AR
M A BT 2 RN B2 - & HT5EBB200655 A
26 A B EITIRND B Z210% °

BEBEERETSEARARTES  &=TBA
B FERFRFEE 2 FAHEARLERER
A EMARE7.041G 27 R EWBLRERE
it 2 WL IEITES A SN - AR AFA]
FERRSNB T IENITES NS 2 ETHEA
KL ERE - BEgEE%EL AR(eE%E)
1218 B BB R TEZ A LT EER RGER ZFT
BEREME BTG TEITZROBBRANR
B EITIRN 4B £00.1% Kk B (B (E#E:55,000,0007%8
7L BIZEESRRENIRREAS EHAEIE -
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

35 MERRAESTEI(E)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
share options, which must be a trading day.

The Group did not recognise any share option expense for
both years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019. No previous
year expense was reversed in the Year for forfeited share
option in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(a) The Terms and Conditions of the Grants are as
Follows:

Number of
instruments

TAHE

Options granted to employees:

Vesting conditions
SRR

BREZITEERESEE  HETRERTI=
Ehz&mE  (VAATRMNEE - ()IARFR
MREZRZFLEYRMAAEARX S ABXMER
BERAE 2 FHRTE - REARFEDR
BREZNHBHWARR SRR AT HARE
KR WTE

REZE2018F K% 2019412 A31 B IEREFE -
ANEERERER T EIRERY - EEFHY
NARFEERERRERAEEZSIBRSRER -

(a) BHZHERRELEDT :

Contractual life
of options
BREZEHH

M R ERE

—on 15 September 2010 860,000 One year from the date of grant 10 years
— 720109 715H BT B ER1F 106
—on 15 September 2010 850,000 Two years from the date of grant 10 years
—H201069715A B L B2 106
Total share options granted 1,710,000

EREREAH
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 35 MEMRAESTEI(E)
(b) The Following Share Options were (b) RER > BRETET ZRETHE
Outstanding under the Share Option Scheme RBIREM T

during the Year:

2019 2018
20194 20184
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
TG Number hikEF Number
17fEE of options 1T{EE  of options
HK$ B IR HK$ A
BT £ 4E| PBIT #E
At 1 January MW1A1HR 2.262 1,880,000 2.262 1,980,000
Lapsed during the year FRKRH 2.262 (170,000) 2.262  (100,000)
At 31 December ®12A31H 2.262 1,710,000 2.262 1,880,000
The exercise price and exercise periods of the share REEBER - RETEBRE ZTHE
options outstanding as at the end of reporting date are RATEHAGT -
as follows:
Exercise period ' Number of options
1THEH " BRERE
Exercise price? 2019 2018
THEE? 20194 20184
HK$ per share HK$'000 HK$'000
BRET THET FAT
15-9-2011 to 14-9-2020 20115 9H15H=E
2020F9H14H 2.262 860,000 946,000
15-9-2012 to 14-9-2020 20129 H15H=E
2020F9H14H 2.262 850,000 934,000
2.262 1,710,000 1,880,000
Notes: BT
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date 1. ERECyESBHIIEELABHEERTE
of grant until the commencement of the exercise period. AR 44 o
2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to 2. EREZITEESSEMRSAFET
adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other AN TG Y BB S Ve P9 o

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2019 had 2019512 31 BARITRERIE 21T E
an exercise price of HK$2.262 (2018: HK$2.262) and £2.262787L(20184F « 2.262787T) + Ml
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.71 TR E W EIR /50714 (20184 -
years (2018: 1.71 years). 1.714) »
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AP RRMEE

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

The Group’'s subsidiary, Luminous Town, makes
contribution to defined benefit retirement plans. The
plans are administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with their assets held separately
from those of the Group. The trustees are required by
the Trust Deed to act in the best interest of the plan
participants and are responsible for setting investment
policies of the plans.

The plans are funded by contributions from the
Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation based on annual actuarial valuations.
The latest independent actuarial valuations of the plans
were at 31 December 2018 and were prepared by
Greatfine Wealth Management Consulting Inc. As at 31
December 2019, the Group and the related employees
have mutually agreed to settle the defined benefit
retirement plans and was in progress of arranging
relevant administrative procedures and applications.

The plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as
interest rate risk, investment risk and longevity risk.
Information about the plan is disclosed below:

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

Present value of wholly or 2EHE D
partly funded obligations HE
Fair value of plan assets FEIEEY

36 EERKEF

() REBFRMAKEEE
AEEZHEARERAAERMNERE
sHEIEH R - MR BB AEE -
REpn19& 8B - HEERZMAENZE
ENFRE - REEFERE S8 AAN
HEFE2EARENEZIATE B
ARBHIEZFAEZIRERK °

ZEE R AR ERB B EER 2 B
ERETEREMERMES - %558
2RI EBN FEEHEZ HHIA20184F 12
A318 HENEEEEBERMNERA
Al#RE - A2019F12A31H » AEEK
HEREXRAREEERATEIEKRSET
gl WIFZBEFERTTBOR 7 R HE ©

SEHESAEEEBBERR - 0FI%
AR RERREESAR - K00
ERBHWT :

() REEBBRRARABRIZSEN

T:
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHBT

HREEZ

(1,969) (1,933)
2,670 2,622
701 689

The above liability is expected to be settled within
one year. The Group does not expect to pay any
contributions to defined benefit retirement plans
in 2020.

BB ERFAR—FRES - ARE
FAFHBAM20205F REBIRAEE
BT AEfIHER -
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AP RR M

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 36 EERKERI(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued) (a) AEBAEBAKESETEI(E)
(ii) Plan assets consist of the following: (i) FFEIEEEFEUTEE:
2019 2018
2019% 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
— Central Trust Fund held in a —REBRITHEEZ
Taiwan bank RRETES 2,670 2,622
(iii) Movements in the present value of the (i) AEEANESEREZ2EH

defined benefit obligation

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
At 1 January R1A1H 1,933 1,631
Remeasurements experience B E - KBRAKL
adjustment - (352)
Interest cost Al #N - 11
Exchange realignment [ 0 S EK 36 643
At 31 December ®12A31H 1,969 1,933
The weighted average duration of the defined REBMNEEZMEFHERRIF
benefit obligation is 1 year (2018: 4 years). (20184 : 4%F) ©
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AP RRMEE

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 36 EEEMKEFR(H)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued) (a) AEBRANRAKRETEI(E)
(iv) Movements in plan assets (iv) FrE8EE22F
2019 AONES]
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
At 1 January ®W1A1H 2,622 2,602
Group's contributions paid to SEEZETE 2 BN R
the plans = 5
Remeasurements experience BT E —EHRAE
adjustment - (86)
Interest income FEdA - 18
Exchange realignment ME AR 48 83
At 31 December ®12A31H 2,670 2,622
(v) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (v REeEEREMEEKARARE
statement of profit or loss and other W2 :

comprehensive income are as follows:

2019 AONKS]
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Net interest on AERMNEEFEZ
net defined benefit assets SFFE = 7)
Total amounts recognised RER PR 2 428
in profit or loss - %
Actuarial loss TEEEE - 266
Total amounts recognised REA2EYAF
in other comprehensive income TR 2 A58 = 266
Total defined benefit costs RERARALEE = 259
The net interest on net defined benefit asset is AERNEEFEFNERGEE
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or SRR R FATEUA ] -

loss as “finance income”.
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AP RR M

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued)

(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed
as weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis
are as follows:

Discount rate B3R &

Future salary increases

RIRTEEN

36 EERKEFN(E)

() SREBFRAKEFE ()

(vi) EXBERR(UMEFIIEST)

RBRBESHUOT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
0.68% 0.68%
1.00% 1.00%

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit
obligation would have increased/(decreased) as a
result of 0.5% change in the significant actuarial
assumptions:

BLERS
RETEEN

Discount rate
Future salary increases

AT 247 511 7R 5758 48 ) & A 40 fe &
ERBERR0S5% 2 EEmE M,

ORtA)

2019 2018

20195 20184
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5%
#10.5% #A0.5% | HE0.5% I 0.5%
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FH&T FAxT
- 29 - 30
28 - 29 -

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions
are not correlated and therefore it does not take
into account the correlations between the actuarial
assumptions.
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e BEmRMEE

36 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Defined Contribution Retirement Plan

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

Subsidiaries in Mainland China participate in the defined
contribution retirement schemes operated by the local
authorities. Contributions to these schemes are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
incurred.

36 EEENKEF (&)

(b) EFEMHFRAKEEE

AEETRBEEERBIERES S BED
RBBEEBERRBIGH 2 AIEEEEMER
B2 A ARMAFRERIBRASE 2B
2RIt B RRENGEI([RTE
E&FTE]) - @RS BB UREAETRE
ZEBHERERNKREHE - REBBESF
2 BEEXRHEEERAHAZESHBK
AZ5%EITHR - M LR AT AEREEA
30,0008 7T © $fkat &l 2 B AN 578 o

PEAE B AR ATEAMEESE
BT EREM 2 RERFERKE - &
Fat Bl 2 BN BERR ©
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AP RR M

37 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

14E A
1F&B5FR

37

e FH H R IR

2018512 A318 » REERE T HigL S
XN T Y EAR R EA S AT 2 R R (K & 42 zE IR
T

2018
20184

HK$'000
TET

21,173
3,065

24,238

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
held under leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to these leases (see Note 3). From 1 January 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease
liabilities in the statement of financial position in accordance
with the policies set out in Note 4(i), and the details
regarding the Group'’s future lease payments are disclosed in
Note 31.

38 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: DETLBEREE ¢
— Plant and machinery — = ey

— Buildings —gF

- Land —tib

38

AEERREHESBETYR 2 ARA - M
SHELHMRBETESTEUNFI7TRDBRL
LML - AEBERAKETZEREERER
BBV BIMELRNE 165 - REZTE - &%
ER2019F1 A1 A ABRFNEBRIAEREZE
HEREzBEEaE(RMES3) - 52019F1A
TR - RRBEENFAREH A0 P8BSR AR
BT HEASEERRE  MAMAKEZR
KGR FIBRIEIRE

BREE
AREERRE AR T AR

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
42,551 43,530
15,652 27,187
1,138 1,163
59,341 71,880
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AP RRMEE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2019, Man Yue Holdings Inc. had a
44.09% equity interest in the Company as the single largest
shareholder. The ultimate controlling party of the Company
is Ms. Kee Chor Lin, a director of the Company, which her
principal place of business at Unit 03, 6/F., Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

(@ The Group had the following material transactions with
its joint ventures:

Purchases of raw materials ' —BEERME
Rental expenses * —HEMx

Interest income received *(Note 12)

— BRI BUA P (FifRE12)

39 BEALIXRS
72019412 A31H * Man Yue Holdings Inc. A
B -RRBERF DA AR RF44.09% B AH#E
o AR A ZBIIERA T AR AR ESLEE
Z+t HXZEEMIATENEAMENES
SRUESROE ZE6IE03E ©

(a) AEBEESZMEIZEARZAT :

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T
47,167 61,885
— 14,182

4,636 4,213

Notes:

1. The above purchases of raw materials were determined
on the basis agreed by both parties and were conducted
in the normal course of business.

2. The Group entered into a lease in respect of the factory
premises in Mainland China from a joint venture.
Rental payments incurred during the Year amounted
to HK$13,610,000. Depreciation of right-of-use assets
and interest on lease liabilities incurred during the
Year amounted to HK$12,164,000 and HK$2,553,000
respectively. At 1 January 2019, the Group recognised a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$61,222,000.
At 31 December 2019, the Group recognised a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$47,767,000 and
HK$48,854,000 respectively.

3. The interest was charged at a rate of 4.90% (2018:
4.90%) per annum.

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel is set
out in Notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(©) The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and
due to joint ventures are set out in Note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(d) None of the above related party transactions falls under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

1. LERBERME RTINS hE 2 &%
EE - YRERXBBRETET -

2. AEER-—HEELERPREAM LT
BT —IHELN - RERNEENHE
& ¥ H 513,610,000 T - REFERES
NERAEEENERREAENED R
412,164,000 7T & 2,553,000/ 7T ° B
2019F 1818 - AEERREAREEER
FAER(E61,222,0008 7T ° 2019412 A31
A AEEEIANEAREERHEESRE
77 /47,767,0007 7T 148,854,000/ 7T ©

3. FBETIIREEA490E (20184 : 4.90F) 2
BRHE -
(b) EBEIEABZFHIEREGRE FEIREHM
F13%14 -

@ #HKT MagtEcER BUERENE
BRE 7 FIRHN RS MTEMRMEE24 -

(d LABEALXZXSMEBN LTHRAE
TUABRE L ERX FRIFEMERL S °
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Er SRR RE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group has certain financial instruments, including bank
loans and cash and short term deposits, of which main
purpose is to fund the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a) Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States dollar, Renminbi and
Japanese Yen.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit before tax (and retained profits)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

40 MHEEREEBRERBUR

AEEEETERTA(BRRITEFTULES
NEMER) TRBNTIRASEZ ERRM
BEd - AEEEZBRAMSHMEERAR(WE
WRRR BN BR A M RIB) TERN EBHEL -

REASESRIAZ TZRABAINERR - 7
XEK  RBESRRREERR - EFEER
KipEEE SRR ZBER - W T XXt -

(a) FhiE [ B
AEEAZ R EE R EZRE AINE (R
FERHZEE AL BNREEUINZE
O EHE 2 SHE MR PTE £ 2 FEWBR S -
EAERRIREeERS EAZRKR CEEK
FEAEFTT  AREKXBE -

o
&

BE D

TRIIRMAEBMPNRE HRAEHEEKR
B INETE RN B EE) - BREFTBHE
bR A = MR - AR @R AR T
(RREHEN) e EL 2 E8) - 3t
bt NREEBERBABTEETL CBHBEXS
TEIETHEMEB 2 BEZHENY
@,
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AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

2019 20194
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fin /8T 5, B B R T %
against Japanese Yen

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened %7t HEIER EFt
against Japanese Yen

2018 20184

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fin /8T 5, B B R T %
against Japanese Yen

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened 7% 7t 5% HEI[ER EFt

against Japanese Yen

(a) ShesmBR (4K)

HRE D ()

Increase/
(decrease)
in Japanese
Yen rate

B EEX
EH(THE)
%

Bkt

(5)

©)

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(Decrease)/
increase
in profit

before tax
ERBE Az F

(Ri2>) #hn

HK$'000
T#&xT

(950)

950

(975)

975

2019 20195

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened B TT A RIS E = T pE
against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened &/ H A REER FH
against Renminbi

2018 2018%F

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened B TT A RIS E = T pE
against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened &/ H AREER FH

against Renminbi

Increase/
(decrease)
in RMB rate

ARWER
E#(TRE)
%

BAk

(5)

)

(Decrease)/
increase
in profit

before tax
BR%% A2 A

(R2) #hn

HK$'000
FET

(1,779)

1,779

(1,033)

1,033
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(a) ShesmEBR ()

HRE D ()

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in USD rate before tax
ETER BRBt A F
EH(TK) #m, G
% HK$°000
Bkt FET
2019 20195
If Renminbi had weakened against sl A RS 2 TR R TN f%
United States dollar 5 29,807
If Renminbi had strengthened against A REE S ETER FFH
United States dollar (5) (29,807)
2018 20184
If Renminbi had weakened against s AR 2 TR R TN %
United States dollar 5 19,881
If Renminbi had strengthened against M AREE S ETER FF
United States dollar (5) (19,881)
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e BEmRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit before tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end
of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group's presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group defines “net borrowings” as being interest-
bearing financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (excluding cash held for short-term working
capital purpose). The Group's interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

To manage any exposure arising from the changes in
market interest rates, the Group enters into interest
rate swap, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to
an agreed-upon notional principal amount. This interest
rate swap is not qualified as hedging for accounting
purposes.

40 YHEEREEREREE(E)

(a) shEERELER ()

BRED N (&)

EREFNZAMEREERNEE %
BAE M R s (AS B Z2Thae 8 S
ZARZEBE  BIEEY  BiR

RZEXRBERBTT

FRESMBRINEEXZBHCERANUE
A EAKERAZERIA  MZEFe
BTAEAEENERS B RELHINER

B BREABERASHEBERAZY

SNERSEHE < REB AR B EE N R K
FEM IR - BN IT TN BREREFINE
B BERERAEE2EEMBESE 2
R BIREA2018F MR 2 EAHETT

(b) FRER

AEFBZNXRARIZHABEES - &7
B ERIZEEMNE B ZEEDRIE A
SEBKATRENXRRRAA BN
R - AEEREMEEFR IR SR
BERARRE(TEEREENEEES
ZHE) - EREBEFAEENZHREN

X0 -

RERETSMNEEBMBERZER A&
BRI M XIEMEL - Btk - AEE RS
RETRFARAE2EREZLEASHE
RS ZER IR ER - e
FFEMME @ MEEBREHNAT A ERIE

i o
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BEEMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued) (b) FIZREBs ()
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FI=ER
The following table details the interest rate profile TR 5| AL EEE FENRES kR
of the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the RIS

reporting period.

2018
20184
(Note)
(PR5E)
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate
BERFI=
HK$'000 9 HK$'000
FEx %) FET
Fixed rate borrowings: EERZES .
Loans to a joint venture BT E
ZER 4.90% (105,088) 4.90% (89,681)
Bank Loans RITER 5.53% 50,236 6.96% 34,239
Lease liabilities (Note) HEABHE) 4.70% 83,949 - -

Variable rate borrowings:  FEFIRES :

Bank loans RITER 4.26% 925,441 4.14% 855,116
Total net borrowings BIEE T 954,538 799,674
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 Wik - AEBBRALEIIZEWERR
using the modified retrospective approach and ERBBHBREERNE 165 - I
adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 201941 A1 H FHBE 4RI
to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases HRELEFRBEE S ERIE17
which were previously classified as operating FOBERKEENBE 2 HEZHE
leases under HKAS 17. Under this approach, Ea81E - BREZFE  LBRERT

the comparative information is not restated. See FTEY o RHFE3 -
Note 3.
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e BEmRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased/increased the Group's profit
before tax and retained profits by approximately
HK$9,254,000 (2018: HK$8,551,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
tax and retained profits that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period,
the impact on the Group’s profit before tax and
retained profits is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as 2018.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

40 YHEEREEREREE(E)

(b) F=Ek(H)

(i) HRBREDSF
MR2019F12 A31H @ EAMAH M
BHERTEZBERT - Gt HF
KM LA TFHI00@EES &
B 18NN & B R B AT A R AR
2B % F 499,254,000 7T (2018 4F :
8,551,000/67T) °

LA _E SRR E DT R R AN SR B BR B A i
Bl R AR BB 5 ) 72 R 5% ) R Z B A 3R
EHARE BB NATES 2 BN
B o RAKBREMFAZEIFITETLR
RREBREAR 2B RFIER BT
5 - HAKBERBANEF KRB EF
FEUZENRBHUF BFAT K
WA ZBEZEEMG - DITIREA
20185 R,z B EEHTT o

() REBEZRER
AEEAERNEEERAERAZREE
2 BRASEBZEHRERSmRERE
PREFRMBEZER  HAFTHRA
Bl AEEZBRAEHRERE
mBEHFRREEREZNZAHRER
TR TR IR SRR M AT RER 3R 2
BERS  AERATESREBDETRE
FGREERE  WENEHEEMZ R
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BEEMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued) (o) TEELEKGE)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINFAREBARESEHARZIETESH
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the BERITESHABZE TANIEHIE
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative N EREAYKREBESAE (AERE
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual HRFREE 7 R B - KAIEZEF =X
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments HE - BIAARE IR ZIR1TAIRETE ) LA
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based RAEEEY Y RE M

on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2019
20194
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SRRBEBERER
Within Carrying
1 year amount
or on at 31
demand Over December
1£R 1 year Total #A12A31H
RIRER HEBI1E et ZEREE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T#&ET FHET THET
Derivative financial instruments #7744 @ T A 245 - 245 245
Trade and bills payables ERERREE 254,770 - 254,770 254,770
Other payables and accrued Hib A FIE R

liabilities EErBE 100,238 - 100,238 100,238
Due to joint ventures JEN AL FA 36,822 - 36,822 36,822
Bank loans RITER 1,001,913 - 1,001,913 975,677
Lease liabilities (Note) HEaE T 20,600 74,512 95,112 83,949
Dividends payable JETRR S 43 - 43 43
1,414,631 74,512 1,489,143 1,451,744
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued)

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(0 "RBE=ER(E)

2018
20184
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRIREESN

Within Carrying

1 year amount

oron at 31

demand Over December

1R 1 year Total M12A31H

R Esk FEIB1F FER Z BREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT THT FAT FHT

Derivative financial instruments $74 &g T A 2,005 291 2,296 2,273

Trade and bills payables FERTER R R IE 201,160 - 201,160 201,160
Other payables and accrued EAbFEN A K

liabilities fEEtaE 97,585 - 97,585 97,585

Due to joint ventures BT EE A 43,781 - 43,781 43,781

Bank loans IRITER 811,673 92,641 904,314 889,355

Dividends payable FES A% B 43 - 43 43

1,156,247 92,932 1,249,179 1,234,197

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Lease
liabilities include amounts recognised at the date of
transition to HKFRS 16 in respect of leases previously
classified as operating lease under HKAS 17 and
amounts relating to new lease entered into during the
year. Under this approach, the comparative information
is not restated. See Note 3.

MizE : ANEBEHALEICBWEERER
BERBHREERE 165 - WHK20195F
11 BABRENEHIARREEERIR
BEBETLEE TR OBARLHEY
HEZzHEZHEEE  HEAGBRE
RBEEBANBHREERIF 165 B
MERBRBERESS I ENE17RSER
KERAONHEERRANEE AR
Fral LB ERBN S - BIEBEZA

& AR TES - RHES -

Annual Report 2019 &R

207



208

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group's
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, loans to a joint venture, other financial
assets and deposits with banks. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group
manages the credit risk by setting up a team responsible
for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group

40 MEEREEBRRBR(E)

(d)

=B
EERBRANEFHEE T AHFIIRE
BITEAHELE  AEEMEREZIMBEE
BRER - AEEZEERREEREEK
R EMEWHIE T —REERE
ZER  BEfheREERBITER - BE
EBERIEEEBR YaFEEEZSE
ERk - AKREZBRY —EEKAAE
EEERE BHEEUREMBERRRF
EREERR - ARRRRRETSRED
BHREE  AKERFBHOEHRRESD
RPEEOERRRARLEERRSE
%) LURHE SR B B GRSR Z EER

has entered into credit insurance contracts with the
Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation and
China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation to mitigate
the credit risk arising from the receivable balances.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 7.42% (2018: 12.11%) and 24.06%
(2018: 26.2%) of the total trade and other receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

AEBEH 2 EERREIEZEREFE
IR LTS R 2 1TTEHEIR
Frsg - At - MASEBEEELNEFHEER
EXRR  BEXEELERESEFZEER
B o R¥REHASK « B UCAR 3R I H b FE Uk
FRIBHEEETRT742%(2018%F : 12.11%) &
24.06% (20184 : 26.2%) 7 Rl AR AL

BESEAEFRAREF ZFIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A UHRRME

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due normally within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

ECLs as at 31 December 2018 and 2019

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix.

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables
from customers as at 31 December 2018 and 2019.

40 BIEEREEEERBEE)

(d) EERE(E)

e s Bl o B LAt P LK R TR
AEESUMERREBER—E2BEELZ
BEPETERNEENE - ZFFEETR
B PIBE SN B HI IR R 8 K IR B A5 R
BN UEBEFPZHEERREFEE
PR B IRE - BURRAR—RRERER
HIRO0BE MBI - ERME - AEELE
ERER 2 ERR -

MA2018E K 2019F12A31H 2 HifE
AE#
AEENEGFEHNBREABRRESES
Bt 2 EUGRREIBEE - LB ARG
T HE -

TRIBEBERER2018F &2019F 12 A31H

FERRZERIBRF ZE S RUKKIA
ZEHREREE -
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BEEMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued) (d) EERk(E)
ECLs as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 (Continued) R2018F K 2019512 A31H 2 RHE
FEE (&)
2019
20195
Provision on
Gross carrying  individual basis ECL rates
amount RENEE RAER ECLs  Loss allowance
FEAE LB FEX  BHERAFR FRBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THT Tign Tign T
Current and within payment terms BV RS SRER A 552,849 - 0.25% (1,375) (1,375)
1-3 months past due AEE3MEA 88,182 - 1.52% (1.336) (1,336)
4-6 months past due AIZ6MEA 5,339 - 21.2% (1,133) (1.133)
7-12 months past due AEIZ12(EA 8,702 - 21.40% (1,862) (1,862)
Over 1 year past due T elk 42,308 (28,719 37.04% (5,011) (33,790)
697,380 (28,779) (10,717) (39,496)
2018
20185
Provision on
Gross carrying  individual basis ECL rates
amount IR{ERIEE B ECLs  Loss allowance
FESE {EdiE BEx  RHEREE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL A
Current and within payment terms BV A SRR A 448,022 - 097% (4,334) (4,334)
1-3 months past due AEE3MEA 117,615 - 0.98% (1,156) (1,156)
4-6 months past due BEIZ6MEA 11,422 - 0.98% (112) (12)
7-12 months past due AEIZ12(8A 9,993 (3,153) 13.90% (951) (4.104)
Over 1 year past due kT elk 31,579 (22,427) 13.90% (1,272) (23,699)
618,631 (25,580) (7,825) (33,405)
ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the B ERERRBA=F 2 EREELR
past three years. These rates are adjusted to reflect TE - ZEHRE TR ARBUKERF
differences between economic conditions during the AR IR RS ~ R RAR
period over which the historical data has been collected, EHEERERRFRZEERRAER 2
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic ER -

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables

The movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables during the reporting period were as follows:

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(d) EERkE(E)
EWE S RAZERRERS

RRE R - BURRZ BEREES N
™

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAxT

Balance at 1 January BIATE 25 33,405 31,430
Additional impairment losses recognised 232> Z85NRE KSR 7,752 7,804
Impairment losses reversed R 2 RERER (960) (4,794)
Exchange realignment Ik (701) (1,035)
Balance at 31 December P12 A31 Bz &8 39,496 33,405

The increase in gross carrying amount of trade
receivables with days past due over 1 year has
contributed to the increase in loss allowance of
HK$10,091,000.

Loans to a joint venture

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
loans at the end of the reporting period and the key
terms of the loans are disclosed in Note 24.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

B AR IE & 2 FE AR BR B ER M 4218 2 1 IR
RSB EEIE H010,091,00078 7T ©

RT-HeELEZER

RBEHREHAERZEREERRIE
RZE 1!%?&#[‘1%524&5@ g
AEEYERSASEEREERRZE

A E AR R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

40 MEEREEBRRBR(E)

(e) Capital Management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeqguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing its products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light
of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt to capital ratio. For this purpose, the Group
defines net debt as interest-bearing bank loans and
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and time
deposit with banks.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group recognises right-of-use assets
and corresponding lease liabilities for almost all leases
previously accounted for as operating leases as from 1
January 2019. This caused a significant increase in the
Group’s net debt and hence the Group’s adjusted net
debt-to-capital ratio rose from 49.8% to 54.8% on 1
January 2019 when compared to its position as at 31
December 2018.

Considering the impact of the application of HKFRS 16,
during 2019, the Group reassessed the range at which
it maintains its adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio to be
45% 10 65% (2018: 30% to 50%). In order to maintain
or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return
capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A

(e) BEAXEE

AEEEAERE T ZARABRAEE
BRENEERSBREEELE  BEZ
BIRBRE BRI O R E m R RIS EE
URIREERAESRE - SBIRAIER

BN R E SR A AR AR o

REBES N ERHEREBETRN R
B UHIBR R HBERSEEKTZ
BEBRERER i 2 EARARERZE
FLRE 2R T YEEEE

BB A BB LR -

AEENEEFRERA L RIERERA
BARBBZEE LT E - AREKE
EFERERFREEREEAE  BR
T RREFEMASIRITERER -

AEEDRAKEI CBREERERS
B IREERE 169 c RIEZ A - A
SEFLATNR2019F1 B1BEESEAKE
MWz BREDHEE 2 EAEEERAR

FEAMRIEN - EARER201951 A1
B2 AR EEFRE AL K H20185F

12A318249.8%35%54.8% °

ZRINERAEAMBREERFE 16527
2 R2019%F - AEBEHTEHEHAES
BFHEEBRALE  HRIERNT45% 2
65% (20184 : 30% £50%) ° AR
BHBALE  AEBEXSHERK/FIIRMS
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AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BEEMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Capital Management (Continued) (e) EXEIE(E)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the RERRERTRERRENBEZ BB
end of the current and previous reporting periods and BREEAF 165 A H - AEEKLHAEE
at the date of transition to HKFRS 16 was as follows: EREE R RN ¢
31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
20194 20194 20184
12A31H 1A1H 12A31H
(Note) (Note)
(B=E) (B=E)
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TEx FHT T
Bank loans RITER 30 975,677 889,355 889,355
Lease liabilities HEAR 31 83,949 70,170 -
1,059,626 959,525 889,355
Less: Cash and B BHeR
cash equivalents ReEEy 28 (225,715) (202,338) (202,338)
Adjusted net debt EAREEFE 833,911 757,187 687,017

Equity attributable to equity RRRIREREA

holders of the Company FE(hE R 1,359,585 1,380,651 1,380,651
Adjusted net RARGEZE
debt-to-capital ratio HRALLE 61.3% 54.8% 49.8%
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFAS 16 using the Mz : AERBEERBLEIZEBPREERER
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the BAMBMEERIE 165, - WH2019F
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise 1 A1 B AR F 4 R ARERR B L RTAR IR
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously BEGTERE 7R DA AL ETELOE
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Under MeHECHERE - BEZFE b
this approach, the comparative information is not BEMTTEY - BMEES -

restated. See Note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

The Group engaged external valuer to perform
valuations for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which is categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The external
valuer report directly to management. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by external valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by management.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B EEER A A
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(f) 2AREE

()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value at year end.

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value AR R EREZRA
through profit or loss - FfR SREE
non current —3EmRE

Financial assets at fair value AR ERIBEA
through profit or loss — SRRz S REE
current —RED

Total assets BEREA

Liabilities =N

Derivative financial instruments:  #744¢@TA :

— Interest rate swap — Mt E

Total liabilities AaERE

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

() 2REFEGE)

() RAREBEHEZEREERERS

(&
TREVAEERFLEBIZAAET
RS TH-

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into
R2019F12B31HZ AREFED ER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FE24 7 3% Al
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FTET

Total
st
HK$'000
TERT

E1R5
HK$'000
FiEr

- - 24,433 24,433
17 - = 17
17 = 24,433 24,450
- 245 - 245
= 245 = 245
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BiEKMEEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) ) AREFE(E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAARENEZSREERERE
value (Continued) (&)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2018 categorised into
R20185F12A31HZ RA B ENER

216

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE14R FE28 7 B3 F Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET FAT
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value URAAREREEA
through profit or loss — SRR G MEE
non current —IEnE - - 23,936 23,936
Financial assets at fair value UAREREREA
through profit or loss — PRz SR EE
current —mE 20 - - 20
Total assets BERE 20 - 23,936 23,956
Liabilities =N
Derivative financial instruments: 7448 T A :
— Interest rate swap — &= HY 2,273 - 2,273
Total liabilities BERE 2,273 - 2,273

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2
fair value measurements

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated
amount that the Group would receive or pay to
terminate the swap at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account current interest rates
and the current creditworthiness of the swap
counterparties. The Group engaged external valuer
to perform valuations for the interest rate swaps
which is categorised into Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER L 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(f)

Valuation techniques

fhER M

Key management
insurance contracts
IT2EEERRAR

MAERENRE

Equity securities
PR 5 IR SR E

The fair value of insurance contracts is determined
using the discounted cash flow model. The
duration of the cash flows and the specific timing
of inflows and outflows are determined by
conditions in accordance with the terms of the
respective insurance contracts. The periodic cash
flow is estimated as gross redemption value and
interest income less surrender charges. The series
of periodic net income for the contracting periods
is then discounted. The fair value measurement
is negatively correlated to the discount rate. As
at 31 December 2019, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group’s profit or loss by
HK$1,299,911 (2018: HK$1,425,401).

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities are based on cash flows discounted
using a rate based on the market interest rate and
the risk premium specific to such investments.
As at 31 December 2019, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$397,143 (2018: HK$531,664).

Discounted cash flow

Discounted cash flow

Discount rate

BRI %

RAREFECEREERAE

BRERBAAEBTEZER

Significant
unobservable
inputs
BRRAEE
BABE
Discount rate
BhIR =

Weighted
average
nREEH

2.20% (2018: 2.27%)
2.20%(2018%F : 2.27%)

20.0% (2018: 19.5%)
20.0%(2018%F : 19.5%)

RBRERZARENRAMBIRSR
EFRETE - BHeRE 2HRARAKA
Kofi it 2 B R R SRR & R
ERZIGHETE - EHBRESRE N
AT A4RIE D EE R A B ABRRE
- &RHEz — @R EEFWRAT
TUANE - AnEFEHARETIR
mEdE - B2019F 128318 « 7EFT
BHMEBHBERTEZERT « H5T
WAIR T, EF1% - %3800,
DA EEE251,299,91175 7T (2018
£ 11,425,401 7T) ©

REEUAREFABSTEZIEE
MRAZES 2 AR BEHRBERTS
FIRBE RS RERIECHBERE
Z RS EFE - R2019F 12 A31
B EAHEMESERTEZER
T - EEHEFIE T, ER1%
#hn, R A E BB E5397,14375 70
(20184 : 531,664/87T) °
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AP RR M

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 BEEMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) (f) AREFEGER)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued) £;2M3@%|J,\Aﬁf+gzﬁiﬁéﬁxgﬂ
The movements during the period in the balance Exﬁiﬁ ’ ALEATE S
e el RZBEMT :

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follows:
2019 AONESS
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET

Key management insurance FTEEEERBRER :

contracts:
As at 1 January ®W1A1H 14,806 14,043
Net unrealised gains AN B=ERZ

recognised in profit or loss RETW R FE

during the period 473 763
At 31 December M12A31H 15,279 14,806
Total gains for the period BRI ERRFEZ

included in profit or loss BEFABSZ

for assets held at the end of B AR AR

the reporting period 473 763
Equity securities R4 &5
As at 1 January ®1A18 9,130 9,331
Changes in fair value recognised in HANE=ERZ

profit or loss during the period NREEH 227 236
Exchange realignment M 34, (203) (437)
At 31 December ®12A31H 9,154 9,130
Total losses for the period FTAEMEEIMAZ

included in other comprehensive HNERAEE

income (203) (437)
Total gains for the period HRMERARFEZ

included in profit or loss for BETABHZ

assets held at the end of HAR M AR

the reporting period 227 236
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AP RRMEE

40 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

40 BiMEEERRREEE)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from fair values as at 31
December 2018 and 2019

41 RESERVES

Reserve Movement of the Group

Share
premium
RHEE
HK$'000

Thu

(i) LFEUAREBEIRZEMEERE
BARE
VARG AR Sl S P AN B AR 2 AR Bl 3t
TAZRAEBEEN2018F &20194F
NRANBAZARBETEEAESR -

41 f#E

Share
option
reserve
R
HK$'000
Th

Contributed
Surplus*
HARR
HKS$000
T

rEERERE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RARREREARE

Asset
revaluation
reserve
BEER
fife
HKS000
T

Mainland
China
reserve

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve funds?
EXRg  mERE
B  BEe’
HKS000 HKS'000
Thn TEL

Other
reserve
AR
HKS'000
TR

Retained
profits

Total
R &5t

HKS000.
Tén

HKS'000.
Tén

Balance at 1 January 2019 0191 A8 784 165458 1782 2,800 100,074 128,425 62,755 (162) 87194  1333,0%
Profit for the year KERET - - - - - - - N5 31,578
Other comprehensive income: EH2EMA:
Asset revaluation surplus, net of tax MRFERARERRS - - - 2,499 - - - - 2499
Currency translation differences EXZE

- Group -1£8 - - - - (50,934) - - - (50,934)

- Joint ventures -hE0% - - - - (4,209) - - - (4,209
Total comprehensive income for the yearended — #%2019812A31H 1

31 December 2019 ER7EENEAE - - - 249 (5518 - - I8 (1066)
Employee share option scheme: EsERE:

~ Share options forfeited -BHERRE - (161) - - - - - 161 -
Transferred to retained profits ERERAET - - - - - 91 - (o) -
Balance at 31 December 2019 019128318 288 165,458 1,621 2,800 102,573 1328 62,846 (162) 903612 1,312,030
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41 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Reserve Movement of the Group (Continued)

41 f#E(E)

rEERBERE(H)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
A SN

Mainland
Asset  Exchange China

Share revaluation  fluctuation reserve
Share option  Contributed Teserve Teserve funds’ Other ~ Retained
premium Teserve | EEEf; B bl reseve
Tinaig ki A i ] i bOHbER
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 00 HK$ 000 HK§000 HK$'000 Hk$'000
ThIL ThTL T T B Thn T ThR
Balance at 1 January 2018 R018E 1 ARz 165,458 1876 2800 79,756 21317 59,024 (162) 83283 1308952
Profit for the year KERET - - - - - - - B0 43046
Other comprehensive income: EHREUA
Asset revaluation surplus, net of tax RFERAEERES - - - 038 - - - -3
Remeasurement of net defined benefitassets ~ E#fitERTENEEFE - - - - - - - (268) (268)
Curtency ranslation differences EizZE

~Group -1£8 - - - B T - - - LR

- Joint ventures -RERE - - - - (7,789) - - - (7,789)
Total comprehensive income for the year ended ~ EZ2018% 124318 1

31 Decernber 2018 ER2ENEEE - - - 20318 (98952) - - 278 (35,856)
Employee share option scheme: EEERERT:

- Share option forfeited -BHERRE - (94) - - - - R 9 R
Transfered to retained profits SRERIER - - - - - 3731 - (3,731) -
Balance at 31 December 2018 (Note) R0I8F12A31A 2 &8

(PsE) 165,458 178 2,800 100,074 128425 62,755 (162) 871,964  1333,0%
Notes: Bz -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated and there is no net effect on the opening
balance of the Company’s equity as at 1 January 2019. See Note 3.

1. The Group's contributed surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange therefor.

2. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China, a portion of the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries
which are established in Mainland China has been transferred
to the Mainland China reserve funds which are restricted as to
use.
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42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
Due from subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Due from subsidiaries
Prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Due to subsidiaries

Other payables and accrued liabilities
Dividends payable

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

FRBEE
RHBRRZRE
AARERBEARTIRZ
TREE
e X R) 2z FRIR

JEMENEEAE

RBEE
e X )z TR
SEUNE/C!
ReRREFED

MBEERE
RBRE
FERIP A R) 2 FRIR
HAE N TR R EAE
FERTALR
mE A ERE
MEEEFE
EEFE
EXREE

BeA

fEf

EEAE

AR B BEARRTR R FEEEE
B AR R %

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
63,901 63,901
4,385 4,259
172,148 160,028
240,434 228,188
484,764 455,129
883 1,633
438 122
486,085 456,884
442,144 394,790
2,279 1,960
43 43
444,466 396,793
41,619 60,091
282,053 288,279
47,555 47,555
234,498 240,724
282,053 288,279
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42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42 RRFIHMBERRRRFZESS (E)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Reserve Movement of the Company EAR)REEE

Share
Share Option  Contributed Retained
premium reserve surplus profits Total

RiaE B ANBE RERA At
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TiEL TiEL TiEn TiEL TiERn

At 1 January 2018 M2018F 1718 165,458 1,876 63,623 16,378 247,335
Loss for the year AEEBR - - - (6,517) (6,517)
Employee share option scheme: EERRETE -

— Share options forfeited -EEERE - (94) - = (94)
At 31 December 2018 72018F12A318 165,458 1,782 63,623 9,861 240,724
At 1 January 2019 M2019F 1718 165,458 1,782 63,623 9,861 240,724
Loss for the year REEER - - - (6,226) (6,226)
Employee share option scheme: EERRETE -

— Share options forfeited -CREERE - (161) - 161 -
At 31 December 2019 72019 12A318 165,458 1,621 63,623 3,796 234,498
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42

43

44

EA SRR AE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefore. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a company may make distributions
to its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in Note 4(v)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the
related options expire or be forfeited.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of
the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in Note 3.

In addition, certain figures in the consolidated cash flow
statement have been restated to conform to current
year's presentation. The revised presentation reflects more
appropriately the nature of the amounts.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER

THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the outbreak
of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in January 2020 has
caused disruptions to many industries, including electronics
manufacturing industry, in China as well as other countries.
These disruptions have inevitably posed a significant threat
to the global economy in 2020. Despite the challenges,
governments and international organizations have
implemented a series of measures to contain the epidemic.
The time duration and scope of these disruptions cannot be
accurately assessed at this point in time. Given the dynamic
nature of these circumstances, the financial impact will be
reflected in the Group’s subsequent financial statements. The
Group will closely monitor the development of the epidemic
and assess its impact on its operations.

42

43

44

AT RBARRR K AH R E ()

KRB ZEABBIEFTBENB AR ZRD AR
BB AR B A B 31T 2 AR B
E{E2 =5 - RIBAREQBIFAREIUER]
) RAEATESR TIHER THEARRDIK T K
o

BRERFELEERDERRITEBREL AR
B E—THRELGFEVBRRMEAVOAB
AR RERZNRRXH 2 EEE - X8
R RRBERE TR E R ERMRER - X
HAEB BREEEmNEWE - NBRERE

2 o

EERE T

REBEEN2019F1 A1 A B RERE AR
SERE16 - REZIDE  LBREHTTE
5 - BRAEFT RE R 2 — FHIER MR

AN RERRRERERZE THFCEIIAR
BAREFEZZ2IAR - BEFI 2 TAESE
RSB IME -

BEPRIIFFARER

RIRERRIR - 7202051 AR EF L BHRRE
(2019BRAmEH)HHPBEREMEARZETTE
ERTE BREFERRER ZSTEHER
H20200F 2 HREBEBNEABE - BEEH K
B B RBEREREER— RIERMERIR
15 o BRI RAEERETRAIZ E T BISERR K&
BE - EREATE LIRS - FRNBEEER
RAEBEROMERER PRI - AEEST
=

&
NEBRBENERLFGEHEENTE -
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45

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
development include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

BRMBMEERNEIR BRI REEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
ARG ENE 1R R BB ERESR B EXAZEZE S

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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Effective for
accounting periods
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RSB Bz BEE 2
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1 January 2020

2020F1 A1H

1 January 2020
202051 H1H

ARER RS E TR A A R B
YR SRR BRARSETTAT
BHEANBEREREAEALES -



Five-Year Financial Summary

FFEIEEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements

is set out below.

Results

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
— Equity holders of the
Company
— Non-controlling interests

WA

BRELATE R, (E51R)
ST

AEEEM, (FR)

THIBIAEL -

— A RABHE
HEA
— SRR

N IRAKEBREREMBRERCRENREE A
BRI RERME - DREE S TR ZEEX

AT -
E s

2019 PAONES) 2017 2016 2015
20195 20184 20174 20164 20154
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx TR TR TET TR
1,292,160 1,361,718 1,275,923 987,027 974,421
43,168 56,666 62,199 (4,460) (37,396)
(16,692) (15,990) (16,994) (8,642) (8,442)
26,476 40,676 45,205 (13,102) (45,838)
31,578 43,046 48,177 (14,905) (45,095)
(5,102) (2,370) (2,972) 1,803 (743)
26,476 40,676 45,205 (13,102) (45,838)

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

Total assets
Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests

BEMAE
BERE
TR B R

2019
20194

HK$'000
FET

2,918,812

BE  AERFERRRERS

2018
20184
HK$'000

TR

2,724,673

2017
20174
HK$'000
FABTT

2,753,087

2016
20164
HK$'000
FAT

2,475,167

2015
20154
HK$'000

TR

2,553,022

(1,522,499) (1,302,145) (1,277,548) (1,162,592) (1,156,762)

(36,728)

(41,877)

(59,032)

(70,165)

(4,282)

1,359,585

1,380,651

1,416,507

1,242,410

1,391,978
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Glossary
RA| 5

Annual Report

FH

Audit Committee
BZEEE

Board
EEg

Board Diversity Policy
EFE2ZTEBE

Bye-laws
N EARRY

Company
ZA/NE]

Company Secretary
AFHE

Corporate Governance Code
EEERTH

Director(s)

£5=

Dividend Policy
AR B

EBITDA
EBITDA

E-Caps

ImERER S

ECLs
T8 Bz A 18

EDLC

Eeler=aN
EFTEER

[=1=]
=

TE]

EICC
EICC
ESG
R tgRER

annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F 12 A31HILMBFE 2 FERE

audit committee of the Company
RNRARZEZEER

board of directors of the Company

ARBZEER

board diversity policy of the Company
RRREFEGZ IR

bye-laws of the Company
PN /NG

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited
BN EEERAR

company secretary of the Company
PN /NI

Corporate Governance Code
eEERTH

director(s) of the Company

ARBZER

dividend policy of the Company
RRABZREEE

earnings before interest expenses, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

MBS ~ BIR - T8 M HRI R

Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors

I ERER

Expected credit loss assessment for individual customers
REBY R P 2 BHEREE

Electric Double Layer Capacitors

= e EE oY R
EEEED

Electronic Industry Citizenship Coalition
BFTEARER

Environmental, Social and Governance

R - HE@REAR
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)

HK$
BT

Independent Non-executive Director(s)

BYFRITES

ISO
ISO

Listing Rules
EmRA

LPG
RACHAR

MLPC
BRARS FEIRERS

Model Code
el

Nomination Committee

RELZES

Nomination Policy
REBHER

Polymer Caps

BHTRES
RBA
RBA

Remuneration Committee
FEEE

RMB
AR

greenhouse gas
RERE

Company and its subsidiaries
RNRFREKERR]

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
HE A REMBEESEIITHE

Hong Kong dollar
BT
independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

RARZBIUIEPTES

International Organization for Standardization

B AR A L AR A

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

BEMERXHMBRARIRES EHHRA

liquefied petroleum gas
B AR

Multi-layer Polymer Capacitors
BRAmD TEEERHR

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
LB TAZEZETESRHNEESTH

nomination committee of the Company

ARBZIRREZES

nomination policy of the Company
KRB ZIRAEE

Conductive Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors

Responsible Business Alliance
B

remuneration committee of the Company

ARBZEHMEES

Renminbi
AR
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)

RoHS Restriction of Hazardous Substances

RoHS BEWERE

R&D research and development

i tHoT K B g

SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
5 M EE &) B RIS (BHEEDIE5715)

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
B 22 P BERMERXHER AT

tCOe tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

WE— SRS = mE— S LR E 2

usb United States dollar

ET ET

Year financial year ended 31 December 2019
REZE EE2019F12A31 B IEMIRFE

% per cent

% B
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